
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday, 18 June 2019. 
 01476 406080

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Wednesday, 26 June 2019 at 1.00 pm
Ballroom - Guildhall Arts Centre, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Committee 
Members:

Councillor Bob Adams (Chairman)
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Chris Benn, Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing, Councillor Louise Clack, 
Councillor John Cottier, Councillor Phil Dilks, Councillor Mike Exton, Councillor Mrs 
Rosemary Kaberry-Brown, Councillor Penny Milnes, Councillor Robert Reid, Councillor 
Ian Selby and Councillor Jacky Smith

Agenda
1.  Membership

The Chief Executive to notify the Committee of any substitute members

2.  Apologies for absence

3.  Disclosure of interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting

4.  Minutes of the meeting held on 29 May 2019 (Pages 5 - 13)

5.  Planning matters
To consider applications received for the grant of planning permission – reports 
prepared by the Case Officer.

The anticipated order of consideration is as shown on the agenda, but this may 
be subject to change, at the discretion of the Chairman of the Committee.

Planning 
Committee

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


a)  Applications S18/2263 and S18/2264 (Pages 15 - 50)

Proposal: Erection of roadside services to include a 
petrol filling station with ancillary floor space 
(application S18/2263) and various illuminated 
and non-illuminated signage (application 
S18/2264)

Location: Land adjacent to the A15/A1175 roundabout, 
Peterborough Road, Market Deeping

Case Officer: Sam Dewar

Recommendation: To approve the applications subject to 
conditions

b)  Application S17/1315 (Pages 51 - 73)

Proposal: Erection of cottage and garage and demolition 
of existing farm buildings and erection of 
house with integral garage (revised plans, 
additional information; re-advertised 
application)

Location: The Priory Farmyard, 14 Station Road, Castle 
Bytham, Lincolnshire, NG33 4RZ

Case Officer: Sam Dewar

Recommendation: To approve the application subject to 
conditions

c)  Application S18/1859 (Pages 75 - 92)

Proposal: Demolition of dwelling and erection of 14 
affordable dwellings with private drive and 
associated parking

Location: 81 Harrowby Lane, Grantham, NG31 9HZ

Case Officer: Phil Jordan

Recommendation: To approve the application subject to 
conditions and completion of a Section 106 
Agreement

d)  Application S19/0726 (Pages 93 - 102)

Proposal: Erection of detached garage (re-submission 
following S19/0094)

Location: 1 Harrowby Mill Lane, Grantham, NG31 9EP

Case Officer: Peter Lifford

Recommendation: To approve the application subject to 
conditions



e)  Application S18/2111 (Pages 103 - 119)

Proposal: Demolition of 2 existing dwellings and erection 
of 12 dwellings

Location: 153 Eastgate, Deeping St. James, 
Lincolnshire, PE6 8RB

Case Officer: Phil Jordan

Recommendation: To approve the application subject to 
conditions and completion of a Section 106 
Agreement

f)  Application S19/0026 (Pages 121 - 132)

Proposal: Erection of 10 affordable dwellings

Location: Land to the west of Kinoulton Court, Grantham

Case Officer: Phil Jordan

Recommendation: To approve the application subject to 
conditions 

g)  Application S18/0221 (Pages 133 - 149)

Proposal: Change of use of land to racing track including 
placement of towable caravan and three 
containers on site

Location: Land north of Gelston Road, Hougham, 
Grantham, Lincolnshire

Case Officer: Abiola Labisi

Recommendation: To approve the application subject to 
conditions

h)  Application S18/1486 (Pages 151 - 165)

Proposal: Erection of 23 dwellings (reserved matters 
pursuant to outline planning S14/0927)

Location: Grimers Transport Ltd, 11 Station Road, 
Billingborough, NG34 0NR

Case Officer: Phil Moore

Recommendation: To refuse the application

6.  Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent



Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday, 18 June 2019. 
 01476 406080

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

PUBLIC SPEAKING

Anyone who would like to speak at the meeting should notify the Committee administrator one working day 
before the time of the meeting. The deadline by which you must notify us for the 2019/20 meetings are:

Meeting Date Notification Deadline
Wednesday 26 June 2019, 1pm Tuesday 25 June 2019, 1pm
Wednesday 24 July 2019, 1pm Tuesday 23 July 2019, 1pm
Wednesday 21 August 2019, 1pm Tuesday 20 August 2019, 1pm
Wednesday 18 September 2019, 1pm Tuesday 17 September 2019, 1pm
Wednesday 16 October 2019, 1pm Tuesday 15 October 2019, 1pm
Wednesday 13 November 2019, 1pm Tuesday 12 November 2019, 1pm
Wednesday 11 December 2019, 1pm Tuesday 10 December 2019, 1pm
Wednesday 8 January 2020, 1pm Tuesday 7 January 2020, 1pm
Wedensday 5 Febraury 2020, 1pm Tuesday 4 February 2020, 1pm
Wednesday 4 March 2020, 1pm Tuesday 3 March 2020, 1pm
Thursday 2 April 2020, 1pm Wednesday 1 April 2020, 1pm
Wednesday 29 April 2020, 1pm Tuesday 28 April 2020, 1pm
Wednesday 20 May 2020, 1pm Tuesday 19 May 2020, 1pm

If you would like to include photographs or other information as part of your presentation to the Committee, 
please send the information in an electronic format (e-mail with attachments, memory stick or disc) to the 
relevant case officer at least one working day before the meeting. If you are submitting hard copy 
information, please send it to the relevant case officer at least two working days before the meeting.

All speakers are at the Committee Chairman’s (or Vice-Chairman’s) discretion. Each person is allowed to 
speak for 3 minutes. Members of the Council are allowed to speak for 5 minutes in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rules.

One person for the applicant or the town and parish council will be allowed to speak. Where an application 
has several supporters or objectors, they are encouraged to appoint a representative to present a joint 
case.

Committee members may only ask questions of the applicant, the applicant’s agent or technical experts 
speaking for or against an application. 

The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee may ask questions of members of the public but only 
to verify the source of any material facts stated by a public speaker.

ORDER OF PROCEEDINGS

1. Short introductory presentation by the case officer
2. Speakers (Committee members will ask questions after each speaker)

a. District Councillors who are not Committee members
b. Representative from town/parish council
c. Objectors to an application
d. Supporters of an application
e. The applicant or agent for the applicant

3. Debate – Councillors will discuss the application and make proposals
4. Vote – the Committee will vote to agree its decision

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


Minutes
Planning Committee
Wednesday, 29 May 2019

Committee members present

Councillor Bob Adams (Chairman)
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor David Bellamy
Councillor Chris Benn
Councillor Louise Clack
Councillor John Cottier
Councillor Mike Exton

Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown
Councillor Penny Milnes
Councillor Ian Selby
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith (Vice-
Chairman)
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Paul Wood

Officers Other Members

Head of Development Management 
(Sylvia Bland)
Planning Officer (Phil Jordan, Abiola 
Labisi)
Assistant Planning Officer (Craig 
Dickinson)
Legal Adviser (Colin Meadowcroft)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

Councillor George Chivers
Councillor Ian Stokes

(In accordance with Article 9.1.9 of the 
Council’s Constitution, Councillor Chivers 
spoke in connection with application 
S18/0944 and Councillor Ian Stokes 
spoke in connection with application 
S18/0584)

Before the Committee turned its attention to the items of business listed on the 
agenda, the Chairman welcomed new and returning Members and placed on 
record his thanks to the outgoing Chairman, Martin Wilkins.

1. Membership

The Committee was notified that under Regulation 13 of the Local 
Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, notice had 
been received appointing: Councillor Stevens for Councillor Jacky Smith, 
Councillor Bellamy for Councillor Reid, Councillor Wood for Councillor Dilks 
and Councillor Baxter for Councillor Bisnauthsing.

2. Disclosure of interests

No pecuniary interests were disclosed. 

5

Agenda Item 4



Councillor Adams stated that he had been lobbied about application S18/0944 
which related to the use of land for the stationing of caravans for residential 
purposes at land between High Dike and the B6403, Cold Harbour, Grantham, 
but that he still kept an open mind on the application.

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 23 April 2019

The minutes of the meeting held on 23 April 2019 were agreed as a correct 
record.

4. Planning matters

As Councillor Selby had not completed the necessary training to sit on the 
Committee he attended the meeting but abstained from voting.

(a) Application S19/0256

Proposal: Outline application for the demolition of existing dwelling and 
erection of 4 dwellings with all matters reserved

Location: 21 Broadgate Lane, Deeping St. James, PE6 8NW

Decision: To approve the application subject to conditions

As the application was part-heard and Councillors Adams, Bellamy, Benn, 
Clack, Cottier and Milnes had not been present when it had been considered 
previously, they did not participate in discussion or vote on the item. Councillor 
Judy Smith took the Chair for this item only.

Noting:

 No comment from the SKDC Arboricultural Consultant
 Comments from Heritage Lincolnshire
 Comments from Deeping St. James Parish Council
 Comments from Lincolnshire County Council Highways and SUDS 

Support
 No comment received from Lincolnshire County Council Minerals and 

Waste Planning
 Representations received as a result of the original public consultation 

and 6 additional representations received during consultation on an 
amended indicative block plan and site location plan

 Provisions within the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
South Kesteven Core Strategy and supplementary planning documents

 Site visit observations
 Comments made by members at the meeting
 Comments made during the public speaking session on 23 April 2019

6



 Comments made by members on 23 April 2019 when the application 
was first considered

In considering the application, Members expressed concerns about the 
potential impact of the two dwellings situated at the back of the site to 
properties on Hereward Way and Priory Close. The consensus of the majority 
of members was that steps should be taken to limit the height of properties 
situated in this area by adding a condition requiring those properties to be 
bungalows. Committee Members were advised that adding a condition 
restricting the height of prospective dwellings to an outline permission with all 
matters reserved could lead to that condition being appealed. Members were 
in agreement, however, that they wanted to add such a condition with the 
reason being to protect the residential amenity of properties to the rear of 
Hereward Way and Priory Close from overlooking and over-massing. It was 
proposed, seconded and agreed that the application be approved for the 
reasons set out in the case officer’s report and subject to conditions:

Time Limit for Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission or two years 
from the approval of the last of the reserved matters, whichever is the 
latter.

2 Details of the reserved matters set out below shall have been submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval within three years from the 
date of this permission:

i. layout;
ii. scale
iii. appearance
iv. access 
v. landscaping

Approval of all reserved matters shall have been obtained from the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before any development is commenced.

3 When the reserved matters application is made plans showing the 
existing and proposed land levels of the site including site sections, spot 
heights, contours and the finished floor level of all proposed buildings 
with reference to neighbouring properties or an off-site datum point have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Approved Plans

4 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following list of approved plans:

7



i. Site location plan drawing no. 2972/01 Rev A

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.

5 Any dwellings to the rear of the site adjacent to 1, 1a and 1b Priory Close 
and/ or 1, 3 Hereward Way must be of a single storey design.

     
Before development is commenced

6 Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a written 
scheme of archaeological investigation shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

7 The archaeological investigations shall also have been completed in 
accordance with the approved details before development commences.

During Building Works

8 Before construction of any building hereby permitted is commenced, the 
land on which that building is situated shall have been graded in 
accordance with the approved land levels details. 

Before the Development is Occupied

9 The finished floor levels shall be constructed in accordance with the 
approved land levels details. 

(b) Application S18/0944

Proposal: The use of land for the stationing of caravans for residential 
purposes, erection of 6 day rooms and 1 toilet bloc, formation of 
new vehicular access and associated landscaping works

Location: Land between High Dike and B6403, Cold Harbour, Grantham

Decision: To refuse the application contrary to officer recommendations 

Noting comments made during the public speaking session by:

District Councillor Councillor Sarah Trotter (statement read by 
Councillor Adams

Parish Council Representative from Welby Parish Council
Councillor George Chivers on behalf of 
Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without Parish 
Council
David Holmes, Old Somerby Parish Council

8



Against Nigel Percy
County Councillor Martin Hill

Applicant’s Agent Nat Green

Together with:

 Objections from Old Somerby, Ropsley, Aisby and Oasby, 
Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without, and Welby Parish Councils

 No objection and comments from Lincolnshire County Council 
Highways and SUDS Support

 No objection from SKDC planning policy
 No objection from SKDC Environmental Protection Services
 No objection from the SKDC Affordable Housing Officer
 No objection from Lincolnshire County Council Minerals and Waste 

Planning
 No objection from the Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust subject to conditions
 The South Kesteven And Rutland Gypsy Traveller and Travelling Show 

People Accommodation Assessment 2016
 Representations received as a result of public consultation
 Provisions within the National Planning Policy Framework and the 

South Kesteven Core Strategy and supplementary planning documents
 Site visit observations
 Comments made by members at the meeting

Members debated the application and discussed a number of concerns 
including the distance of the site from the nearest amenities and lack of public 
transport and pedestrian access to those amenities, the impact of the 
proposed development on the hamlet of Cold Harbour and concerns about 
safety, with specific reference made to the families living on the site, given the 
proximity to the A52 and the High Dike, which it was stated were two high 
speed roads with a history of accidents. Members were also concerned that 
the amenities on which the proposal was relying were dependent on the 
development of Prince William of Gloucester Barracks

It was proposed, seconded and agreed that the application be refused 
contrary to officer recommendations because it was contrary to Core Strategy 
Policy H4 and the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (2015) as the site is in an 
unsustainable location because community facilities were not accessible from 
the site via foot or public transport and because of the impacts of noise on the 
living environment and wellbeing of the site’s residents because of its location.

15:18 to 15:45 – the meeting adjourned

(c) Application S18/0584

Proposal: Demolition of existing dwelling and the erection of one 
replacement dwelling and one additional detached dwelling, 

9



detached garage, new front boundary wall and new vehicular 
access

Location: 12 West Street, Barkston, NG32 2NL

Decision: To refuse the application contrary to officer recommendations

Noting comments made during the public speaking session by:

District Councillor Councillor Ian Stokes
Barkston & Syston Parish Council Councillor Maryan Nussey

Together with:

 No objection from Lincolnshire County Council Highways and SUDS 
Support

 An objection from Barkston and Syston Parish Council
 No objection from the SKDC Historic Buildings Adviser subject to 

conditions
 No comment received from SKDC’s Environmental Protection Services
 Representations received as a result of public consultation
 Provisions within the National Planning Policy Framework and the 

South Kesteven Core Strategy and supplementary planning documents
 Site visit observations
 Comments made by members at the meeting

Debate ensued with Members discussing the impact of the proposed 
development on the character of Barkston Conservation Area. Members did 
not consider the proposed design of the replacement dwellings and the layout 
of the site were cohesive with the existing dwellings in the Conservation Area 
and they would change the character of West Street.

16:30 - As the meeting had been in progress for 3 hours, the Chairman asked 
for Members’ consent to continue. It was proposed, seconded and, on being 
put to the vote, agreed that the meeting should continue

It was proposed and seconded that the application be refused contrary to 
officer recommendations because it would result in the demolition of an 
unlisted heritage asset in a Conservation Area and the redevelopment of the 
site with two large dwellings and an access road which would not preserve or 
enhance the character or appearance of the Barkston Conservation Area 
contrary to Core Strategy EN1. On being put to the vote, the proposition to 
refuse the application contrary to officer recommendations was carried.

(d) Application S19/0588

Proposal: Reserved matters pursuant to S17/0057 (24 flats) matter of 
landscaping

10



Location: Land to rear of Gladstone Terrace, Prospect Place, Grantham, 
NG31 8BW

Decision: To approve the application subject to conditions

Noting:

 No comment received from the SKDC Arboricultural Consultant
 Representations received as a result of public consultation
 Provisions within the National Planning Policy Framework and the 

South Kesteven Core Strategy and supplementary planning documents
 Comments made by members at the meeting

It was proposed, seconded and agreed that the application be approved for 
the summary of reasons set out in the case officer’s report and subject also to 
the following conditions:

Approved Plans

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following list of approved plans:

i. Site Location Plan - Drg No ID/PP/15/004 received by the Local 
Planning Authority 27 March 2019.

ii. Proposed Landscaping Plan - Drg No ID/PP/19/RM/101 Rev C 
received by the Local Planning Authority 7 May 2019.

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission. 
 
Before the Development is Occupied

2 Before the first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved, all hard 
landscape works including the parking and turning facilities and 
footpaths around the building shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved hard landscaping details as shown on Drg No 
ID/PP/19/RM/101 Rev C received 7 May 2019.

Ongoing Conditions

3 Following the occupation of the last dwelling hereby approved, or 
completion of the development, whichever is the soonest, all soft 
landscaping works shall have been carried out before the end of the first 
planting/seeding season in accordance with the approved soft 
landscaping details as shown on:

i. Drg No. ID/PP/19/RM/101 Rev C received 7 May 2019

11



4. Within a period of five years from the first occupation of the final 
dwelling/completion of the development hereby permitted, any trees or 
plants provided as part of the approved soft landscaping scheme, die or 
become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously 
damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting season 
following any such loss with a specimen of the same size and species 
as was approved in condition above unless otherwise agreed by the 
Local Planning Authority.

(e) Application S18/2270

Proposal: Erection of first floor rear extension and single storey side 
extension comprising garage

Location: 10 Westfield Way, Langtoft, Lincolnshire, PE6 9RH 

Decision: To approve the application subject to conditions

16:37 – Councillor Selby left the meeting
16:39 – Councillor Exton left the meeting and did not return

Noting:

 An objection from Langtoft Parish Council
 No comment received from Lincolnshire County Council Highways and 

SUDS Support
 Representations received as a result of public consultation
 Provisions within the National Planning Policy Framework and the 

South Kesteven Core Strategy and supplementary planning documents
 Site visit observations
 Comments made by members at the meeting

It was proposed, seconded and agreed that the application be approved for 
the summary of reasons set out in the case officer’s report and subject also to 
the following conditions:

Time Limit for Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Approved Plans

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following list of approved plans:

12



i. AMENDED PROPOSED ELEVATION PLAN - dwg no. PP-01B - 
received 19/02/19

ii. AMENDED PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN - dwg no. PP-02A - 
received 19/02/19

iii. AMENDED BLOCK PLAN - dwg no. PP-04A - received 14/05/19

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.

Before the Development is Occupied

3 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought 
into use, the external elevations shall have been completed using only 
the materials stated in the planning application forms unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Ongoing Conditions

4 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought 
into use, the first floor window serving an en suite on the South-East 
elevation shall have been installed with obscure glazing and with no 
opening part being less than 1.7m above the floor level immediately 
below the centre of the opening part. The obscure glazing shall be to 
obscured to a minimum of Pilkington - Privacy Level 3 or an equivalent 
product. Once installed, the window units shall thereafter be retained as 
such at all times. 

5. Close of meeting

The meeting was closed at 16:54.

13



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee
26 June 2019

        

S18/2263
Proposal: Erection of roadside services to include a petrol filling station with 

ancillary retail floor space.
Location: Land Adjacent To The A15/A1175 Roundabout, Peterborough Road, 

Market Deeping   
Applicant: BP Oil UK Ltd BP Oil UK Ltd, c/o Robert Doughty Consultancy Ltd   
Agent: Mr Robert Doughty, Robert Doughty Consultancy Limited, 32 High 

Street, Helpringham, Sleaford, NG34 0RA
Application type: Full Planning Permission
Reason for referral to 
Committee:

At the request of Cllr Ashley Baxter due to being contrary to the 
Local Plan, impact on Local Biodiversity, highway safety, Layout 
and density of building, design, appearance and materials, design 
out of keeping with the character of the area, and physical 
Infrastructure

Key issues: Principle of Development 
Economic considerations including the need for the development
Highway matters including safety and accessibility
Impact on the character and appearance of the area
Amenity implications
Technical considerations

Technical documents: Planning, Design & Access Statement
Supporting Statement - Need & Location (amended)
Drainage Strategy 
Lighting information (amended)
Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment (amended)
Biodiversity Statement
Fuel Storage Assessment
Minerals Statement
Phase 1 & 2 Environmental Assessment
Transport Assessment

Report Author

Sam Dewar, Principal Planning Officer 

01476 406093

sam.dewar@southkesteven.gov.uk

15

Agenda Item 5a

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Regulatory Market and West Deeping

Reviewed by: Sylvia Bland, Head of Development Management 12 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Recommended decision - That the application is approved conditionally

16



17



1 Description of site

1.1 The application site is to the north west of the A15/A1175 roundabout located to the north 
of Market Deeping.

1.2 The site is part of a larger agricultural field, which is bounded by existing vegetation on its 
southern and eastern sides. The southern and eastern boundaries follow the edge of the 
A1175 and A15 respectively with additional verge area between the site boundary and the 
road. The site is level, and set at a lower level to the road, with those adjacent roads being 
raised on embankments. The two roads are lit in the vicinity of the roundabout and the 
development site. The site is visible from the public highway and a footpath.  

1.3 The site is separated from the main part of Market Deeping (to the south) by the A15 and 
A1175.

2 Description of proposal

2.1 The proposal is for roadside services, comprising a Petrol Filling Station (PFS) with 
ancillary retail element, car parking for staff and customers and landscaping. The scheme 
has been revised during the determination of the application, in response to the comments 
raised by consultees and Officers.

2.2 The proposed PFS building would be of a simple mono-pitched roof design, with a 
maximum height of 4.6m and dropping down to 3.5m. It would front onto the proposed 
fuelling area where the elevation would comprise a large glazed element. The remaining 
elevations would be finished in composite cladding. The colours to be used for the 
cladding would be white over a black skirting, the roof would be finished in a grey 
composite cladding, with grey fascias.  The building would measure 12.05m x 27.3m, to 
create a floor area of approximately 300m2 which would provide a limited range of basic 
top up goods to be sold alongside the primary PFS operation, including: 

 confectionery, snacks and drinks, 
 convenience groceries (chilled/dairy, tinned and package goods), 
 non-food goods including household, toiletries, newspapers/magazines, BBQ fuels, 

cigarettes, and car care items. 

2.3 The fuelling area would measure approximately 28.8m x 11m and pumps are to be 
arranged in a "starter gate" arrangement, allowing for simultaneous refuelling of 8 
vehicles, and would cater for all vehicle types. Passing space is also included to allow 
efficient operation. The fuelling area would be covered by a canopy measuring 6.2m at its 
highest point, a minimum of 5.4m to underside to allow sufficient height for HGVs and 
larger vehicles.
 

2.4 The submission indicates that the proposals are designed to meet the need for fuel related 
customers, primarily from passing trade, although it is identified that the facilities may also 
be utilised by local residents. The submission also identifies that the PFS will be provided 
by BP and the store operated by Marks and Spencer Food. Both the store and the filling 
station will operate 24 hours a day.

18



2.5 A total of 24 parking spaces, including 2 accessible bays for customers would be provided, 
along with a further 4 for staff. 

2.6 The access is proposed from the A15, with a circulatory route created within the site. To 
facilitate the access, off-site highway works are required to be undertaken on the A15. 

2.7 In addition, landscaping works are proposed including the creation of new boundaries to 
the north and north-west, along with sustainable drainage proposals and additional 
planting internally within the site. Details relating to lighting, hard landscaping materials, 
storage tanks and interceptors have all been provided within the submission.

2.8 A separate, but linked submission has been made under S18/2264 for advertisements 
associated with the development proposed for the site. This includes for a variety of 
signage proposals including:

 2 x free-standing ID signs - 2.29m wide x 7m high - to be internally illuminated
 Canopy signage - illuminated signage on all sides of the canopy over the fuel pumps, 

along with signage over fuel pumps
 Building signage - including illuminated branding, illuminated lettering, and non-

illuminated poster boards.

2.9 All of the signage would be reflective of the operators of the facility, including BP, M&S 
and Wild Bean Cafe, and would display products or services available at the premises.

3 Relevant History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
S18/2264 Various illuminated and non-illuminated 

signage
Pending 
Decision 

4 Policy Considerations

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places
Section 2 - Achieving sustainable development
Section 4 - Decision-making
Section 6 - Building a strong, competitive economy
Section 7 - Ensuring the vitality of town centres
Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport
Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

4.2 South Kesteven District Council Core Strategy
Policy SP1 - Spatial Strategy
Policy E1 - Employment Development
Policy E2 - Retail Development

19



Policy EN1 - Protection and Enhancement
Policy EN2 - Reduce the Risk of Flooding

4.3 Site Allocation and Policies Development Plan Document
Policy SD1 - Sustainable development

4.4 Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan
Policy M11 - Safeguarding of Mineral Resources

5 Representations Received

5.1 Parish Council
5.1.1 Market Deeping Town Council have made comments on the amended plans. The Town 

Council notes that:

The northbound lane is quite wide as it comes off the roundabout, thus making it difficult 
for the pedestrians to cross. Could the island be enlarged or hatching added to try to 
reduce the size of the lane and so make it easier to cross?  A planning condition will need 
to be put in place to ensure that the off-site changes, including those mentioned above 
and the installation of the dropped kerbs etc are either carried out by the developer or 
funded by them. The Town Council is disappointed to note that the EV charging bays have 
disappeared from these new plans.

5.1.2 Langtoft Parish Council did not comment on the amended plans, but their earlier 
objections remain relevant. They raise concerns that the access is unsafe, particularly 
given the potential increase in vehicle movements expected. They advocate an alternative 
solution which would see traffic exit onto the dual-carriageway in a similar fashion to the 
arrangements at Glinton.

5.2 LCC Highways & SuDS Support
5.2.1 Raise no objections, requests only a condition in relation to the delivery of the access 

works and associated highway changes which would be delivered through a S278 
highway agreement.

5.3 Environment Agency
5.3.1 Remove their previous objection to the scheme, and raise no objections in light of the 

amended information presented. Request a condition in relation to a detailed scheme 
relating to the installation of any underground tanks.

5.4 Invest SK (SKDC)
5.4.1 Support the proposals on the grounds that:

As a growing economic centre in the South Kesteven district, The Deepings is currently 
served by just one petrol filling station located in the retail centre of Market Deeping. In 
line with the aspirations of the District there is a need to develop a 'local' economy where 
greater levels of spend are retained and not as is currently the case leaking out to 
neighbouring authorities. Presently anyone commuting across this part of the district will 
most likely make use of petrol filling stations in the Peterborough area rather than make 

20



the diversion into Market Deeping centre. It is therefore a positive of this application that 
more spend can be retained in the District through provision of an additional filling station. 
The retail offering identified in the planning application does not appear to in anyway 
compete with or detract from the current town centre offering in Market Deeping and is the 
typical type of ancillary offering normally associated with a roadside filling station. In 
addition to this the location does not present itself as somewhere local residents would 
identify as a retail destination in preference to the town centre. The creation of 25 jobs to 
support the development is also very much welcomed. In summary, the effect of bringing 
this development forward for its intended use in the location identified will have a positive 
impact on the economy of the District without detracting from the current town centre 
offering.

5.5 Environmental Protection Services (SKDC)
5.5.1 Raise no objections and have no comments to make.

5.6 Heritage Lincolnshire
5.6.1 Raise no objections to the proposal. They identify that a heritage impact assessment and 

geophysical survey report for the site has been submitted which describes the known and 
potential archaeological remains at and in the vicinity of the site.  In summary, the results 
of the geophysical survey, together with the cropmark evidence indicates a high potential 
for archaeological remains within the development site, particularly of the later prehistoric 
period. 

5.6.2 There is potential for impact on any buried archaeological remains. Given the findings of 
the foregoing assessment, a programme of archaeological work would be required in 
order to determine the nature, character and date of archaeological remains present within 
the site and to inform any further mitigation which may necessary. Initially this should take 
the form of trial trenching, targeting features identified as well as testing areas where 
remains may be present but are not detectable by aerial photography or geophysical 
survey. Depending on the results of the trenching, further archaeological work may be 
required to investigate and record remains which will be damaged or destroyed by the 
development.

5.7 Welland & Deeping Internal Drainage Board
5.7.1 Raise no objections, and provide copy of detailed comments which were given to the 

applicants at pre-application stage. These highlight recommended connection points and 
methods, the need for maintenance agreements with LCC, the need for a surface water 
discharge application and consent to alter a watercourse. In addition, in relation to the 
revised information, they advise the approach is agreeable in principle, subject to the 
submission of an application in advance of the works and the agreement of technical 
details.

5.8 Minerals And Waste Planning (LCC)
5.8.1 Raise no objections. They identify that the applicant has demonstrated that in accordance 

with the criteria set out in Policy M11 of the Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Core Strategy 
and Development Management Policies (2016), the development is of a minor nature 
which would have a negligible impact with respect to sterilising the mineral resource, and 
also that prior extraction of the mineral would be impractical. Notwithstanding the above, 
they identify that the applicant should include provision within their construction 

21



management plan for the utilisation on-site of any minerals encountered during 
construction of the proposed development

5.9 Lincolnshire Fire & Rescue Services
5.9.1 Previous objection now removed as a result of revised plans, and notes that a fire hydrant 

is proposed to be installed within the development.

6 Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 
Community Involvement and 11 letters of representation have been received.  

6.2 10 objections were received, the points raised can be summarised as follows:

1. Lack of need for another services or M&S - negative impacts on other existing 
facilities

2. Loss of agricultural land
3. Potential for opening up of surrounding land for more development - closure of 

separation between Market Deeping and Langtoft
4. Highway safety and congestion at roundabout
5. Accessibility for larger vehicles eg lorries
6. Concerns regarding the Transport Assessment
7. Sustainability - location and accessibility for existing residents of Market Deeping
8. Concerns regarding location - would be better suited on Northfields Road
9. Impact on countryside
10. Poor design of facilities
11. Impact on amenity of Tithe Barn Farm
12. Light pollution
13. Contrary to local and national planning policies
14. No benefit for local residents
15. Loss of open fields

1 letter of Support was received, which highlights:

1. The location near to the roundabout is a fabulous idea. 
2. Will bring in competition for petrol buying and more accessible too.

7 Evaluation

7.1 Principle of Development

7.1.1 The site is located outside of, but in close proximity to the town of Market Deeping, being 
separated from it by the A1175. Market Deeping is a settlement identified as being 
suitable and sustainable for growth, however, the site itself would fall within the 
countryside in planning terms. 

7.1.2 Policy SP1 of the Core Strategy seeks to restrict development within countryside areas but 
under criteria D it allows for ‘Local services and facilities’. This is subject to the 

22



sustainability of the site being considered along with all other material considerations. 
Policy SP1 does not define what is considered a ‘local service’ or ‘facilities’. In addition to 
this, Policy E1 allows for employment development within rural areas provided that there is 
a justification relating to the need for the facility and that the proposals would contribute to 
the rural economy. 

7.1.3 The NPPF offers general support towards the proposals as part of the overall desire to 
secure a strong and prosperous economy, including rural areas. 

7.1.4 In addition, it should be noted that whilst only limited weight can be attributed to the 
emerging policies of the submission Local Plan, the policies of that plan do seek to 
encourage economic growth across the District, including in the Market Deeping area and 
within the rural area. This proposal would therefore align with these objectives, as well as 
aligning with the Council’s corporate priority for Growth.

7.1.5 In light of this policy position, it is necessary to consider the detailed aspects of the 
scheme before concluding on the matter of principle. There is clearly a need to carefully 
consider the justification for the proposals and the impact of the development that would 
result. This is as set out in the following section of this report. Overall, if the development 
is concluded as being acceptable in all other respects, the scheme would be in general 
accordance with the development plan as a whole.

7.2 Economic Considerations - including need for the development

7.2.1 As set out above, Policy E1, the emerging Local Plan policies and the NPPF do allow for 
new proposals which would contribute to the economy and appropriate growth within rural 
areas. This is subject to an appropriate justification being presented. 

7.2.2 The proposals are for a Petrol Filling Station, with an ancillary retail element. Collectively 
the proposals would constitute a sui generis use. As a result, when taken as a whole, the 
proposals do not fall within the types of development which comprise 'main town centre' 
uses as defined within the NPPF, however, the retail element would be a 'main town 
centre' use if taken in isolation. In this instance it must be remembered that the retail 
element is ancillary to the primary use of the site as a petrol-filling station.

7.2.3 In terms of the need for and location of the facility, the applicants have provided significant 
supporting justification, including the following statements:

 The aim is to provide a high-quality facility, capable of efficiently serving the refuelling 
needs of passing vehicles in large volumes.

 The purpose of the proposed facilities is, however, to directly address the needs of the 
passing motorist and to prevent vehicles from detouring away from the main road in 
search of the essential facilities of toilets, fuel, refreshment and rest. Such facilities can 
only be provided effectively if they are located close to the strategic road. The needs 
would not be met by a facility that was remote from the main road or less prominent.

 The site would be adjacent to a strategic junction, and would be able to service trade 
from all directions with minimal detour required, allowing for efficient continuation of 
onward journeys.

23



 The site would also provide conveniently located facilities for residents leaving or 
returning to Market Deeping, and would support its role as a key market town.

 Traffic flows are strong and readily capable of supporting a new proposal, generating a 
substantial need for services including fuel, rest and refreshment.

 The site is considered to be commercially viable, as the access arrangements would 
be effective and allow the needs of all passing traffic to be met.

7.2.4 Consideration has been given to the location and nature of other similar facilities, with this 
conclusion:

 Traffic travelling South via the A15, A1175 and the A15 towards Peterborough or the 
return route travelling North - Glinton Service Station is some 4.9 miles south of the 
site and there is a significant gap on this section of the strategic road network between 
Bourne Service Station and Glinton Filling Station of 10.2 miles. The proposed site is 
located approximately centrally within this gap.

 Traffic travelling West from Spalding via the A1175 towards Stamford and the A1 or the 
return route travelling East - Between the modern site at Spalding and the Morrisons 
supermarket site in Stamford, there is a gap of 16.9 miles. This represents a significant 
gap in service area provision on this route and the needs of the motorist are not 
effectively met at present.

 Traffic travelling south then west on the A15 and A1175 towards Stamford or the return 
journey East then North - There is a gap of some 12.9 miles between Bourne Service 
Station and the Morrisons facility in service area provision.

 It is noted that the report highlights that Tallington Filling Station, Hindmarch Garage, 
and Katesbridge Service Station have all been considered within the analysis, but for 
varying reasons have been discounted from further analysis as the facilities they 
provide would be limited compared to the development proposed - for example, a lack 
of ability to support HGVs, size of fuel forecourt or shop, or have been designed to 
meet the needs of local traffic as opposed to passing trade. In the opinion of the report, 
none of these facilities offer comparable facilities to those proposed by the application, 
and are not sufficient to meet the needs of passing trade along this part of the strategic 
road network.

7.2.5 The applicant's submissions have also considered the potential for the facility to be 
located on other sites within the area, including the proposed Local Plan employment 
allocation DEP.SE1 which relates to land fronting Peterborough Road on the approach to 
Market Deeping from the north. It benefits from outline planning permission for 
employment use. 

7.2.6 The application's submission forms a type of sequential test approach to the siting of 
roadside services.  The applicant's report references the key strengths of the proposed 
site in terms of location, and to that end, they consider the allocation DEP.SE1 to be 
weaker than the proposed site from a commercial perspective. They consider that the 
allocation site would be less preferable as it would not meet the full needs of the 
development in terms of attracting passing trade - specifically as a result of visibility to 
passing motorists. In addition, allocation DEP.SE1 would be accessed via a local highway 
route as opposed to being accessed from the strategic road network off the A1175/A15. In 
conclusion, the report identifies that the allocation DEP.SE1 would not provide an 

24



appropriate site to meet the needs of the operators of the site nor would it be a suitable 
location for the type of modern service facility which is proposed in this instance. The 
report concludes that there are no other locations within the Market Deeping area which 
would offer an effective alternative location for the development that is proposed.

7.2.7 In terms of the effect on other facilities within the area, the applicant's submissions have 
considered this issue in detail and for the reasons identified above, have concluded that 
the proposals would be unlikely to have a negative effect as the proposed development 
seeks to cater for a different market, when compared to existing, local competitors. In 
addition, they identify that competition between businesses is not a material planning 
consideration. They highlight that as the scheme seeks to bring new, modern facilities, to 
cater for latent market demand and increase choice within the area, they believe that this 
is a commercially viable, and deliverable proposal. They go on to identify that the 
proposals have the potential to present economic benefits to the rural economy, as well as 
providing new facilities which could be utilised by existing residents of nearby 
communities. It is identified that the PFS operation would provide for a range of job 
opportunities owing to the 24/7 nature of the operation - with a potential to create 
approximately 25 full-time equivalent positions, although with part-time roles this is likely to 
be increased. Furthermore, there would be economic benefits resulting from the 
construction process and additional business rates revenues. This job creation (as a local 
finance consideration) carries significant weight in the planning balance and weighs 
strongly in favour of the scheme.

7.2.8 Having considered the applicant's submissions, it is considered that there is no evidential 
basis to counter the applicant's position that there is a need for this facility, and it is 
considered that a reasonable case has been presented which justifies the need for the 
facility and the proposed location over allocation DEP.SE1. 

7.2.9 In addition to the applicant's sequential site assessment, the land to the south of the 
application site sandwiched between the western fringe of Market Deeping settlement and 
the by-pass are largely taken up by a current undetermined application (S18/2146) for up 
to 260 dwellings and open space or a proposed Local Plan housing allocation DEP.H1 
with an indicative number of 73 dwellings. There is an application for a village green 
designation on a large portion of this land awaiting determination.  This would preclude 
these sites from being currently available for roadside services. This minimises the 
alternative options for the proposed development on the fringes of Market Deeping and 
adds further justification to the chosen location.  

7.2.10 Consultation has been undertaken with InvestSK, who have provided a detailed, and 
positive comment in support of the proposal. From an economic perspective, they highlight 
that as a growing economic centre in the South Kesteven district, the Deepings is currently 
served by just one petrol filling station located in the retail centre of Market Deeping and 
therefore the proposal would help in providing new opportunities to the local market. In 
addition, they identify that the scheme would help to develop a 'local' economy for the 
District where greater levels of spend are retained and not as is currently the case leaking 
out to neighbouring authorities. Presently anyone commuting across this part of the district 
will most likely make use of petrol filling stations in the Peterborough area rather than 
make the diversion into Market Deeping centre. This application would therefore allow 
potential for more spend to be retained in the District. They also identify that the retail 

25



offering would be unlikely to compete with or detract from the current town centre offering 
in Market Deeping and is the typical type of ancillary offering normally associated with a 
roadside filling station. In addition to this the location does not present itself as somewhere 
local residents would identify as a retail destination in preference to the town centre. they 
also welcome the provision of the additional 25 jobs. Invest SK conclude that the 
proposals will have a positive impact on the economy of the District without detracting 
from the current town centre offering.

7.2.11 In light of the above, the proposals would result in a form of development which is likely to 
benefit the local economy, and would create additional jobs. The proposals have been 
appropriately justified, and it is considered that the location has been appropriately 
evidenced through the applicant's submissions. It is considered that the proposed location 
would allow the development to create additional facilities within the local market which 
would meet the needs of passing trade, whilst also having the potential to provide 
additional facilities which would service the needs of the local community. In terms of the 
impact on existing facilities within the local area, this has been carefully considered 
through the application submissions, and there is no evidence to demonstrate that an 
adverse effect would occur. Furthermore, it is clear that the intention of the proposals is to 
meet a different type of market when compared to the operation of some other facilities, 
and thus, whilst the provision of modern facilities to meet passing trade could have some 
minor negative effect as a result of diversion of existing trade, this would need to be 
balanced against the positive economic effects which would be created through this new 
facility including the new jobs created and the effect of capturing latent market demand for 
petrol filling station facilities and the associated spend within the District. On balance it is 
considered that the proposals would be likely to have a positive economic effect, and 
would therefore be in accordance with the aims of both local and national planning policy 
in supporting a vibrant, sustainable and competitive economy. 

7.3 Highway issues

7.3.1 Policy EN1 of the adopted Core Strategy states that development proposals will be 
assessed in relation to (amongst other criteria) the layout and scale of buildings and 
designed spaces.  Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be 
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

7.3.2 Given the nature and intention of the proposed use, coupled with the intended location, 
highway matters are a major determining matter in this case. Concerns have been 
expressed in respect of the highway safety of the proposals, along with matters of 
accessibility. Comments have also been made regarding the suitability of the proposed 
access arrangements, particularly when compared to other suggested arrangements 
(such as separate in/out arrangements utilised at other services such as Glinton). 

7.3.3 The access arrangements, and associated highway works have been the subject of 
considerable discussion during the determination of the application. These have been 
reviewed by consultees and amendments have been made by the applicants in response 
to this. Furthermore, a Transport Assessment has been submitted in connection with the 
proposal which seeks to assess the impact of the proposals upon the highway network 
and identify the acceptability of the proposals in highway terms. 

26



7.3.4 The access is proposed to be located on the western side of the A15 when heading north 
towards Langtoft, approximately 50m from the A1175/A15 roundabout. The access would 
have visibility splays of 4.5m x 215m and 4.5m x 90m. The access would be formed of a 
bellmouth junction, which would lead down to a 5m route into the site. On exit there would 
be a 3.8m roadway which would widen at the junction with the A15. To facilitate this 
access from the A15, works would be required in the carriageway, including the creation of 
a ghost-island right-turn lane, and a pedestrian crossing point which would be similar to 
other existing facilities on the other arms of the roundabout.

In terms of traffic generation associated with the proposed use and highway safety, the 
Transport Assessment submitted with the proposals identifies the following summary 
conclusions:
 The proposed development has the potential to generate around 100 two-way vehicle 

movements per hour during the peak periods and around 1,400 two-way vehicle 
movements per day, of which a small number would be HGVs.

 The proposal would primarily result in a redistribution of existing trips, rather than the 
creation of new trips. Having regard to the location of the site it is therefore anticipated 
that the trips attracted to the proposed development would be linked trips (either pass-
by on the A15 or diverted from A1175, B1524 or Northfields) currently being made on 
the local highway network. 

 Vehicular access to the proposed development site would be from the A15 via a new 
ghost island junction. It has been demonstrated that, taking into account committed 
development and traffic growth to the future assessment year of 2023, the site access 
arrangements would operate satisfactorily. On-site observations and assessment of 
the operation of the local highway network have revealed no existing issues relating to 
highway capacity or safety and the local highway network operates satisfactorily. It has 
been demonstrated that the A15/A1175 roundabout currently operates within capacity, 
with small queues being modelled on all approaches - this is consistent with what has 
been observed on-site. It has been demonstrated that the roundabout will continue to 
operate within capacity during the peak periods in the 2023 future assessment year 
'with committed development' scenario and that addition of the traffic associated with 
the proposed development has little effect on the operation of the roundabout - it 
continues to operate satisfactorily. 

7.3.5 The Highway Authority have considered the proposals and identify that the TA has been 
prepared by a competent person in accordance with the prescribed guidance. They agree 
with the conclusions of the TA that the development and proposed access to the site can 
be served and operate without having an unacceptable impact on the local highway 
network. They do not object to the development, however, they have requested a 
condition to secure the delivery of the access arrangements and associated highway 
works (including a ghost-island and right turn lane) which would be delivered through 
S278 of the Highways Act. There is considered to be sufficient space to deliver the 
required improvements to be confident that the works can be accommodated within the 
existing highway and land within the control of the Applicants, but there will inevitably be a 
degree of further discussion between the Highway Authority and the 
applicants'/Developers' Consultants to arrive at a fully worked-up engineering design that 
could be handed to a contractor to complete the works on the ground. It is also noted that 

27



a Stage 1 Safety Audit has been undertaken and that no problems that cannot be resolved 
at detailed engineering stage were identified.

7.3.6 In light of the above, the technical advice received identifies that the proposals would be 
acceptable in highway safety terms, and there is no evidenced basis to warrant refusal of 
the scheme on highway safety grounds. 

7.3.7 It is noted that Langtoft Parish Council have consistently objected to the proposals on the 
basis of highway issues including safety and traffic generation associated with the 
proposed use. It is noted that their preference would be for an alternative solution in 
respect of highway access (such as a dedicated in/out arrangements as found at other 
facilities such as Glinton) or for the facility to be located on the Market Deeping side of the 
roundabout. In this regard, alternative locations for the proposed roadside services have 
been considered which included the potential for sites on the opposite side of the 
roundabout have been considered earlier in this report. No alternative sites are suitable. 
Whilst there may be alternative options for highway access, the application must be 
determined on its own merits and with regard to the submissions that have been made. It 
is noted that the Highway Authority have advised that there is insufficient evidence to 
demonstrate that a proposed alternative access/egress arrangement would be required, 
and as such there is insufficient basis to refuse permission for the arrangements 
proposed. They also note that there are many other similar facilities which operate safely 
with the arrangements sought through this application. In this case, the proposed 
arrangements have been concluded as being technically achievable and appropriate in 
safety terms. 

7.3.8 Turning to issues of accessibility, representations have been made that although the site 
is relatively close to Market Deeping it is particularly hard to access by means of transport 
other than a private car as footpath and cycle access is poor and dangerous having regard 
to the need to cross the A15 at a point where vehicle speeds are high. The site is not 
considered to be readily accessible to either staff or residents who may visit the retail offer 
on a convenience basis.

7.3.9 The Transport Assessment and other submissions with the application identify that the 
intention of this facility is primarily aimed at passing trade, and whilst it would be likely to 
be used by local residents, it is unlikely that they would seek to access the site by means 
other than the private car and thus such journeys are likely to be in the minority. As such, 
sufficient car parking facilities for all users and staff have been included within the 
development proposals. That said, some limited improvements would be secured to 
provide pedestrian and cycle connectivity in a manner which is similar to those crossing 
facilities found on the other arms of the roundabout as required by condition 3. 

7.3.10 The comments from the Highway Authority in respect of accessibility identify that they 
have considered such matters in their assessment of the proposals. Specifically, they 
have advised that the carriageway lane width on the north-bound exit off the roundabout is 
no wider than that of the east-bound exit off the roundabout, where there is an existing 
informal pedestrian and cyclist crossing. Accordingly, additional carriageway markings or a 
physical reduction in the lane width is not necessary. The relative merits of having 
pedestrians and cyclists crossing at the existing roundabout splitter island (as proposed) 
or at a new central island within the ghost island right-turn lane and been considered and 

28



the proposed arrangements are considered to be the most appropriate and safer option. 
They raise no objections to the proposals in this regard.

7.3.11 Given the purpose of the proposed roadside services to serve passing trade and users of 
the strategic road network, as opposed to serving the specific needs of nearby 
communities, it is considered that the site would be suitable and appropriately located and 
would be served by an appropriate level of connectivity.

7.3.12 Overall, it is concluded that in respect of highway issues, the proposals would provide 
acceptable highway arrangements which would be commensurate to the nature and scale 
of use that is proposed. The proposals would not have any significant detrimental impact 
upon highway safety or the operation of the highway. Some limited off-site improvements 
would be included to improve accessibility for non-motorised road users and these are 
considered to be appropriate given the nature of the use that is proposed. To that end, it is 
considered that the scheme is acceptable in relation to highway matters, and the 
proposals would be in accordance with both local and national planning policies. In 
particular, the proposals would not exceed the severity or highway safety tests within the 
NPPF.

7.4 Impact of the use on the character of the area

7.4.1 Policy EN1 of the adopted Core Strategy states that development proposals will be 
assessed in relation to (amongst other criteria) local distinctiveness and sense of place, 
the quality and character of the built fabric and their settings.  Part 12 of the NPPF 
(Achieving well-designed places) states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development and new development should be visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture and appropriate landscaping.

7.4.2 A detailed Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment has been submitted in connection with 
the proposals and which seeks to identify the likely impacts of the proposed development 
on the character and appearance of the area. In summary this identifies:
 The site comprises a level parcel of agricultural land which is in the corner of a larger 

arable field to the north east of the A15/A1175 roundabout to the north of Market 
Deeping. 

 The land is featureless apart from boundary hedgerows along the southern and 
eastern boundaries of the field. Within the road verge adjacent to the A15 is a drainage 
ditch which is dry and open. There are no significant mature trees or other habitats of 
note within the immediate area. 

 The site lies within "The Fens" character area within the SKDC Landscape Character 
Assessment 2007 which identifies key characteristics including low, flat terrain; large 
open fields; sparse trees/woodland cover.

 Although there is open countryside surrounding the site, the adjacent A15/A1175 
roundabout is extremely busy and heavily influences the character of the site. In 
addition to the busy road network and the proliferation of lighting, signage and traffic 
movement associated with it, the site's location close to Market Deeping, Langtoft and 
Northfields Industrial Estate detracts from the rural remoteness and tranquillity which is 
characteristic in some parts of this character area.

29



 Views of the proposed development will be mainly limited to close views from the A15 
directly to the south and east of the site, and the A1175 east of the site. There may be 
some mid distant views of the proposal from Meadow Road, and the southern end of 
New Road to the north east of the site, but it will be difficult to perceive any detail 
against the backdrop of existing road signage, lighting, and moving vehicles associated 
with the busy roundabout.

 The visual impact on the whole is limited to the immediate vicinity of the site itself, due 
to a variety of factors including roadside vegetation, road layout and the embankments 
associated with the A15 west of the roundabout, planting associated with the 
A15/A1175 roundabout and that directly to the south of it, and a lack of Public Rights of 
Ways in the vicinity of the site which would give access to public views of the proposal. 
This impact is further affected by issues such as the landscape backdrop to particular 
views, the proximity and character of other existing development or structures, and 
intervening planting and buildings.

 The proposals would have little impact on views from Market Deeping and Langtoft.  
Market Deeping, although located close to the site, is separated from it by the A15 
which is on an embankment in this location, and by planting associated with the 
A15/A1175 roundabout. Both of these factors limit and in the main prohibit visibility 
from Market Deeping of the proposed development. Any views of the proposal from 
Langtoft, will be long distance views from properties located on the southern edge of 
the settlement. 

 The most perceptible change will be for highway users, who will be more aware of the 
facility at close distance, however, this will be on either a passing, transient basis, or as 
a result of their desire to locate and utilise the facility. 

 The existing context of the A15/A1175 roundabout, the busy adjacent transport routes, 
the associated proliferation of road signage and road lighting, all aid in reducing the 
impact of the proposed development within the general context. The impact of the 
development can be further mitigated against by the implementation of an appropriate 
landscape scheme. A suitable landscape scheme will assist in the integration of the 
development into the local landscape and which will effectively deal with the sensitive 
open northern and western boundaries of the site. However, it must also be taken into 
account that the site's end operators will not wish to be fully screened from view.

 Detailed landscape proposals are included, which would: Counteract the sites 
openness; provide strong boundary planting elements; provide framed views into the 
site (rather than wholescale screening of the proposal); retain existing hedgerows with 
a new native mixed species hedge proposed for the sites northern and western 
boundaries; utilise predominantly native species, which will establish quickly and 
successfully; and increase the biodiversity of the site with the species selected. 

7.4.3 The proposals are considered to be of an appropriate size and scale for the site and can 
be accommodated in a satisfactory way which would allow for sufficient space for 
circulation, and servicing, along with the provision of landscaped areas. It is noted that the 
building and the overall development does not seek to identify itself with local vernacular, 
nor do they seek to promote themselves as landmark or gateway buildings. The form and 
appearance of the buildings and structures are reflective of their identified use. They are 
simple and uncomplicated in nature, but their massing and overall appearance has been 
carefully considered to provide an appropriate balance between function and design 

30



quality. It is therefore considered that the design and scale of the buildings/structures 
would be acceptable.

7.4.4 The retention of existing hedgerows and inclusion of detailed soft landscape proposals 
would further aid in mitigating the impact of the development, creating defined boundaries 
to the remainder of the field and preventing further visual bleeding into the surrounding 
field and also increasing the biodiversity potential for the site. The proposed site would be 
set at a lower level to the adjacent roads, which would further reduce the visual impact of 
the site, although it is accepted that this would be countered by elements such as the 
canopy which are feature identifiers of the proposed development due to their height. 

7.4.5 Clearly, given the nature of the proposed use and the need to be readily identifiable and 
attractive to passing trade, there is a need to provide for an appropriate balance between 
visual prominence and the need to respect and integrate with the existing character of the 
area. It is accepted that this use would bring with it a necessity for lighting, which would 
highlight the location of the site at night, however, this is a necessary part of the proposals 
and it is accepted that there is presently a degree of lighting within this area as a result of 
the existing highway lighting and lights from passing vehicles. In this respect, the 
requirements of paragraph 180 of the NPPF have been fully considered to ensure that any 
light pollution would be appropriate for this location. The solution proposed identifies that 
all lighting would comprise energy efficient LED lighting which would be focused, to limit 
spillage beyond the boundaries of the site. It is also noted that this site is not within a 'dark 
skies' designation. Similarly, the site will require advertisements (which would be dealt with 
through S18/2264), which would be new features within the immediate local landscape but 
must be considered in the context of the overall development proposal and with regard to 
existing signage found within the area.

7.4.6 It is considered that the LVIA submitted with the proposal is appropriate for the scheme 
that has been presented and it is also concluded that the outcomes of the assessment are 
reasonable and agreed with. 

7.4.7 Having carefully considered the proposals, it is accepted that the proposed development 
would result in change to the landscape and the immediate character of the area. The 
introduction of development into this location would be at odds with the current visual 
characteristics as the area is generally devoid of development on this side of the strategic 
road network. To that end, the current character of the area is consistent with that 
identified by the Landscape Character Assessment. However, the proposals would be of 
an appropriate overall size and scale and can be accommodated on site in such a way as 
to provide for a quality form of new development. The proposals would include for 
retention of existing boundaries to aid in softening the impact of the development, along 
with the provision of additional landscape mitigation. Therefore whilst the proposals would 
result in change to the immediate landscape and would result in the introduction of 
development on this side of the highway, this change of itself would not be harmful. Whilst 
this roundabout is not currently bounded by development, it is viewed against a backdrop 
of development within Market Deeping. Furthermore, the locational need for the 
development on this site has been demonstrated (as considered earlier in this report) and 
it is not uncommon to find roundabouts adjacent to the strategic road network to be 
abounded by development, particularly development which would service the needs of 
passing trade. Therefore again, whilst there would be a change taking place, it is 

31



considered that this change is reasonable and justified, and the impact of such change 
must be weighed within the overall planning balance of the proposals as set out later in 
this report.

7.4.8 To conclude, the location of the application site on a busy roundabout junction, in close 
proximity to existing settlement and a large industrial estate, along with the proposed 
landscape strategy will assist in the assimilation of this development into the landscape 
without any major impact. The site location, due to the factors above, and in particular the 
presence of the extremely busy A15, lacks the characteristics of remoteness and 
tranquillity which may be present in this particular landscape character area elsewhere. 
The light and traffic pollution associated with this busy road and the roundabout are 
themselves major factors in contributing to the very busy and noisy quality of this location. 

7.4.9 The concerns expressed regarding the potential for 'sprawl' or 'infilling' of the gap between 
Market Deeping and Langtoft are noted, however, planning decisions must be taken on 
their own merits and based upon the application presented. It is considered that the 
applicant has sufficiently justified why the facility is required and why other sites are not as 
suitable for the proposal. It is not possible to predicate a decision based on what may or 
may not happen in the future. In this instance, there are no other current applications 
which in combination with the proposal would result in the type of impacts referred to by 
the concerned third parties. Additionally, the scheme has been carefully designed to 
provide clearly defined boundaries to the remainder of the agricultural field (beyond the 
red-line boundary) which would seek to prevent the site from bleeding or sprawling into the 
remainder of the field. This is as identified by the LVIA.

7.4.10 In conclusion in respect of this issue, it is Officers view that the proposal would result in a 
high quality, and modern facility on this site, which would have an acceptable level of 
impact upon the character and appearance of the area, subject to the conditions as 
recommended. It would therefore comply with both local and national planning policies in 
respect of this issue.

32



7.5 Amenity implications

7.5.1 Policy EN1 of the adopted Core Strategy states that development proposals will be 
assessed in relation to (amongst other criteria) the layout and scale of buildings and 
designed spaces.  Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that developments should create 
places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, 
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and 
disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion 
and resilience.

7.5.2 Concerns have been expressed regarding the impact of the proposals upon the amenities 
of nearby properties (in particular the collective of dwellings known as Tithe Farm Barns 
which are located to the north-west of the application site). Concerns are expressed 
regarding the impact on residential amenity as a result of the introduction of the facility. 
They highlight that although the properties are some distance from the site the intervening 
land is relatively flat and the screening and landscaping proposed will not be effective for a 
number of years leaving a harsh new isolated development, in addition to 24 hour noise 
and disturbance from car doors and vehicle movements.

7.5.3 The properties identified are a collective of dwellings (including conversions) which are 
accessed from the A15 via a private road. There is significant distance between the 
application site and these properties, with this distance being in excess of 400m. To that 
end, whilst there may be some views of the development, and that this may be more 
noticeable at night-time owing to the lighting proposed, it is considered that this would not 
be detrimental to the residential amenity of those properties as a result of the inherent 
separation distances. In addition, whilst the proposals may introduce some additional 
noise into the local environment, as discussed within the LVIA the inherent tranquillity of 
the area is currently disrupted by noise created from highway traffic. There are also other 
existing uses within this part of the rural environment which create noise (such as minerals 
working, and agricultural processes). Therefore, again, in combination with the separation 
distances and the landscape mitigation that is proposed it is considered that concerns 
such as noise would not be sufficient to justify or sustain a refusal on the grounds of 
impact to residential amenity.

7.5.4 To this end, it is considered that the proposals would be acceptable in relation to this 
issue.

7.6 Flood Risk / Drainage

7.6.1 Policy EN2 of the adopted Core Strategy states that development proposals will not 
normally be granted in areas identified in the South Kesteven Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (SFRA). Section 14 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development in 
areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at 
highest risk.

7.6.2 The site does not fall within a designated flood zone, but as a result of the nature of the 
use proposed would have the potential to impact on surface water run-off and 
groundwater. The application is supported by a drainage strategy, which is informed by 
sustainable drainage principles and which identifies that water would be directed towards 

33



existing facilities through the provision of off-site improvements subject to the necessary 
consents of Anglian Water, LCC, the EA and the IDB. 

7.6.3 The proposed development is therefore considered acceptable when assessed against 
policy EN1 of the Core Strategy and section 14 of the NPPF.

7.7 Biodiversity

7.7.1 Policy EN1 of the adopted Core Strategy states that development proposals will be 
assessed in relation to (amongst other criteria) biodiversity and ecology works within the 
landscape.  Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that (amongst other criteria) planning 
decision should contribute to and enhance the natural environment by minimising impacts 
on and providing net gains for biodiversity.

7.7.2 The current site offers only limited ecological habitat and is considered to be of low overall 
value. The site is not designated for ecological habitat. Through the proposals, in 
particular the soft landscape solution and the approach to sustainable drainage solutions, 
there is an opportunity to have a net positive effect on biodiversity. Provided that the 
measures identified within the submission are delivered, with conditions recommended to 
secure this, the proposal is considered to have a positive beneficial effect in this regard.

7.7.3 The proposed development is therefore considered acceptable when assessed against 
policy EN1 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 170 of the NPPF.

7.8 Other technical matters

7.8.1 The site is not located within an area of identified contamination risk, but given the nature 
of the proposals a specialist report has been prepared which considers the likely risk 
posed as a result of the development. It is noted that the Environment Agency are 
satisfied that sufficient information has been presented to demonstrate that the proposed 
fuel storage approach would not result in an unacceptable level of risk. Furthermore, the 
Council’s Environmental Protection officers also raise no issues with the proposal. As 
such, subject to the conditions as recommended, the scheme is considered to be 
acceptable in this regard.

7.8.2 It is noted that the proposals would result in the loss of some agricultural land, this would 
be a relatively small part of the wider agricultural field within which the application site 
would sit. This loss would not prejudice the ability of the wider field to continue to be 
farmed, nor would this loss be likely to prejudice the overall levels of agricultural land 
within the District. To that end, it is not considered that an objection to the scheme on the 
loss of agricultural land would be sustainable.

7.8.3 Lincolnshire Fire & Rescue have considered the proposals with regard to risk of fire, they 
note that a fire hydrant is to be included within the development, and as such raise no 
objections to the proposals.

7.8.4 The site is within an area where there is high potential for archaeological deposits. This 
has been identified by submissions accompanying the application. It is noted that Heritage 
Lincolnshire are in agreement with the findings of the report but they have identified that 

34



further work is likely to be required in the form of trial trenching and further investigation. In 
the event that deposits are located, further work may be required. To that end it is 
proposed that further work and mitigation (as necessary) would be secured through the 
imposition of relevant planning conditions. Subject to the imposition of these conditions, it 
is considered that the impact of the development on archaeological deposits and heritage 
assets would be appropriate and the relevant policy tests, including those within section 
16 of the NPPF would be met. 

7.8.5 The applicants have identified that although the development would not incorporate any 
renewable technologies, the building design and envelope along with considerations 
relating to lighting and heating would result in a building which is of low-energy demand. In 
addition, all lighting proposed would be low-energy in approach and LED where possible. 

7.8.6 It is noted that in earlier iterations of amendments to the scheme, there was an intention to 
include EV Charging points. However, these have been removed from the scheme. The 
applicants have advised that at present, there is insufficient electricity infrastructure to 
support these and at present such charging does take considerable time which does not fit 
with the quick-stop nature of this development. However, the end operators do own 
Chargemaster and there is therefore a commitment to install such facilities in future as 
technology changes and infrastructure allows. They therefore identify that whilst not 
included in the scheme, there is space within the development site for these to be 
accommodated in future. Further, the scheme does include for the provision of sustainable 
drainage features as part of a holistic SUDS design, along with soft-landscaping which 
would have the potential to enhance the biodiversity of the site and which would contribute 
to its general sustainability in environmental terms.

8 Crime and Disorder

8.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 
implications.

9 Human Rights Implications

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this 
recommendation.

9.2 It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

10 Planning Balance & Conclusion

10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning 
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The weight applied to policy requirements and 
material considerations is a matter for the decision-maker. This evaluation is effectively 
termed the 'planning balance'.

35



10.2 Although the proposal would be located within an area identified as being within the 
countryside, it is considered the need for and location of the development have been 
appropriately justified. Furthermore, the proposal would be likely to result in positive 
economic benefits for the local economy, including the provision of additional jobs. The 
scheme would therefore deliver a new facility cater for market demand, and provide a 
commercial viable solution which would serve the needs of passing motorists, and the 
wider rural economy within this part of the District. Significant weight is applied to the 
potential benefits to the local economy through job creation and local spend. The 
proposals would therefore accord with the aims of policies SP1 and E1 of the Core 
Strategy. Further, the scheme would support sustainable economic growth and would 
complement the objectives identified in the NPPF in terms of supporting a competitive 
economy, particularly in rural areas. 

10.3 The proposals would result in change to the character and appearance of the area, 
however, it is concluded that such change would not result in any unacceptable or harmful 
impact upon the character and appearance of the landscape. The solution is considered to 
be of an appropriate size, scale, design and would include appropriate landscape 
mitigation.

10.4 In respect of highway matters, the scheme has been thoroughly assessed and it has been 
concluded that subject to the necessary access works, the scheme would be safe in 
highway terms and there is no objection to the proposals from a technical highway 
perspective.

10.5 There would be no significant amenity impacts resulting from the proposal. Similarly, the 
proposal would be acceptable in all other respects, including in relation to all relevant 
technical matters such as archaeology, and drainage, this is subject to the imposition of 
the recommended planning conditions.

10.6 The development is considered to be in accordance with the development plan (when 
taken as a whole) and it is not considered, having carried out the planning balancing 
exercise, that there are any material considerations which indicate otherwise than a grant 
of planning permission.  The inclusion of suitable planning conditions, would ensure that 
the development is acceptable in planning terms.

RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following 
conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out 
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

36



2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following list of approved plans and documents:

Proposed layout 180335-03 Rev H
Proposed Elevations  (100 scale)  180335-04   Rev B
Proposed Elevations  (200 scale)  180335-05   Rev B
Proposed Shop elevations 180335-06 Rev A
Marketing Layout (Floor Plan) 19OT5(RH)-ETF-000-100
Drainage Strategy PRMD-BSP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-C-191 Rev P4
Landscaping Plan - 577-64_PL_LD9 Rev B
S278 General Arrangement Plan - PRMD-BSP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-C-100 Rev P6

Biodiversity Management Plan
Lighting Specification dated 2/4/19
Phase I & II Geo-Environmental Assessment 
Fuel Storage Feasibility Assessment (ref: UK18.4027) by EPS, dated 25 January 
2019.

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
     
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Before the Development is Commenced

3 No development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a detailed scheme for 
the access and highway works to include the provision of a ghost island right-turn 
lane and pedestrian access on the A15 Peterborough Road (as shown indicatively 
on drawing numbered PRM-BSP-ZZ-ZZ-DC-C-100 P6), have been submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Thereafter all required works shall be completed in accordance with the agreed 
details prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted.

Reason: To ensure the provision of safe and adequate means of access, in 
accordance with policy EN1 of the Core Strategy. 

Note to applicant:
The highway works required by the Condition above will be subject to a legal 
agreement, under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980, between the developer 
and the Local Highway Authority - Lincolnshire County Council.

4 No development shall commence until a scheme to install the underground tanks 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The 
scheme shall include the full structural details of the installation, including details of: 
excavation, the tanks, tank surround, associated pipework and monitoring system. 

Thereafter, the installation of the underground tanks shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the agreed scheme, and all works shall be completed prior to the 
first use of the development. Following completion of the works tanks shall be 

37



maintained thereafter in accordance with industry best practice for the lifetime of the 
development.

Reasons: To ensure that the underground storage tanks do not harm the water 
environment in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Position Statement D2 of the Environment Agency's approach to groundwater 
protection, and policy EN1 of the Core Strategy.

5 No development shall be commenced until a detailed scheme of archaeological 
investigation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include for trial trenching works as informed by the 
Heritage Statement dated May 2018. 

Thereafter the archaeological investigations shall be undertaken in accordance with 
the agreed scheme.

No further work or commencement of development shall take place until a report 
setting out the findings of the archaeological investigations, and proposals for any 
further investigation or recording work (if necessary) has been submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site 
and in accordance with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy 
(July 2010) and the NPPF.

During Building Works

6 Following the completion of the archaeological investigations undertaken as part of 
the works to comply with condition 3, further mitigation may be required in the form 
of archaeological monitoring and recording during groundworks associated with the 
development. 

The archaeological programme of work shall be carried out in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. Works shall then only continue and be undertaken in 
accordance with the agreed scheme of archaeological monitoring and recording.

Following completion of any additional archaeological investigations a report setting 
out the findings of the archaeological investigations, monitoring or recording works 
shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site 
and in accordance with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy 
(July 2010) and the NPPF.

38



Before the Development is Occupied

7 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is brought into use all: 
- External surfaces of the building and structures, 
- Hard and soft landscaping elements and features,
- Lighting, 
- Biodiversity enhancement measures (as specified in the Biodiversity Management
  Plan)
- Drainage works
- Fire Hydrants
- Vehicular access, roadways, manoeuvring areas, parking areas and pedestrian

access / circulation routes shall have been completed in accordance with the 
approved plans and details.

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 
with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010) and the 
interests of sustainable development as required by the NPPF.

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:

1 In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is 
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

2 The applicant is advised to include provision within their construction management 
plan for the utilisation on-site of any minerals encountered during construction of the 
proposed development.

3 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted you are advised to 
contact the Divisional Highways manager, Lincolnshire County Council (telephone 
number: 01522 513100) to discuss the proposed works within highway limits.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

39



40



41



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee
26 June 2019

        

S18/2264
Proposal: Various illuminated and non-illuminated signage
Location: Land Adjacent To The A15/A1175 Roundabout, Peterborough Road, 

Market Deeping   
Applicant: BP Oil UK Ltd,  c/o Robert Doughty Consultancy Ltd,   
Agent: Mr Robert Doughty, Robert Doughty Consultancy Limited, 32 High 

Street, Helpringham, Sleaford, NG34 0RA
Application type: Advertisement Consent
Reason for referral to 
Committee

This application is reliant on S18/2263 which has been called to 
committee by Cllr Ashley Baxter, and therefore this application is duly 
reported

Key issues: Impact on amenity
Impact on public safety

Technical Documents: None

Report Author

Sam Dewar, Principal Planning Officer

01476 406093

sam.dewar@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Regulatory Market and West Deeping

Reviewed by: Sylvia Bland, Head of Development Management 11 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Recommended decision: That the application is approved conditionally

43

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


44



1 Description of site

1.1 The application site is to the north west of the A15/A1175 roundabout located to the north 
of Market Deeping.

1.2 The site is part of a larger agricultural field, which is bounded by existing vegetation on its 
southern and eastern sides. The southern and eastern boundaries follow the edge of the 
A1175 and A15 respectively with additional verge area between the site boundary and the 
road. The site is level, and set at a lower level to the road, with those adjacent roads being 
raised on embankments. The two roads are lit in the vicinity of the roundabout and the 
development site. The site is visible from the public highway and a footpath.  

1.3 The site is separated from the main part of Market Deeping (to the south) by the 
A15/A1175.

2 Description of proposal

2.1 The proposal is for various signage associated with the development that is subject to 
application S18/2263 which is for a proposed roadside services, comprising a Petrol Filling 
Station (PFS) with ancillary retail element.

2.2 The signage proposed includes various illuminated and non-illuminated signage as 
follows:

2 x free-standing ID signs - 2.29m wide x 7m high - to be internally illuminated
Canopy signage - illuminated signage on all sides of the canopy over the fuel pumps, 
along with signage over fuel pumps
Building signage - including illuminated branding, illuminated lettering, and non-illuminated 
poster boards.

2.3 All of the signage would be reflective of the operators of the facility, including BP, M&S 
and Wild Bean Cafe, and would display products or services available at the premises.

3 Relevant History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
S18/2263 Erection of roadside services to 

include a petrol filling station with 
ancillary retail floor space.

Pending 
Decision 

4 Policy Considerations

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

45



5 Representations Received

5.1 LCC Highways & SuDS Support
5.1.1 Raise no objections and have no observations to make.

6 Representations as a Result of Publicity
6.1

This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 
Community Involvement. It is noted that 5 letters of representation were received, 
however, these relate predominantly to the physical development of the petrol filling 
station (subject of application S18/2263) not specifically the advertisements. Therefore 
these representations have been transferred to S18/2263 and the matters raised 
considered within the context of that application.

7 Evaluation

7.1 Advertisements are subject to a separate consenting process within the Town & Country 
Planning system. This is in accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisement) Regulations 2007, and this is implemented alongside the details contained 
within the NPPF and the national Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), taking into account 
the provisions of the development plan, in so far as they are material, and any other 
relevant factors.

7.2 Para 132 of the NPPF states that a separate consent process within the planning system 
controls the display of advertisements, which should be operated in a way which is simple, 
efficient and effective. Advertisements should be subject to control only in the interests of 
amenity and public safety, taking account of cumulative impacts.

7.3 Advertisements are controlled with reference to their effect on amenity and public safety 
only. The primary considerations are therefore amenity impacts and the impact on public 
safety. Clarification on both of these terms is given within the NPPG, with "amenity" being 
usually understood to mean the effect on visual and aural amenity in the immediate 
neighbourhood of an advertisement or site for the display of advertisements, where 
residents or passers-by will be aware of the advertisement. 

7.4 Any consent granted for advertisements are subject to a series of 5 standard conditions as 
required by the aforementioned regulations, although the Local Planning Authority may 
impose additional conditions, subject to the requisite 'tests' which are to be considered in 
the same way as conditions to be attached to the grant of planning permission.

7.5 Impact on amenity

7.5.1 The proposal is for various signage associated with the use of the site as a petrol filling 
station with ancillary retail offer. The signage is considered to be appropriate in terms of 
the amount of signage that is proposed and the design of the signs (including the nature 
and levels of illumination) proposed. The signage would sit comfortably as part of the 
overall design ethos for the site.

46



7.5.2 The majority of the signage would have limited visibility from outside of the site, with only 
glimpsed views likely owing to the positioning of the building, the relative levels between 
the site and the adjacent roads, and the presence of boundary vegetation. The building 
signage would also be set back some way from the primary road frontages.

7.5.3 The exception to this are the 2 ID (totem) signs, which would measure 7m in height. These 
would be new features within the landscape, which would make the site readily identifiable 
in longer distance views. These signs have been reduced in height from the 9m proposed 
within the original submissions. This reduction is considered to be significant. Whilst these 
new signs would be of significant scale and would be new additions to the landscape, it is 
considered that a balance must be struck between the current visual characteristics of the 
area and the need to promote the operation and offer at the site and make it readily 
identifiable. This is particular important for this proposal which is based around a 'passing 
trade' model. To this end, it is considered that the proposed ID signs would be of an 
acceptable scale, and would have an acceptable level of visual impact. 

7.5.4 The proposed signs are considered to respect the purpose of the site as a modern petrol 
filling station, are simple and effective and do not adversely impact on the character of the 
area.  The signage is acceptable and would be visually acceptable in relation to the 
character of the area.

7.6 Impact on the public safety

7.6.1 It is not considered the proposal would have any undue harm on public safety and the 
Highway Authority have not objected. 

8 Crime and Disorder

8.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 
implications

9 Human Rights Implications

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this 
recommendation.  It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

10 Conclusion

10.1 The proposal would be acceptable in terms of visual amenity and public safety.  The 
proposal therefore complies with the above policies and guidance.

RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following 
conditions and standard advertisement condition.

47



Approved Plans

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following list of approved plans:

Proposed Advertisement Layout 10335-ADV1 rev d
Proposed Elevations (100 scale) 10335-ADV 2 rev e
Proposed Elevations (200 scale) 10335-ADV 3 rev d

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
     
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

48



49



50



Planning Committee
26 June 2019

        

S17/1315
Proposal: Erection of cottage and garage and demolition of existing farm 

buildings and erection of house with integral garage 
(Revised plans, additional information; re-advertised application)

Location: The Priory Farmyard, 14 Station Road, Castle Bytham, Lincolnshire, 
NG33 4RZ

Applicant: Mr Nicholas Perry, 8 Corby Road, Swayfield, Lincolnshire, NG33 4LQ
Agent: Michael Thompson, Richardson, Sheep Market House, Stamford, 

PE9 2RB
Application type: Full Planning Permission
Reason for referral to 
Committee:

At the request of the former Ward Member for the following reasons: 
planning History for the site, sensitivities in relation to the impact of 
the development upon heritage assets and the character and 
appearance of the area

Key Issues: Planning history
Principle of development
Impact on heritage assets
Impact on the character of the area
Impact on the amenities of neighbouring uses
Highway matters

Technical Documents: Phase 1 Habitat Appraisal
Heritage Impact Assessment
Design & Access Statement
Tree Survey

Report Author

Sam Dewar, Principal Planning Officer 

01476 406093

sam.dewar@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Regulatory Glen

Reviewed by: Sylvia Bland, Head of Development Management 12 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Recommended decision - That the application is approved conditionally

51

Agenda Item 5b

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


52



1 Description of site

1.1 Priory Farmyard lies towards the southern end of Castle Bytham, and is accessed from 
Station Road. The site rises steeply from Station Road, to a plateau upon which there are 
various agricultural buildings which are used for storage. The surrounding land is 
overgrown, and also includes the remains of other structures which have since been 
demolished. There are a number of trees of amenity value within the site. There is also an 
upper paddock area.

1.2 To the south of the site, there is significant vegetation and trees which form a wooded 
boundary. The context to the north, west and east of the site is set by established 
development, including the Grade I church and Grade II* Priory. There are established 
boundaries on all sides.

2 Description of proposal

2.1 The proposal seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the existing buildings on 
site and the erection of 2 dwellings.

2.2 The larger dwelling, referred to in the application as the house, would be a U-shaped 
dwelling with integral garaging to be located around an internal courtyard. The dwelling 
would comprise all main living areas at ground floor level, along with guest and utility 
accommodation, with 4 bedrooms being located at first floor level. The materials are 
shown to be locally sourced limestone for the walls, with pantiles used for the roof. This 
dwelling would be 7.95m to ridge, with maximum dimensions of 26.8m x 22.7m. The 
dwelling would be predominantly single storey, but with a modest two-storey element.

2.3 It should be noted that the positioning, and alignment of this dwelling has been amended 
through the application process, to pivot the dwelling further away from the common rear 
boundary which is shared with the church.

2.4 This dwelling would be served via the existing access to the former farmyard.

2.5 The bungalow has been amended during the application process, with its scale having 
been reduced. It is now shown as a single storey building of an L-shaped footprint and 
comprising 2 bedrooms. It would measure 9.5m x 8.6m x 4.6m to ridge, and be 
constructed of red brick, under a slate roof, with stone cill detailing, PVCu windows and 
powder-coated aluminium doors. This dwelling would be accessed via an extension of the 
existing private driveway which serves 42a Station Road.

2.6 The submitted plans also indicate some modest landscape works within the site, including 
the provision of additional planting.

2.7 The application is supported by a number of specialist reports, including ecology, trees, 
and heritage impact assessment.

53



3 Relevant History

Reference Proposal Decision Date

SK.1240/90
(6115)

Erect agricultural dwelling Dismissed at 
appeal

20/01/1990

4 Policy Considerations

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 2 - Achieving sustainable development
Section 4 - Decision-making
Section 5 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places
Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

4.2 South Kesteven District Council Core Strategy
Policy SP2 - Sustainable Communities
Policy EN1 - Protection and Enhancement

4.3 Site Allocation and Policies Development Plan Document
Policy SAPH1 - Other housing development
Policy SD1 - Sustainable development

5 Representations Received

5.1 Parish Council
5.1.1 Castle Bytham Parish Council have objected to the proposals for the following reasons:

1. The proposed dwelling would be in close proximity of St. James' Church (Circa 1151, 
Grade1 listed), The Priory (Circa 1472, Grade ll* listed) and its barns - both Grade ll 
listed buildings and Heritage assets in the Conservation Area; The Priory is the 
oldest occupied dwelling in the village.

2. The proposed dwelling has a very large footprint, larger than that of the adjacent 
Church. Because of the rising land the height of the two-story ridge is a concern it 
being higher than the Church ridge, and would dominate the substantially lower ridge 
of The Priory which sits on lower land. The removal of Leylandii trees currently 
impacting on the drive into The Priory would increase the dominance factor.

3. There are wildlife concerns because of the nesting owl and bat population.
4. The water supply to the Church and the Old School House which currently runs 

across the Priory Farmyard would have to be re-routed.
5. As the Priory Farmyard was previously part of the curtilage and owned by previous 

occupants of The Priory it is possible that there may be archaeological remains on 
site. 

5.1.2 The Parish Council advised their wish for the application to determine by the Planning 
Committee, and for the positioning of the larger dwelling to be amended. The Parish 

54



Council also provided various references to the NPPF and key terms within their response 
to the application, along with reference to the previous Appeal decision on the site.

5.2 LCC Highways & SuDS Support
5.2.1 Raise no objections. Identify that any access works may need approval from the highway 

authority and request standard informative.

5.3 Historic Buildings Advisor (SKDC)
5.3.1 Raises no objections to the proposal. Detailed comments are provided in respect of the 

impact of the scheme, these are included in the evaluation section.

5.4 Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust
5.4.1 Raise no objections. They identify they support the recommendations of the ecology 

report. They advise that tress and hedgerows should be retained where possible and that 
the barn-owl box will need to be relocated or appropriate mitigation presented. This should 
be undertaken by a competent person in accordance with legislation. They support the 
new planting proposals and advise that the development is a good opportunity to install 
bat/bird boxes, they also encourage the use of a wildflower meadow within any landscape 
scheme.

5.5 Environmental Protection Services (SKDC)
5.5.1 Raise no objections, request a standard condition relating to any contamination found 

during construction.

5.6 Heritage Lincolnshire
5.6.1 Raises no objections. It is considered that the site offers a potential for archaeological 

remains to be encountered during development. Therefore, it is recommended that the 
developer should be required to commission a Scheme of Archaeological Works, 
according to a written scheme of investigation to be agreed with, submitted to and 
approved by the local authority.

5.7 Natural England
5.7.1 Have advised they have no comments to make.

5.8 Arboricultural Consultant (SKDC)
5.8.1 Raises no objections, but requests conditions relating to a methodology to protect trees to 

be retained which should include a tree protection and constraints plan in conformity with 
the relevant standards.

5.9 Historic England
5.9.1 Raise no objections and defer to the Council’s specialist conservation advisers.

6 Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 
Community Involvement and 9 letters of representation have been received.  The points 
raised can be summarised as follows:

55



1. Impact of bungalow on 18 Station Road - revised positioning suggested
2. Width of lane serving the proposed bungalow - impossible for 2 vehicles to pass; 

may require vehicle entering lane to reverse onto Station Road, creating road safety 
issue

3. Accessing and exiting the lane via Station Road can be dangerous due to:  
restrictions created by telegraph pole at entrance; poor visibility to right when exiting, 
created by said pole and curvature of the railway bridge - definite possibility of 
collision with vehicle travelling into village or lane;  vehicles parking on brow of hill 
restrict view from left;  large refuse vehicle replaced by small truck due to narrow 
entrance to lane and damage it caused to edge, plus possibility that railway siding 
may collapse - steep drop from lane with only hedge to prevent vehicles falling down 
steep embankment.

4. Impact on quality of life - loss of privacy, dependent on the number of 
vehicles/persons in occupancy. Rural setting where there is an expected degree of 
privacy.  Accept lack of facilities and services in an effort to enjoy the wildlife and 
quiet outlook. Concerns regarding crime.

5. Traffic along Station Road will be significantly increased by the development of the 
old quarry; will impact on the volume of traffic directly past the access to proposed 
site. 

6. Range of wildlife which will be affected by this development.  
7. Effect of position of proposed house upon listed buildings in close proximity and the 

Conservation Area
8. This is a large plot, the dwellings could be located elsewhere such as adjacent to the 

old railway cutting, or the dwellings pushed back and re-orientated
9. Previous Appeal decision - findings remain relevant
10. Impact on the Priory - as a heritage asset, but also upon the amenities of this 

property owing to the difference in levels. Leylandii that exist currently affect the 
Priory.

11. Overlooking of neighbouring properties - including the Priory, 16 & 18 Station Road, 
and the Old School.

12. New planting would impact on neighbouring properties
13. Why does the dwelling have to be so close to the common boundary with the Old 

School?
14. Impact on water supply crossing site

7 Evaluation

7.1 Planning History

7.1.1 Reference has been made by various interested parties to the previous Appeal pertaining 
to this site, which was made against application SK.1240/90. The reason for refusal 
identified the effect on the Priory and the Conservation Area as the key basis for refusal. It 
is noted that the appeal refers to the dwelling at various points as a "conventional two 
storey dwelling". This appeal was dismissed, and the following points are noted from the 
Inspectors report:

 The main issue was the effect on the character of the Conservation Area and the 
setting of the Priory which was identified as a listed building.

56



 The Inspector acknowledged the variance in property styles, ages and relationships 
with roads at the edge of the village. He also recognised the contribution of the Church 
and Priory to the Conservation Area. He also considered the immediate context around 
the site which includes agricultural land, the railway line and modern detached 
properties.

 He noted the front part of the site rises to a plateau, and that this part of the site makes 
a contribution to the setting of the Priory and the area. He considered it was important 
to retain the un-developed nature of the rising land.

 The relationship between the Priory and the appeal site was noted and that the Priory 
has several rear facing windows which look laterally towards the site and towards the 
nearest farm buildings. He concluded that a conventional two-storey house would have 
had a detrimental impact upon the amenities of the Priory as a result of dominance. 

 However, the inspector advised that 'a carefully sited, modestly proportioned dwelling 
built of appropriate materials could probably be built so that the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area and the setting of the listed building could be 
preserved.' However, the inspector notes the other constraints of the site, including the 
relationship with the Priory and other properties and other material issues.

 The Inspector concluded that the proposal was acceptable in policy terms for a 
dwelling (and there was no need to demonstrate an agricultural requirement) but 
dismissed the appeal.

7.1.2 Based on an analysis of the above appeal decision, whilst the Inspector concluded that 
the appeal scheme was unacceptable, he clearly did not rule out all development on that 
land. In particular identifying that there could be some potential for development subject to 
it addressing all constraints. It is accepted that there are some similarities between the 
issues raised by that appeal scheme and issues which are relevant to this application.

7.1.3 That said, notwithstanding the decision above being a material consideration, Officers 
consider that it should only be afforded limited weight. This is based upon a combination 
of: the age of the decision and changes in both local and national planning policy over the 
period between the applications; that the Appeal site was smaller than the current 
application site area; that the Appeal scheme was materially different to the development 
that is now proposed including in the positioning, design and scale of the dwelling. 

7.1.4 Given that development proposals should be assessed on their own merits, it is not 
unreasonable to reassess this proposal on its own merits, set against the requirements of 
the development plan and with due regard to all relevant material considerations.

7.2 Principle of Development

7.2.1 The site is located within Castle Bytham which is identified as a Local Service Centre in 
Policy SP1 and SP2 of the adopted Core Strategy where development will be allowed in 
accordance with the Spatial Strategy, with preference given to brownfield sites within the 
built-up part of the settlements, which do not compromise the nature and character of the 
village.  

7.2.2 Policy SAP H1 of the adopted Site Allocations and Policy DPD states that new housing 
development will be provided in Local Service Centres through the development of 

57



suitable brownfield redevelopment sites and small infill sites within the built up parts of 
these settlements. SAP H1 does not preclude the development of greenfield sites as part 
of the infill approach, subject to the criteria within that policy having been met.

7.2.3 The site was previously used as a farmyard, and the glossary within the NPPF identifies 
that such sites are excluded from the definition of previously-developed land. For this 
reason, it is considered to be greenfield land. 

7.2.4 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning 
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is a material consideration. It is also 
noted that the NPPF seeks to promote and boost the supply of housing, whilst also 
ensuring matters such as design-quality and the conservation of heritage assets takes 
place. To this end, as with the policies of the development plan, there can be competing 
objectives, and it is necessary for the decision-maker to carefully consider and way up all 
relevant objections.

7.2.5 The starting point for determination is the development plan. Core Strategy Policy SP1 
and SP2, whilst giving preference to brownfield/previously-developed land do not preclude 
the delivery of greenfield sites in Local Service Centres. In assessing the principle of 
development, the key question is whether or not the site constitutes an infill site within the 
built up part of the settlement for the purposes of Policy SAP H1. Based on a significant 
body of appeal decisions, it is considered that the site can reasonably be described as an 
infill site. This is subject to the development being found to be acceptable with respect to 
all other relevant policies of the development plan, and the detailed considerations of the 
criteria within Policy SAP H1. These are considered later in this report.

7.2.6 Further to this, given the relationship with existing dwellings, and the proximity to and 
accessibility of the village centre from the application site, the proposed dwellings would 
be within a sustainable location on the edge of the village. The dwellings would not be 
classed as ‘isolated’ in terms of the NPPF, and thus, it is considered that there would be 
no sustainable objection to the broad principle of 2 additional dwellings on this site. This is 
of course subject to the development being found to be acceptable in all other respects. 

7.2.7 Given the presence of existing agricultural buildings on the site, there is potential that 
these could be brought forward for development under the Class Q regime which allows 
conversion of agricultural buildings to dwellings under permitted development. However, 
as no Class Q approval exists on this site, only minimal weight is afforded to this as an 
indication of the Governments intentions of national policy to boost the delivery of homes, 
particularly in rural areas.

7.2.8 Given all of the above, when considering the policies of the development plan and other 
material considerations, in terms of principle, the application site could be considered a 
small infill site within the existing built up area of Castle Bytham and therefore is a suitable 
location for residential purposes in compliance with the development plan policy set out in 
Policies SP1 and H1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy and Policy SAP H1 of 
the adopted Site Allocations and Policy DPD and in line with the aims of the NPPF.

7.3 Impact on heritage assets and character of the area

58



7.3.1 The site is within the conservation area and adjacent to two listed buildings - Grade I listed 
Church of St.James's and the II* listed Priory.

7.3.2 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the 'Act')
requires the Local Planning Authority to pay special regard to the desirability of preserving 
listed buildings and their setting. In this context, the objective of preservation is to cause 
no harm, and is a matter of paramount concern in the planning process. Further, the Local 
Planning Authority has a general duty to give special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of Conservation areas as set out in 
S72 of the 'Act'. 

7.3.3 The objectives of Core Strategy Policy EN1 states that development must be appropriate 
to the character and significant natural, historic and cultural attributes and features of the 
landscape within which it is situation, and contribute to its conservation, enhancement or 
restoration. Policy SAP H1(iii) requires development not to compromise the nature and 
character of the settlement and (iv) requires accordance with Core Strategy Policy EN1. 
Similarly, the submission draft Local Plan Policy EN6 seeks to protect and enhance 
heritage assets within the District.

7.3.4 These policy objectives are further supplemented by objectives contained in Sections 12 
(Achieving well-designed places) and 16 (Conserving the Historic Environment) of the 
NPPF. In particular, the following paragraphs are noted:

 Paragraph 127 states that planning policies and considerations should ensure 
developments are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding 
built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change.

 Paragraph 192 states that Local Planning Authorities should take account of the 
desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and put 
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation and making a positive 
contribution to local character and distinctiveness.

 Paragraph 193 states when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be).

 Paragraph 194 identifies that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification.

7.3.5 In addition, and as a summary of Section 16, this identifies that the approach for the local 
planning authority should be to identify the relevant asset(s) and their significance; to 
consider the effect of the development on the significance of the asset(s) and whether 
there would be harm; to consider the extent/scale of any harm that would occur; and to 
evaluate whether that harm is justified or outweighed by other considerations including 
public benefits as may be relevant.

7.3.6 It is also noted that the NPPF provides within the glossary a definition of key terms such 
as 'significance' and 'setting' when referring to heritage assets.

59



7.3.7 It is considered that the relevant heritage assets which require further analysis in respect 
of this application are:
 The Grade I Listed Church of St.James's; 
 The Grade II* listed Priory; and 
 The Castle Bytham Conservation Area

7.3.8 In considering the significance of these assets, due regard is given to their settings. 
Setting is identified as being: "The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. 
Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements 
of a setting may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, 
may affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral."

7.3.9 It is considered that the application site forms part of the setting of the Church and the 
Priory. These are significant heritage assets as a result of their particular interest which is 
evidenced by their respective listings and grading. These buildings also make a significant 
contribution towards the collective merit of the wider Conservation Area designation.

7.3.10 With regard to the relationship with and setting of the Church, there is clearly a 
relationship between the two both in visual terms and experience. It is noted that when 
viewing the site from the rear churchyard, there is a clearly defined boundary, as a result 
of changing levels and the existing vegetation which affords generous screening. 
Notwithstanding this, there are glimpsed views of the farm buildings which are presently 
within the application site. The extent of visibility of the buildings changes as a result of 
seasonal changes in the aforementioned vegetation. But it is clear that there is a visual 
and experiential link between the two sites. In views from the application back towards the 
church, the church is screened to a large extent by the dominant presence of the existing 
agricultural buildings. The church is set lower than the site, and this in combination with 
the aforementioned screening results in only minor views of the church tower and wind-
vane. The views and experiences from within the site are private, and therefore 
considered to be less significant. 

7.3.11 Turning to the relationship between the site and the Priory, the application site has a close 
relationship with the Priory as previously identified by the Inspector. There are also private 
views from the Priory towards the application site from within the building and its 
associated curtilage as identified by third parties. However, given the presence of existing 
vegetation both within the Priory curtilage and within the application site, it is likely that 
these views are interrupted. Given the scale and position of existing leylandii within the 
application site, they appear dominant over the Priory. Equally, the Priory is visible in 
views from the application site, but again these are principally of the roof form of the Priory 
and its upper-level, and these views are interrupted by the existing vegetation. Again, the 
views and experiences from within the site are private, and therefore considered to be less 
significant. The proposed scheme has sought to respond to the Inspectors comments in 
relation to the relationship with the Priory, and has seen the two-storey element of the 
scheme reduced and the overall approach to development fundamentally altered, thus the 
relationship with the Priory and the proposed development would be different to that 
previously evaluated by the Inspector.

60



7.3.12 The site lies at the edge of the Conservation Area but with the majority of the site falling 
within the identified Conservation Area boundary. The relationship between the site and 
surrounding buildings, and its contribution to the Conservation Area were set out in the 
previous Inspectors decision. Although the site is not specifically mentioned within the 
Conservation Area Appraisal, the appraisal makes reference to the character of Station 
Road: "…an open character due to the low density of development, particularly on the east 
side which allows uninterrupted views across to the surrounding countryside. The Priory 
and associated outbuildings are elevated above the footway on the west side and 
enclosed by a stone boundary wall which is an important enclosing feature along the 
street." That said, although the site is not specifically mentioned, this does not imply that 
the site is of no interest of makes no contribution. The site is visible from Station Road, 
and the un-developed rising land is quite distinct in the street scene, there are however 
glimpsed views of the existing farm buildings and the access gates by virtue of the view up 
the existing driveway which serves the site and the Priory. Despite being glimpsed views, 
it is possible to gain a good appreciation of the scale of the agricultural buildings. From 
within the site, as a result of the views being from higher level, there are more prominent 
views out towards buildings within and outside of the Conservation Area. These views are 
of the roofs of nearby properties, are private views, and in some cases are obscured or 
restricted by the presence of boundary features and vegetation.

7.3.13 In reaching its decision, the Council must consider the scheme in detail, and seek to fully 
evaluate the proposals and any potential harm upon the identified assets and their 
significance.

7.3.14 It is important to note that the application has been reviewed by both Historic England and 
the Council's Conservation Officer. It is noted that Historic England raise no objections and 
have deferred the provision of detailed comments to the Councils Conservation Officer. 

7.3.15 The Council's Conservation Officer has provided detailed comments which identify:

 The location of the site within the Castle Bytham Conservation Area, in close proximity 
to the neighbouring Grade 1 Listed Church of St.James's and the II* listed Priory.

 The site is a former farmyard and there are modern portal frame agricultural buildings 
adjacent to the western and northern boundaries, nearest the Listed Buildings.

 The house would be built to a pseudo-traditional barn design that would give the 
appearance of a group of converted barns.  Materials would be natural stone with brick 
dressings, clay tiles for the roof and timber windows and doors.

 The proposed house would preserve and to an extent enhance the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.   The setting of the neighbouring Listed 
Buildings of exceptional interest and more than special interest will not be harmed, 
indeed they will be enhanced as a result of the removal of the existing agricultural 
buildings.

 The bungalow would be small and of a non-descript design, constructed of red brick to 
match the local authority built houses on the Station Road frontage, that will have a 
neutral impact on the surroundings.

 The proposals are in accordance with national and local policies on Conserving and 
enhancing the historic environment contained in Section 16 of the NPPF (February 
2019) and Policy EN1 of the South Kesteven Core Strategy.

61



 Conditions are recommended in respect of: Samples of materials to be submitted for 
approval, external Joinery details, removal of p.d. rights for extensions to the house 
only, removal of p.d. rights for replacement of the timber windows and doors.

7.3.16 The larger dwelling as identified on the submitted plans would be located in the area which 
is currently developed as a result of the existing farm buildings. The proposed building 
would not exceed the scale and height of these buildings. This area has therefore been 
subjected to historic levels of change, and those buildings do currently impact upon the 
identified heritage assets; for example, as a result of views from the churchyard. To 
facilitate the dwelling, demolition of these existing buildings would occur. Further, the 
dwelling would be set further away from the common boundaries with the church and the 
Priory than the current buildings. It is also considered that by adopting the proposed 
location, and a relatively low-profile approach in terms of height, the new dwelling would 
have only relatively minimal impact on views from within the Conservation Area.   To that 
end, in determining this proposal, the key test is whether or not the proposal would have 
any greater impact, or harm, when compared to the impact caused by the existing 
buildings. Having carefully considered this, and in light of the nature, scale and 
characteristics of the development proposed for this plot, Officers believe that the proposal 
would have at worst a neutral level of impact, but could arguably have a positive beneficial 
impact on the significance of the identified assets and their settings. This view is 
supported by the specialist comments of the Council's Conservation Officer.

7.3.17 The proposed bungalow would be located at the southern-eastern edge of the application 
site, to the rear of properties fronting Station Road. This building would be located at a 
higher part of the site owing to the general topography of the area. However, the scale of 
the dwelling in combination with the separation distances to the church and the priory and 
the inherent screening afforded by the presence of existing buildings, would allow the 
dwelling to be successfully integrated without any adverse impact or harm upon the 
identified heritage assets. Again, this view is supported by the Council's Conservation 
Officer.

7.3.18 It is also identified that the conditions as recommended would further aid in ensuring 
design quality for the development, and would reinforce the position that the dwellings 
proposed would be of an appropriate design quality which would integrate into the context 
of the site and which would preserve, or enhance the significance of the identified assets.

  
7.3.19 Given the sensitivity and historic significance of the area, the Council's Archaeology 

advisors have identified that there is potential for features of archaeological or heritage 
significance to be uncovered or impacted upon as a result of the development. They have 
advised that development in the area could disturb previously unknown archaeological 
finds and features which could further our knowledge of the development of this 
settlement. As such, they recommend that the developer should undertake a Scheme of 
Archaeological Works which would be secured by way of condition. This condition would 
be required to make the development acceptable in planning terms, and would enable the 
opportunity for investigations as part of the development process, and would allow 
opportunity for any features of interest to be fully examined and recorded. The advice to 
the Council is that this condition would make the development acceptable in relation to the 
requirements of Section 16 of the NPPF as they relate to features of archaeological 

62



interest. In view of this recommended condition, it is considered that the proposals would 
be acceptable in respect of features of archaeological interest.

7.3.20 To that end, it is the view of Officers that the proposed dwellings would not have any 
harmful impact upon the significance of the identified heritage assets (namely the listed 
Church and Priory, and the Conservation Area) or their associated settings. The scheme 
would, subject to the conditions as recommended include further mitigation measures 
which would ensure design quality. As such, the development would meet the test of 
preservation as identified in sections 66 and 72 of the T&CP Listed Buildings & 
Conservation Areas Act 1990, be in accordance with policy EN1 of the Core Strategy. In 
terms of the NPPF, it is considered that the development would not result in any harmful 
impact, and as such would be compliant with the requirements of Section 16 of the NPPF.

7.3.21 In addition to, and notwithstanding the consideration of the impact on the identified 
heritage assets identified above, Officers consider that both dwellings would integrate with 
and compliment the established spatial and visual character and appearance of the area, 
and as such comply with the requirement of the criteria (iii) and (iv) of Policy SAP H1, as 
well as being compliant with Policy EN1, and being in accordance with the objective of 
Section 12 of the NPPF. 

7.4 Impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties

7.4.1 Policy EN1 of the adopted Core Strategy states that development proposals will be 
assessed in relation to (amongst other criteria) the layout and scale of buildings and 
designed spaces.  Policy SAP H1(ii) requires development not to have a detrimental 
impact upon the quality of life of adjacent residents and properties. Paragraph 127 of the 
NPPF states that developments should create places that are safe, inclusive and 
accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for 
existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.

7.4.2 The larger of the proposed dwellings is predominantly single storey, with only a modest 
amount of first floor accommodation to be located in the south-west corner of the building. 

7.4.3 Concerns have been expressed with regard to the impact of this building on the amenities 
of the Priory, which is located in excess of 20m away from the proposed dwelling, albeit it 
is located at a lower level. The north elevation of the proposed larger dwelling would be 
single storey only, and there would be no windows within this location. In addition, it is also 
noted that there are existing conifers located in the space between the boundary of the 
application site and the existing farm buildings which would provide natural screening. On 
this basis, it is considered that the combination of these factors would ensure that the 
proposed larger dwelling would be unlikely to have any adverse impact on the amenities of 
the Priory as a result of overlooking, overshadowing, or dominance. Furthermore, it is 
considered that the scale and location of the building now proposed would respond to the 
previous comments of the Inspector with regard to the relationship with the Priory, and 
thus address this previous concern.   

7.4.4 With regard to the impact on other surrounding dwellings from the larger of the two 
dwellings proposed, given the scale, layout and location of the dwelling, it is considered 

63



that there are adequate separation distances which would ensure that the proposed 
dwelling would have an appropriate relationship with neighbouring properties and their 
amenities.

7.4.5 The second, smaller dwelling proposed is a bungalow, to be located adjacent to 42a 
Station Road, in a position which would be located to the rear of properties fronting Station 
Road. Although this dwelling would be located in an elevated position as a result of 
prevailing topography, given the scale and design of this dwelling, in combination with the 
significant separation distances to those properties on Station Road, it is not considered 
that any adverse amenity implications would result.

7.4.6 As such, in respect of this issue, the proposed dwellings are considered to be acceptable, 
and comply with the requirement of the criteria (ii) of Policy SAP H1, as well as being 
compliant with Policy EN1, and moreover being in accordance with the objective of 
Section 12 of the NPPF.

7.5 Highway impacts

7.5.1 Policy EN1 of the adopted Core Strategy states that development proposals will be 
assessed in relation to (amongst other criteria) the layout and scale of buildings and 
designed spaces.  Policy SAP H1(i) requires that new development can be satisfactorily 
accommodated by the existing local highway network. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF 
advises that development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe.

7.5.2 The larger of the two dwellings seeks to utilise the existing access to the site, which is 
from Station Road via an existing driveway. Given the characteristics of this access, in 
combination with the lawful usage of it which could occur from the sites lawful use as a 
farmyard, it is not considered that there is any sustainable objection on highway grounds 
to this access being used to being used to serve a single dwelling.

7.5.3 The bungalow unit would be served via an extension to an existing private driveway which 
runs to the south-east corner of the site. This driveway presently serves 42a Station Road, 
and the proposal is to extend it to serve the new bungalow. The driveway has a junction 
with Station Road. Concerns have been expressed at the increased use of this access 
owing to its width, lack of clear passing spaces, and its overall length. Although these are 
legitimate concerns, the proposal is that only the bungalow would be served by this 
access, and given the modest scale of this property, it is unlikely that the use of it would 
give rise to a significant increase in traffic which would make the access arrangements 
unacceptable. The possibility of two vehicles meeting each other would be relatively low, 
and in such a scenario, given the length and alignment of the driveway there would be 
possibility for vehicles to see each other and make requisite movements to enable passing 
to take place. The Highway Authority have advised that they are not concerned with this 
arrangement and the lack of formalised passing spaces. It is not considered that this 
arrangement would give rise to any severe traffic impact, nor would it be unacceptable in 
highway safety terms. 

64



7.5.4 As such, it is considered that the proposal would be acceptable in respect of this issue, 
and comply with Policy EN1 of the Core Strategy, criteria (i) of Policy SAP H1 and is 
compliant with the NPPF.

7.6 Other matters

7.6.1 With regard to the other criteria of Policy SAP H1(i), the application proposes that the 
dwellings would connect to the mains sewer system and no education or health 
contributions are required as the number of dwellings falls below the threshold required by 
the Planning Obligations SPD. surface and foul water drainage condition? The application 
does not lie within a flood risk area therefor a Flood Risk Assessment under Policy EN2 is 
not required. Policy EN4 is out-of-date given that the Code for Sustainable Homes has 
been revoked and increased requirements for energy efficiency in new dwellings is now 
achieved through the Building Regulations.

7.6.2 The Councils Tree Officer has considered the potential impact on trees of amenity value, 
which are protected as a result of the Conservation Area designation. No objections are 
raised, subject to the imposition of the recommended planning conditions.

7.6.3 On ecology, there is potential for the site to support biodiversity, but it is not located within 
any ecological designation. A detailed ecology report has been provided along with the 
application which considers the impacts upon protected species. Notwithstanding the 
concerns raised by third parties, it is considered that the report demonstrates that 
protected species can be addressed in an acceptable way. Natural England have been 
consulted, and no objections have been raised. Further, it is considered that any 
ecological impact as a result of the development of the site can be appropriately mitigated 
through the provision of biodiversity measures as required by the recommended 
conditions.

7.6.4 The Parish Council have expressed concerns regarding the impact on a water main which 
may run across the site, it is considered that this matter could be acceptably be dealt with 
through separate legislative processes under the Water Industry Act, with the developer 
having to liaise with the statutory undertaker in this regard. Any need to protect, or divert 
any utility could be managed by the relevant bodies outside of the planning application 
process.

7.6.5 The Parish Council, and other third parties also requested that changes be made to the 
scheme to relocate the dwellings that are proposed. Discussions have been held with the 
agent to seek such changes, however, the applicant’s agent has confirmed that they wish 
the application to be determined as currently presented. The Local Authority is required to 
determine those proposals presented based on their own merits, and the development is 
considered to be acceptable in respect of the matters raised above.

7.7 Planning Balance & Conclusion

7.7.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning 
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 

65



material considerations indicate otherwise. This evaluation is effectively termed the 
'planning balance'.

7.7.2 Although technically greenfield in nature when considered against the NPPF definitions, 
the site is considered to represent a small infill site, and thus its re-development for 
residential purposes in the manner identified would be compliant with Policies SP1 and 
SP2 the Core Strategy along with SAP Policy H1. Furthermore, the site is considered to 
be located in a sustainable position within the built up part of the village, and thus, there is 
no objection to the broad principle of development.

7.7.3 The development that is proposed is considered to be of an appropriate quantum, 
massing, scale and design which would be acceptable for this context and which would 
not have any harmful effect upon designated assets. Nor would the proposals result in any 
significant or adverse amenity implications.

7.7.4 The proposals would also be acceptable in all other respects, and subject to the conditions 
that are recommended, the impacts of the development would be acceptable in planning 
terms. 

7.7.5 The development is considered to be in accordance with the development plan (when 
taken as a whole) and it is not considered, having carried out the planning balancing 
exercise, that there are any material considerations which indicate otherwise than a grant 
of planning permission.

7.8 RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following 
conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out 
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following list of approved plans:

Block Plan - 1710.A2.H
Bungalow plans (grouped) - A1-28-10-2018
House Elevations - 1710.A3.A
House Plans & Elevations - 1710.A4.A

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
     
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Before the Development is Commenced

66



3 No development shall take place until a scheme for biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancement has been submitted to and agreed in writing. The scheme shall be 
based upon the recommendations of the Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey 
submitted with the application, and shall include but not be limited to measures for 
creation of new habitat for owls, bats and birds. The scheme shall include a plan 
identifying the location of any mitigation and enhancement measures, along with a 
detailed schedule (and technical details as relevant) for each of the measures 
proposed.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate ecological mitigation and enhancement 
is undertaken in order to appropriately manage the effects on wildlife and habitat, 
and to comply with policy EN1 of the Core Strategy and the principles of the NPPF.

4 Prior to any clearance works on the site or the commencement of development 
whichever is the earlier, a detailed Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) shall 
have been be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The AMS should be produced to the minimum standards described in the BS5837 
(2012) Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction, taking into 
consideration the General Recommendations as set out in the Tree Survey 
submitted with the application. The AMS should also include full details of a tree 
protection scheme (accompanied by a tree protection and constraints plan) which 
should show the position of the new structures and protection barriers in respect of 
the retained trees, hedgerows and shrubs and their Root Protection Areas (RPA). 
Construction details in the form of a mitigating method and impact statements should 
also be provided where there is potential influence from construction work, 
foundations, hard surfaces, drainage systems, and utilities on the retained trees, 
shrubs and hedgerows.

All works or development at the site shall only proceed in accordance with the 
agreed details.

Reason: In order to ensure that the effects of the development upon retained trees 
are fully mitigated within the scheme, and that appropriate methods are used to 
protect trees to be retained during the construction of the development, and to 
comply with policy EN1 of the Core Strategy, along with the principles of sustainable 
development set out in the NPPF.

5 Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a written scheme of 
archaeological investigation shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site 
and in accordance with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy 
(July 2010) and section 16 of the NPPF.

During Building Works

67



6 If during development, contamination is encountered, works at the site should cease 
until a strategy to deal with the identified contamination has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy shall include details 
of investigation, risk assessment, remediation measures and verification steps which 
has been prepared in accordance with best practice. Works shall then only continue 
in accordance with the requirements of the agreed strategy.

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, or had the 
potential to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the proposed site 
investigations and remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the 
amenities of the future residents and users of the development; and in accordance 
with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010) and 
national guidance contained in the NPPF.

7 The archaeological investigations shall also have been completed in accordance 
with the approved details before development commences.

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site 
and in accordance with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy 
(July 2010) and section 16 of the NPPF.

8 Before any construction work above ground is commenced, details of hard and soft 
landscaping works shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Details shall include: 

i. planting plans;
ii. written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated 

with plant and grass establishment); 
iii. schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 

numbers/densities where appropriate; 
iv.      details of all hard surfaced areas including material

Reason: Hard and Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution 
to the development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

9 Before the installation of any of the new external windows and/or doors on the house 
hereby consented, full details of all proposed joinery works for those windows/doors, 
including 1:20 sample elevations and 1:1/1:5 joinery profiles, shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of the building and in accordance 
with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

10 Before any of the works on the external elevations for the building(s) hereby 
permitted are begun, samples and details of the materials (including mortar mixes) to 
be used in the construction of the external surfaces shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

68



Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 
with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

Before the Development is Occupied

11 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use, 
the external surfaces and joinery details shall have been completed in accordance 
with the approved details.
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 
with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

12 The required biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures shall be completed 
in full, in accordance with the agreed scheme, prior to the first occupation of the 
dwellings hereby permitted.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate ecological mitigation and enhancement 
is undertaken in order to appropriately manage the effects on wildlife and habitat, 
and to comply with policy EN1 of the Core Strategy and the principles of the NPPF.

13 Before the end of the first planting/seeding season following the occupation/first use 
of any part of the development hereby permitted, all hard and soft landscape works 
shall have been carried out in accordance with the approved soft landscaping 
details. 

Reason: Hard and soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution 
to the development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

Ongoing Conditions

15 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any 
order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no building, 
enclosure, swimming or other pool or container used for domestic heating purposes 
shall be constructed within the curtilage of the dwellinghouse without Planning 
Permission first having been granted by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that any outbuildings can be fully assessed in the interest of the 
protection of heritage assets and the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties, 
and to comply with policy EN1 of the Core Strategy.

16 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B & C of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or 
any order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no 
window, dormer window, rooflight or other shall be inserted or replaced on the house 
hereby permitted (as shown on drawings 1710.A3.A and 1710.A4.A), other than 
those expressly authorised by this permission without Planning Permission first 
having been granted by the Local Planning Authority.

69



Reason: In order to ensure that any new or replacement windows and doors are 
respectful to the design quality of the house proposed, and in the interests of the 
protection of heritage assets and the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties, 
and to comply with policy EN1 of the Core Strategy.

17 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any 
order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no 
enlargement, improvement or other alteration to the dwellings other than those 
expressly authorised by this permission shall be carried out without Planning 
Permission first having been granted by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that any additions to the properties can be fully assessed in the 
interest of the protection of heritage assets and the amenities of the occupiers of 
nearby properties, and to comply with policy EN1 of the Core Strategy.

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:

1 In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is 
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

2 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted you are advised to 
contact the Divisional Highways manager, Lincolnshire County Council (telephone 
number: 01522 513100) to discuss the proposed works within highway limits.

3 All wild birds, nests, eggs and young are protected under the Wildlife & Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended). The grant of planning permission does not override the 
above Act. All applicants and sub-contractors are reminded that persons undertaking 
site clearance, hedgerow removal, demolition works etc. between March and August 
may risk committing an offence under the above Act and may be liable to 
prosecution if birds are known or suspected to be nesting. The Council will pass 
complaints received about such work to the appropriate authorities for investigation. 
The Local Authority advises that such work should be scheduled for the period 1 
September-28 February wherever possible. Otherwise, a qualified ecologist should 
make a careful check before work begins.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

70



71



72



73



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee
26 June 2019

        

S18/1859
Proposal: Demolition of dwelling and erection of 14 affordable dwellings with 

private drive and associated parking
Location: 81 Harrowby Lane, Grantham, NG31 9HZ   
Applicant: Mr Peter Harley, Nottingham Community Housing Association, 12- 14 

Pelham Road, Sherwood Rise, Nottingham, NG5 1AP
Agent: Ms Barbara Stillman, Pelham Architects, 12-14 Pelham Road, 

Sherwood Rise, Nottingham, NG5 1AP
Application type: Full Planning Permission (Major)
Reason for referral to 
Committee:

This application has been referred to Committee for determination as it 
is a Major application.

Key issues: Provision of affordable dwellings
Impact on character of the area
Impact on residential amenity
Access, parking and highway considerations

Technical documents: Tree report
Phase 1 and 2 geo-environmental appraisals

Report Author

Phil Jordan, Development Management Planner

01476 406074

p.jordan@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Regulatory Grantham Harrowby

Reviewed by: Sylvia Bland, Head of Development Management 11 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Recommended decision - That the application is approved conditionally

75

Agenda Item 5c

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


76



1 Description of site

1.1 The site is located within an established residential area in Grantham and comprises a 
large detached dwelling set in extensive grounds on the northern side of Harrowby Lane. 
The site is bounded to the west and east by frontage dwellings accessed from Harrowby 
Lane. To the west and rear of the frontage dwellings are bungalows accessed from a path 
leading from Belton Avenue onto Harrowby Lane and 2-storey properties set at the 
southern end of Belton Avenue. There are bungalows to the north also located on Belton 
Avenue whilst to the east and north-east are backland bungalows accessed from further 
east along Harrowby Lane. To the south, across Harrowby Lane are further 2-storey 
residential properties.  

1.2 The grounds of the existing dwelling are largely laid to grass, interspersed with typical 
residential planting and landscape features. There are hedges running along parts of the 
side boundaries and the Harrowby Lane frontage. The site is generally level, with a slight 
downward slope south to north. The access to the existing dwelling is via a narrow slightly 
angled entrance at the eastern end of the site frontage.

1.3 It is noted that the site benefits from a recent outline consent (S17/0714), granted under 
delegated powers, to demolish the existing dwelling and erect 8 replacement large 
detached dwellings.

2 Description of proposal

2.1 The application proposes the demolition of the existing dwelling and the erection of 14 
replacement dwellings. This would comprise 3 x 3-bedroom houses, 3 x 2-bedroom 
houses and 8 x 2-bedroom bungalows. The two storey houses would be located on the 
frontage with Harrowby Lane. The bungalows would be situated around an access road 
within the site itself.

2.2 The tenure of the dwellings would be 6 x Affordable Home Ownership (as described in the 
National Planning Policy Framework - in this instance Shared Ownership) and 8 x 
Affordable Rented bungalows. The scheme would be managed by a registered Housing 
Provider (Nottingham Community Housing Association). 

2.3 Access to the development would be from a private drive off Harrowby Lane. The scheme 
includes the provision of 28 car parking spaces. 

2.4 The layout has been amended following input from the Council's Urban Designer and the 
Highway Authority. These amendments have included an increased number of parking 
spaces, location of car parking spaces closer to proposed dwellings, increased amount of 
frontage hedge retained and the inclusion of a footway to the side of the access road.

3 Relevant History

77



Reference Proposal Decision Date
S17/0714 Residential development (outline) 

including demolition of existing 
dwelling

Approved 
Conditionally 

29/08/2017

4 Policy Considerations

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 5 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport
Section 11 - Making effective use of land
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

4.2 South Kesteven District Council Core Strategy
Policy EN1 - Protection and Enhancement
Policy H1 - Residential Development
Policy SP1 - Spatial Strategy
Policy SP3 - Sustainable Integrated Transport

5 Representations Received

5.1 LCC Highways & SuDS Support
5.1.1 Having given due regard to the appropriate local and national planning policy guidance (in 

particular the National Planning Policy Framework), Lincolnshire County Council (as 
Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority) has concluded that the proposed 
development is acceptable and accordingly, does not wish to object to this planning 
application.

5.2 Environmental Protection Services (SKDC)
5.2.1 Required phase I and II contaminated land surveys to be undertaken.

5.3 Historic Buildings Advisor (SKDC)
5.3.1 The proposal does not appear to impact on any heritage assets. No comment other than 

the materials palette used for the proposed dwellings should conform to guidance 
contained in the Grantham Townscape Character Assessment.

5.4 Affordable Housing Officer (SKDC)
5.4.1 Strong support for the scheme that will provide 14 affordable dwellings. The Council has 

worked with the registered provider (Nottingham Community Housing Association) to 
ensure the type and tenure of the dwellings being proposed match the need evidenced by 
the Peterborough Sub-Regional Strategic Housing Market Assessment March 2017 
(SHMA) and the District Council's Housing Register. The scheme has funding to support 
the delivery of the development with immediate effect.

5.5 Anglian Water Services
5.5.1 Suggested condition requiring details of foul and surface water drainage strategy

78



5.6 Education & Cultural Services (LCC)
5.6.1 Requests S106 education of £16,991 towards secondary education

5.7 NHS England
5.7.1 No S106 health contributions required in this instance.

6 Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 
Community Involvement and 3 letters of representation have been received.  The points 
raised can be summarised as follows:

1. dominant buildings close to eastern boundary
2. access for bin collections
3. light pollution
4. increased traffic
5. noise and disturbance during construction
6. impact on existing services
7. boundary treatments
8. parking provision

7 Evaluation

7.1 Principle of the use

7.1.1 Core Strategy Policy SP1 states that the majority of new development should be focused 
upon Grantham to support and strengthen its role as a sub-regional centre. Core Strategy 
Policy H1 provides further support for the principle of residential development within 
Grantham. The National Planning Policy Framework (sections 5 and 11) also encourages 
effective use of land for residential development, providing acceptable living standards can 
be achieved.

7.1.2 The site is located in Grantham within an established residential area and the principle of 
redeveloping the site at a higher density has been established through the extant 
permission (S17/0714). Therefore, the principle of development is acceptable in this 
instance and in accordance with Core Strategy policies SP1, H1 and NPPF (sections 5 
and 11).

7.2 Impact of the use on the character of the area

7.2.1 Core Strategy Policy EN1 seeks to ensure development is appropriate for its context. 
Further, paragraph 127 of the NPPF provides that planning policies and decisions should 
ensure that developments are sympathetic to local character and history, including the 
surrounding built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change.

7.2.2 The existing dwelling sits within a large, irregular shaped plot. The dwelling is set back 
approximately 20m from the road frontage and is well screened from view by the frontage 

79



hedge. To the west of the site, on the Harrowby Lane frontage, is a pair of semi-detached 
dwellings. To the south of the site, across Harrowby Lane, are also semi-detached 
dwellings with half-hipped roofs. 

7.2.3 Harrowby Lane is generally, but not exclusively, characterised by frontage development. 
The character of this frontage development varies considerably along the length of the 
road. However, more recently there have been several examples of both individual 
backland development plots (including a total of 4 new dwellings immediately to the rear of 
the adjoining site to the north-east) and more substantial depth developments (including 
Pippin Gardens - 13 dwellings, approx. 150m east of the application site). These 
developments have taken place without detriment to the overall character and appearance 
of the area. The density of development shown on the submitted plans is considered 
appropriate to the site and locality and is similar to other developments recently built in the 
vicinity.

7.2.4 The application proposes 2-storey dwellings to the front of the site with the retention of 
some of the existing frontage hedge. To the rear of the site would be pairs of semi-
detached bungalows which would be less visible along Harrowby Lane. The design and 
scale of the proposed dwellings is considered to be appropriate for the context and would 
respect the existing character of the area. In this respect the proposal is considered to be 
in accordance with Core Strategy EN1 and the NPPF (section 12), although conditions 
have been included requiring details of the soft and hard landscaping and materials for the 
external surfaces.

7.3 Impact on the neighbouring properties

7.3.1 Para 127 of the NPPF states planning decisions should create places with a high standard 
of amenity for existing and future users. 

7.3.2 To the west of the site frontage are 77 and 79 Harrowby Lane, a pair of semi-detached 
dwellings fronting the road. The plans submitted with the application show a separation 
distance of 2.7m between the gable end of plot 1 (a 2-storey dwelling) and the boundary 
with 79 Harrowby Lane. The proposed dwellings are in-line with the siting of the existing 
development and the relationship is therefore considered acceptable.

7.3.3 To the east of the site frontage is 81a Harrowby Lane which is a 2 storey dwelling set back 
and positioned at an angle from the road frontage. Plot 6 has been designed with its side 
elevation facing the boundary of that property and there are no windows proposed to that 
elevation. The relationship between the dwelling proposed to plot 6 and the existing 
dwelling at 81a Harrowby Lane is considered acceptable. 

7.3.4 The remaining dwellings to the rear of the site are all proposed to be single storey in 
height and set-back an acceptable distance from the boundaries with neighbouring 
properties. 

7.3.5 As such, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Core Strategy Policy EN1, 
and the NPPF (section 12) and would not significantly impact on the amenity of the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties.

80



7.4 Highway issues

7.4.1 The application proposes a single access from Harrowby Lane and construct a private 
drive that would serve the proposed dwellings. The application includes the provision of 28 
car parking spaces. The applicants have provided swept-path analysis plan which 
demonstrates that a waste vehicle can service the development. The site is in a 
sustainable location with bus stops, shops and services all in close proximity.

7.4.2 Lincolnshire Highway Authority has raised no objection to the proposal which would 
provide adequate off-road parking, access and turning facilities off Harrowby Lane. As a 
result, it is considered that the proposal will not be detrimental to highway safety or traffic 
capacity and in accordance with Core Strategy Policy SP3 and the NPPF Section 9.

7.5 Other matters

7.5.1 Noise and disturbance during the construction of the development has been raised as a 
concern. Although this is not a material planning consideration, any impacts would be over 
a relatively short period and would be subject to control by other legislation including the 
Environmental Protection Act.

7.6 Trees and boundary treatments

A tree report has been submitted that details a large number of small trees within the site 
that are to be removed and those larger trees which are to be retained. Likewise, the plans 
show the majority of the existing boundary hedge to the west of the site to be retained and 
with only small to be removed to facilitate development. No trees within the site are 
subject to a TPO and the site is not within a Conservation Area. Much of the existing 
shrubbery elsewhere within the site will be removed. There is scope within the proposals 
to provide suitable replacement tree and landscaping within the site. Details of future 
landscaping and boundary treatments can be appropriately dealt with by conditions. 

7.7 S106 contributions

7.7.1 Lincolnshire County Council have requested £16,991 towards the provision of secondary 
education facilities. The scheme will also generate the requirement for an open space 
contribution of £7,003. The applicant has submitted a viability statement that demonstrates 
the delivery of this affordable housing scheme is reliant on grant funding and cannot 
provide additional S106 contributions without affecting viability.

7.7.2 With the nature of the scheme being largely affordable bungalows, it is not expected to 
significantly impact on the education demand in the area. In terms of open space, the site 
is located within walking distance of existing open spaces on Harrowby Lane and Princess 
Drive. Given the nature of the development to provide solely affordable dwellings to meet 
local needs and the submitted viability details, it is accepted that the scheme cannot 
support the additional S106 contributions that have been requested.

8 Crime and Disorder

81



8.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 
implications.

9 Human Rights Implications

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this 
recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

10 Conclusion

10.1 The proposal would provide 14 affordable dwellings and would not result in any 
unacceptable impacts on the character of the area, residential amenity, the highway 
network or community infrastructure.

10.2 Taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposal is appropriate for its 
context and is in accordance with Policies EN1, SP1, SP3 and H1 of the South Kesteven 
Core Strategy and the NPPF (Sections 5, 9, 11 and 12). There are no material 
considerations that indicate otherwise although conditions have been attached.

RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following 
conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out 
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

 Approved Plans

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following list of approved plans:

i. Drawing no. 2524/P102E received 22.03.2019
ii. Drawing no. 2524/P103A received 22.03.2019
iii. Drawing no. 2524/P104A received 22.03.2019
iv. Drawing no. 2524/P105A received 22.03.2019
v. Drawing no. 2524/P106A received 22.03.2019
vi. Drawing no. 2524/P107 received 22.03.2019
vii. Drawing no. 2524/P108B received 22.03.2019
viii. Drawing no. 2524/P109A received 22.03.2019

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
     
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

82



 Before the Development is Commenced

3 Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, details of a scheme for the 
treatment of surface and foul water drainage shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for treatment of foul and 
surface water.

4 Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, plans showing the existing 
and proposed land levels of the site including site sections, spot heights, contours 
and the finished floor level of all proposed buildings with reference to neighbouring 
properties or an off-site datum point have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, details of the scheme for 
the provision of affordable housing as part of the development must have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The affordable 
housing shall be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet 
the definition of affordable housing in Annex 2 of the NPPF or any future guidance 
that replaces it.

5 Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, details of the scheme for 
the provision of affordable housing as part of the development must have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The affordable 
housing shall be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet 
the definition of affordable housing in Annex 2 of the NPPF or any future guidance 
that replaces it.

The scheme shall include:
i.     the numbers, type, tenure and location on the site of the affordable housing 
provision;
ii.    the arrangements for the transfer of the affordable housing to an affordable 
housing provider;
iii.   the arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both first and 
subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; and
iv.   the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the 
affordable housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria shall be 
enforced.

Reason: To ensure the housing approved is affordable as the viability of market 
housing and any potential developer contributions at this location would require 
further assessment.

During Building Works

83



6 Before construction of any building hereby permitted is commenced, the land on 
which that building is situated shall have been graded in accordance with the 
approved land levels details. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

7 Before any development above ground level hereby permitted is commenced, details 
of hard landscaping works shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include:

i. boundary treatments and other means of enclosure; 
ii. car parking layouts; 
iii. other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas; 
iv. hard surfacing materials; 
v. external lighting and bin storage; 

Reason: Hard landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 
EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

8 Before any construction work above ground is commenced, details of any soft 
landscaping works shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Details shall include: 

i. planting plans;
ii. written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated 

with plant and grass establishment); 
iii. schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 

numbers/densities where appropriate;

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 
EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

9 Before any of the works on the external elevations for the building(s) hereby 
permitted are begun, details of the materials (including colour of any render, 
paintwork or colourwash) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces shall 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 
with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

10 The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved tree 
protection measures in the Michael Sumner tree report received 8 October 2018.

84



Reason: To prevent unnecessary damage to existing trees and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

Before the Development is Occupied

11 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, all hard landscape 
works shall have been carried out in accordance with the approved hard landscaping 
details. 

Reason: Hard landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 
EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

12 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the works to 
provide the surface and foul water drainage shall have been completed in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the treatment of foul and 
surface water

13 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, a verification 
report confirming that remedial works have been completed shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report 
shall be submitted by the nominated competent person approved. The report shall 
include:

i.    A complete record of remediation activities, and data collected as identified in the
                remediation scheme, to support compliance with agreed remediation objectives;

ii.   As built drawings of the implemented scheme;
iii.  Photographs of the remediation works in progress; and
iv.  Certificates demonstrating that imported and/or material left in situ is free from
      contamination.

The scheme of remediation shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

Reason: The phase II survey has identified contamination that needs to be 
addressed as per the report and to ensure that the proposed site investigations and 
remediation will not cause pollution in the interests of the amenities of the future 
residents and users of the development; and in accordance with Policy EN1 of the 
adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010) and national guidance contained 
in the NPPF.

14 Before the end of the first planting/seeding season following the occupation of any 
part of the development hereby permitted, all soft landscape works shall have been 
carried out in accordance with the approved soft landscaping details. 

85



Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 
EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

15 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use, 
the external surfaces shall have been completed in accordance with the approved 
details.
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 
with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

16 The finished floor levels shall be constructed in accordance with the approved levels 
details. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

Ongoing Conditions

17 Within a period of five years from the first occupation of the final dwelling/unit of the 
development hereby permitted, any trees or plants provided as part of the approved 
soft landscaping scheme, die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning 
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting 
season following any such loss with a specimen of the same size and species as 
was approved in condition above unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable 
standard of landscape in accordance with the approved designs.

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:

1 In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is 
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

2 The permitted development requires the formation of a new/amended vehicular 
access. Applicants should note the provisions of Section 184 of the Highways Act 
1980. The works should be constructed to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority 
in accordance with the Authority's specification that is current at the time of 
construction. For further information, please telephone 01522 782070.

3 Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on 
01522 782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any other 
works which will be required within the public highway in association with the 
development permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County 
Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works.

86



4 All roads within the development hereby permitted must be constructed to an 
engineering standard equivalent to that of adoptable highways. Those roads that are 
to be put forward for adoption as public highways must be constructed in accordance 
with the Lincolnshire County Council Development Road Specification that is current 
at the time of construction and the developer will be required to enter into a legal 
agreement with the Highway Authority under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. 
Those roads that are not to be voluntarily put forward for adoption as public 
highways, may be subject to action by the Highway Authority under Section 219 (the 
Advance Payments code) of the Highways Act 1980.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

87



Site location plan

Site layout plan

88



House types 1 and 2

House types 3 and 4

89



House types 5 and 6

House types 7 and 8

90



House types 9 and 10

House types 11 and 12

91



House types 13 and 14

92



Planning Committee
26 June 2019

        

S19/0726
Proposal: Erection of detached garage (Re-submission following S19/0094)
Location: 1 Harrowby Mill Lane, Grantham, NG31 9EP   
Applicant: Mr D Balderson, Manthorpe Construction, Waterside Drive, Belton Lane, 

Grantham, NG31 9FA
Agent: Mr Mike Sibthorp, Mike Sibthorp Planning, Logan House,  Lime Grove,  

Grantham, NG31 9JD
Application type: Full Planning Permission
Reason for referral to 
Committee:

Previous application was requested by Cllr Selby on the grounds that 
the scale, siting and design of the proposed garage would be harmful to 
the setting of the Listed Building, Harrowby Mill.

Key issues: Impact on the setting of a Listed Building
Impact on residential amenity

Technical documents: Comparative block plan

Report Author

Peter Lifford, Development Management Planner

01476 406391

p.lifford@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Regulatory Grantham Harrowby

Reviewed by: Sylvia Bland, Head of Development Management 11 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Recommended decision - That the application is approved conditionally

93

Agenda Item 5d

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


94



1 Description of site and application

1.1 The application site is located within Grantham and is located to the north east of the town 
centre off Belton Lane within an established residential area. To the north west of the site 
is the River Witham with a Grade II Listed Building, Harrowby Mill, adjoining the site to the 
north east. To the north, south and east of the site are the rear gardens to properties 
fronting Belton Lane, Granta Crescent and Mill Close.  The site originally formed part of 
the garden area to Harrowby Mill but, together with other land, has been separated off as 
a building plot. Although now a separate plot, the site would still fall within the curtilage of 
the Listed Building as shown when it was designated in 1972. The site is accessed via 
Harrowby Mill Lane, a private drive, which leads off Belton Lane. 

1.2 This application is a resubmission that seeks planning permission for a detached garage, 
measuring 11 wide, 7.3m deep with a ridge height of 3.97m. It is to be finished in softwood 
weatherboarded walls with a clay tile roof. It provides parking for three vehicles, one 
enclosed garage and two open fronted parking bays. It is located to the west of the house 
currently under construction and will be 2m away from the south east site boundary with 
properties on Granta Crescent and 7m from the north east boundary with Harrowby Mill.

1.3 This current application differs from the earlier refusal in that the overall height of the 
garage has been reduced by 0.32m by reducing the pitch of the roof. The floor plan and 
the appearance of the garage remain the same as the previous submission.

1.4 Currently on site the foundations have been constructed and the finished floor level. No 
further work has been carried out on the garage since the earlier refusal of planning 
permission.

2 Relevant History

2.1 In April 2019 planning permission (S19/0094) was refused by the Planning Committee for 
a similar proposal but at a height of 4.29m for the following reason:

The scale, siting and design of the proposed garage constitutes overdevelopment, would 
be overbearing in its relationship to the adjacent dwellings on Granta Crescent and 
harmful to the setting of the Grade II Listed Harrowby Mill. This would be contrary to the 
NPPF Sections 12 and 16, and Policy EN1 of the South Kesteven Core Strategy.

2.2 The applicant has appealed against this decision and the appeal is ongoing. The applicant 
has stated that if this current application is successful then the appeal will be withdrawn.

2.3 In 2007, planning permission was granted for a detached garage as part of a consent for a 
detached dwelling on the site (S07/1640). This application was not implemented.

2.4 In March 2018 consent was granted for the erection of a two storey dwelling (S18/0234). 
This is the dwelling that has been built albeit with an amendment granted in April 2019 for 
the conversion of the integral garage into a family room.

95



3 Policy Considerations

3.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places
Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

3.2 South Kesteven District Council Core Strategy
Policy EN1 - Protection and Enhancement

4 Representations Received

4.1 Historic Buildings Advisor (SKDC)
4.1.1 It is noted that the height of the proposed garage has been reduced from that previously 

proposed and refused.

4.1.2 It is considered that in this location the proposed garage will not have an adverse impact 
on the setting of the nearby Listed Building, Harrowby Mill.

5 Representations as a Result of Publicity

5.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 
Community Involvement and fourteen representations have been received.  The points 
raised can be summarised as follows:

1. Garage could be converted to a dwelling in the future.
2. Its future change of use would increase traffic on the public right of way.
3. Detrimental impact upon the character of the area around the Listed Building of
    Harrowby Mill for neighbouring households and users of the adjacent footpath and lane.
4. Due to its location, noise and disturbance to surroundings.
5. The height and size of the building would be imposing.
6. Will change the sight-line from my property and could lead to further development,
    windows and then loss of privacy.

6 Evaluation

6.1 Principle of the use

6.1.1 The site is located within Grantham surrounded by existing development, which is 
residential in character.

6.1.2 Planning permission has previously been granted elsewhere on the site for a detached 
garage (S07/1640) as part of a consent for a detached dwelling. Therefore, the principle of 
providing a detached garage within the site has been accepted.

96



6.2 Impact of the use on the character of the area and heritage assets

6.2.1 Policy EN1 of the Core Strategy states that development must be assessed in relation to 
local distinctiveness and sense of place, the layout and scale and the character of the 
local area.  Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that permission should be refused for poor 
design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality 
of the area. 

6.2.2 The proposed garage would not be visible from the public highway. There will be limited 
views from the private driveway/public footpath that provides access to the site to the 
north west. The garage is likely to be visible from Queen Elizabeth Park to the west, but 
these views would be limited in extent due to existing vegetation within the park.

6.2.3 To the north west of the site is a Grade II Listed Building, Harrowby Mill. Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the 'Act') requires the Local 
Planning Authority to pay special regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings 
and their setting. In this context, the objective of preservation is to cause no harm, and is a 
matter of paramount concern in the planning process.

6.2.4 Curtilage and setting are separate concepts, curtilage describes an area around a building 
and for those that are Listed, consideration is taken of both past and present ownership. 
Although now in separate ownership, when the adjacent Listed Building was listed the 
application site formed the curtilage of the Listed Building and is still considered as the 
original curtilage of the Listed Building.  Setting is the surroundings in which a heritage 
asset is experienced, its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its 
surroundings evolve.

6.2.5 The importance of considering the impact of new development on the significance of 
designated heritage assets is expressed in section 12 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). Paragraph 132 of the NPPF advises that the significance of 
designated heritage assets can be harmed or lost through alterations or development 
within their setting. Such harm or loss to significance requires clear and convincing 
justification. The NPPF also makes it clear that protecting and enhancing the historic 
environment is sustainable development (paragraph 7). Local Planning Authorities should 
also look for opportunities to better reveal the significance of heritage assets when 
considering development in conservation areas (paragraph 137).

6.2.6 The detached garage granted under (S07/1640) was located 12.25 metres from Harrowby 
Mill. This is significantly closer than the current proposal which is sited 24.2 metres from 
the building and 7m from the boundary of the Listed Building. Due to the size of the 
proposed garage and the proposed materials to be used in its construction it is not 
considered that the garage would harm the character of the area. The proposed scale of 
the garage and the separation between them would ensure that the proposal would not 
have a detrimental impact on the setting of the Listed Building and would not result in 
harm to the significance of the Listed Building.

6.2.7 By reducing the overall height of the garage due to the change in the roof pitch this would 
reduce any overbearing impact the garage may have on the residential properties in 

97



Granta Crescent and would reduce any adverse impact on the setting of the adjacent 
Listed building.

6.2.8 Regarding potential overdevelopment of the site, having regard to the overall size of the 
application site, the applicant has provided additional information with this application to 
demonstrate that the level of built development coverage of the plot is around 12% 
compared to sites in Granta Crescent where built development coverage is around 18% of 
the site.

6.2.9 It is therefore considered that the appearance, layout and scale of the proposal would be 
acceptable; would not have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the 
area and street scene or the setting of the Grade II Listed Building; and would comply with 
the NPPF and Policy EN1 of the CS.

6.3 Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties

6.3.1 The garage is proposed 2m away from the common south west boundary with the rear 
gardens to properties in Granta Crescent and an overall distance of 23 metres between 
these properties and the garage. There is a distance of 7m to the common boundary with 
Harrowby Mill to the north east and an overall distance of 24.2 metres to the building itself. 

6.3.2 Having regard to the distances between the garage and the adjacent dwellings, the 
reduction in the height of the garage by the change in the roof pitch, the position of 
openings in the garage and its overall size and height any resulting impacts on these 
existing properties to the west and east in terms of loss of privacy, light levels and outlook 
are not considered significant to warrant refusing the development on grounds of loss of 
residential amenity. 

6.3.3 Concern has been raised regarding noise from the use of the vehicular access drive to the 
garage. The extension of the drive to the garage is not significantly more than the drive 
already agreed under the earlier permission in 2018 (S18/0234) and increase in noise 
levels would not be significant to warrant refusing the development on these grounds. 

6.3.4 Taking into account the nature of the proposal, layout and adequate separation distances, 
it is considered that there would be no significant unacceptable adverse impact on the 
residential amenities of the occupiers of adjacent properties in accordance with the NPPF 
Section 7, and Policy EN1 of the South Kesteven Core Strategy.

6.4 Highway issues

6.4.1 Lincolnshire County Council have raised no objection to the proposal. The proposed 
garage will utilise the approved vehicular access off Harrowby Mill Lane and will replace 
the integral garage in the dwelling that is proposed to be used as a family room. There will 
be no increase in the number of vehicular movements to and from the site than those 
normally associated with a single family dwelling house.

6.4.2 Therefore, it is considered that the development would not lead to any adverse impact on 
highway safety or capacity.

98



6.5 Future alterations and use of garage

6.5.1 Concern has been expressed by local residents regarding the possible future use of the 
garage. The Council cannot second guess the intentions of any occupier/owner may 
propose on their site. In this instance, any physical changes to the garage that would 
normally be allowed by Class E of the General Permitted Development Order that amount 
to development, including works to convert it to another purpose for example an annexe or 
dwelling; would require planning permission as the garage is within the curtilage of a 
Listed Building and such works are not permitted development. If changes were proposed 
and an application submitted local residents would be able to submit their comments and 
the application considered by the Council in the normal manner.

7 Crime and Disorder

7.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 
implications.

8 Human Rights Implications

8.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this 
recommendation.

8.2 It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

9 Conclusion

9.1 Overall it is considered the garage will not harm the setting of the adjoining Listed Building 
and would not have a detrimental impact on either the street scene or character of the 
area. There will be no adverse loss of residential amenity and the proposal is also 
considered acceptable in terms of highway safety. The proposal is therefore considered to 
accord with relevant local and national planning policies.

RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following 
conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out 
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

99



Approved Plans

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following list of approved plans:

i. MSP.1612/002 received 19 April 2019
ii. Block plan received 19 April 2019

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
     
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Before the Development is Occupied

3 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use, 
the external elevations shall have been completed using only the materials stated in 
the planning application forms unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.
       
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 
with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

100



Site layout plan

Elevations

101



Comparative plan

102



Planning Committee
26 June 2019

#

        

S18/2111
Proposal: Demolition of 2 existing dwellings and erection of 12 dwellings
Location: 153 Eastgate, Deeping St James, Lincolnshire, PE6 8RB  
Applicant: Mr Geoff Baxter, Alston Country Homes, Unit 8 Global Centre,  113 

Spalding Road,  Deeping St James
Agent: Mr Mike Sibthorp, Mike Sibthorp Planning, Logan House,  Lime Grove,  

Grantham, NG31 9JD
Application type: Planning Permission (Major)
Reason for referral to 
Committee:

This application has been referred to Committee for determination as it 
is a Major application

Key Issues Impact on character of the area
Impact on residential amenity
Access, parking and highway considerations
Affordable housing and viability

Technical Documents: Ground Engineering Report Reference No. C14466 and C14466A
Updated protected species survey, Land at 153 Eastgate, Deeping St 
James, Lincolnshire
Viability Report DN-0204
Topographical Survey 694/01

Report Author

Phil Jordan, Development Management Planner 

01476 406074

p.jordan@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Regulatory Deeping St James

Reviewed by: Sylvia Bland, Head of Development Management 11 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Recommended decision - That the application is approved conditionally

103

Agenda Item 5e

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


104



1 Description of site

1.1 The application site comprises two existing dwellings that front Eastgate and various 
glasshouse structures to the rear that were used in connection with a former horticulture 
business. The existing dwellings (151 and 153 Eastgate) comprise a rendered bungalow 
and a one and a half storey brick dwelling which are in a poor condition and of no 
particular architectural merit or historic significance. The site is within a predominantly 
residential part of Deeping St James, although there are some farm buildings in the 
vicinity. The settlement typically follows a linear pattern along Eastgate although there are 
some examples of backland development to the rear of the frontage plots. There are two 
existing access points into the site that are currently used in connection with the existing 
dwellings. To the east of the site, approximately 700m away, is a sewage treatment works.

2 Description of proposal

2.1 The application proposes the demolition of the two existing dwellings and the erection of 
12 detached dwellings and garages. The dwellings would be accessed by a private road, 
set behind a gated access. The dwellings are proposed to be a mixture of traditionally 
designed house types.

2.2 It is noted a previous application for 22 dwellings at this location was refused and 
dismissed at appeal. The reason for that appeal being dismissed was not providing 
affordable housing and not providing sufficient evidence to justify that the provision of 
affordable housing would render the scheme unviable. That application also included a 
larger area, encompassing all of the existing glasshouses to the north.

3 Relevant History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
S02/0071 Positioning of 6 static mobile homes & 

erection of toilet/ shower block
Refused 16/04/2002

S13/1123 Erection of 22 no dwellings and 
associated garages and parking and 
associated open space

Refused 22/01/2016

4 Policy Considerations

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport
Section 11 - Making effective use of land
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

4.2 South Kesteven District Council Core Strategy
Policy E1 - Employment Development
Policy EN1 - Protection and Enhancement
Policy EN2 - Reduce the Risk of Flooding

105



Policy H1 - Residential Development
Policy SP1 - Spatial Strategy
Policy SP3 - Sustainable Integrated Transport
Policy SP4 - Developer Contributions

4.3 Site Allocation and Policies Development Plan Document
Policy SAPH1 - Other housing development

4.4 Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan
Policy M11: Safeguarding of Mineral Resources
Policy W8: Safeguarding Waste Management Sites

5 Representations Received

5.1 LCC Highways & SuDS Support
5.1.1 Drainage strategy requested which has been included as a condition.

5.1.2 Having given due regard to the appropriate local and national planning policy guidance (in 
particular the National Planning Policy Framework), Lincolnshire County Council (as 
Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority) has concluded that the proposed 
development is acceptable and accordingly, does not wish to object to this planning 
application.

5.2 Minerals And Waste Planning (LCC)
5.2.1 Requested a mineral assessment is carried out. This has been completed and submitted 

for comment which will be reported through additional items.

5.2.2 Seek views from Council's environmental protection service in relation to odour impacts 
from nearby Sewage Treatment Works

5.3 Arboricultural Consultant (SKDC)
5.3.1 The site does not contain trees of any particular merit in terms of the visual amenity of the 

area. Some on the boundaries, however, do provide a useful function as a screen. 

5.3.2 No objection to the principle of development, request a plan showing which trees are to be 
retained and which are to be removed. If any of the existing trees are to be retained then a 
tree protection scheme (including plan) for the retained trees should be provided taking 
into account the impacts from construction work, foundations, hard surfaces, drainage 
systems, and utilities.  A plan and impact report on that basis should be provided.

5.4 Education & Cultural Services (LCC)
5.4.1 The education contribution requested for the development is £33,982.

5.5 Environment Agency
5.5.1 No comments to make.

5.6 Heritage Lincolnshire
5.6.1 No archaeological comments to make.

106



5.7 Affordable Housing Officer (SKDC)
5.7.1 Developments where 10 or more homes will be provided or the site has an area of 0.5 

hectares or more there is an affordable housing requirement and should make appropriate 
provision for affordable housing.

5.8 NHS England
5.8.1 The health contribution requested for the development is £7,920.00 (£660 x 12 dwellings.)

5.9 Anglian Water Services
5.9.1 Recommend that a detailed odour risk assessment is undertaken to establish the range at 

which the amenity of neighbouring properties is likely to be impaired.

5.10 Welland & Deeping Internal Drainage Board
5.10.1 No objection to the proposal in principle. The site is bounded along its south-east 

boundaries by the Board's Town End Drain pipeline.  The Developer and the Board have 
held a site meeting and agreed in principle that this pipeline could be diverted slightly to 
allow it to fit in more practically with the proposed site layout.  

5.10.2 Request informative is added to any decision notice requiring the applicant to contact the 
Board for consent to alter the watercourse.

5.11 Natural England
5.11.1 No comments to make.

5.12 Environmental Protection Services (SKDC)
5.12.1 There are several residential properties in the current vicinity for which we have not 

received any odour complaints related to the sewage work. No further comments 
regarding odour from the information provided in the odour risk assessment.

5.12.2 The updated ground investigation report has confirmed that the status of the soils in 
relation to the former use as a horticultural Nursery are acceptable for residential with 
garden use.

107



6 Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 
Community Involvement and 4 letters of representation have been received.  The points 
raised can be summarised as follows:

1. Highway safety impacts from access 
2. Overlooking/ loss of privacy
3. Loss of trees
4. Boundary treatments to neighbouring properties
5. Impact on utilities
6. Noise and disturbance during construction
7. Surface water drainage/ flood risk
8. Potential for further development to north of site

7 Evaluation

7.1 Principle of the development

7.1.1 Core Strategy Policies SP1 and H1 allow for new residential development in the Deepings 
at a modest rate to meet the needs of the town. For non-allocated sites, Policy SAP H1 of 
the SAP DPD allows for development of suitable brownfield sites and small infill sites 
within the Deepings.

7.1.2 Policy SAP H1 states that planning permission will only be granted for small infill and 
redevelopment sites provided that the development:
i) can be satisfactorily accommodated by:

- the existing local highway network;
- the waste water treatment and sewerage network and;
- the local education and health provision.

ii) will not have a detrimental impact upon the quality of life of adjacent residents and 
properties.

iii) will not compromise the nature and character of the settlement.
iv) is in accordance with the criteria of Policies EN1, EN2, and EN4 of the Core 

Strategy.

7.1.3 Similarly, the NPPF (Section 11) promotes higher densities and the effective use of land 
for new homes provided well designed, attractive places can be achieved and the 
prevailing character of an area is maintained.

7.1.4 Further to above and whether the land can be considered as a suitable brownfield site, 
part of the site currently has an authorised employment use which is offered protection by 
Core Strategy Policy E1 which states:

The Council will seek to retain and enhance existing areas of employment use in 
Grantham, Bourne, Stamford, the Deepings and villages unless it can be demonstrated 
that:

108



 The site is vacant and no longer appropriate or viable as an employment allocation; 
and

 Redevelopment will deliver wider regeneration benefits; or
 An alternative use would not be detrimental to the overall supply and quality of 

employment land within the district; or
 An alternative use would resolve existing conflicts between land uses.

7.1.5 The applicant has submitted a statement that confirms the site has been vacant for a 
number of years. 

7.1.6 The site is in a predominantly residential area and redevelopment would have the benefit 
of removing the unsightly glasshouse structures from the site as well as resolving an 
existing land use conflict. Therefore, the application is considered to comply with Core 
Strategy Policy E1. The site can therefore be reasonably described as a suitable 
brownfield site and its redevelopment for residential use is acceptable in spatial terms, 
subject to further assessment against the criteria stipulated by Policy SAP H1. 

7.2 Impact on the character and appearance of the area

7.2.1 Core Strategy Policy EN1 requires development to be appropriate for its context. Further, 
para 127 of the NPPF provides that planning policies and decisions should ensure that 
developments are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding 
built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change.

7.2.2 The existing dwellings that front Eastgate are in a poor condition and have little 
architectural merit or historic significance. Likewise the glasshouses to the rear of the site 
are in a poor state of repair and have a negative impact on the character of the area. The 
redevelopment of the site as proposed would enhance the existing streetscene and 
surrounding context. In this respect the proposal is in accordance with Core Strategy 
Policy EN1 and the NPPF (section 12). The layout and appearance of the dwellings are 
considered to be of a good design and conditions requiring details of the soft and hard 
landscaping and materials for the external surfaces have been included.

7.3 Impact on the neighbours' residential amenities

7.3.1 Para 127 of the NPPF states planning decisions should create places with a high standard 
of amenity for existing and future users. Concern has been raised regarding the potential 
for the new dwellings to lead to overlooking and loss of privacy for the occupiers of the 
neighbouring properties. Plots 3 and 4 are the closest of the proposed dwellings with first 
floor windows facing neighbouring properties. These properties are shown to be set back 
11m from the boundary and 17m from the neighbouring dwellings which is considered to 
be an appropriate distance in this context so as not to lead to any unacceptable loss of 
privacy for the occupiers of those properties. Other relationships with neighbouring 
properties have been assessed and are considered to be acceptable. Details of boundary 
treatments are included as part of the hard landscaping condition.

109



7.3.2 To the east of the site is a sewage treatment works and the potential for odour impacts 
that could have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the occupiers of the proposed 
dwellings has been raised as a concern. An odour impact assessment has been submitted 
in this respect which concludes that the sewage treatment works would not result in any 
loss of amenity to the amenity of the occupiers of the proposed dwellings. These details 
have been assessed by the Council's Environmental Protection service and confirmed as 
acceptable. It is also noted there have been no complaints from the residents of the 
existing properties in the vicinity relating to odour from the sewage treatment works.

7.3.3 In summary and taking into account the design and orientation of the proposed dwellings 
and adequate separation distances to neighbouring properties and the sewage treatment 
works, it is considered that there would be no unacceptable adverse impact on the 
residential amenities of the occupiers of adjacent or proposed properties in accordance 
with Core Strategy Policy EN1 and the NPPF Section 12.

7.4 Highway issues

7.4.1 Plot 1 would be accessed from its own private access off Eastgate with the remainder of 
the development served by a gated access to a private drive from an adjacent point off 
Eastgate. A bin collection point is proposed in front of the gates adjacent to the main 
highway.

7.4.2 Concern has been raised in relation to the potential for increased traffic and highway 
safety from vehicles entering and exiting the site. The Highway Authority have assessed 
the proposal in relation to the proposed access, parking and turning areas which are 
considered to be acceptable and in accordance with the NPPF (Section 9) and would not 
result in any unacceptable highway safety impacts nor any severe cumulative traffic 
impacts. Further, the vehicle movements associated with the proposed development 
would not be expected to be any higher than those potentially associated with the existing 
authorised use of the site.

7.4.3 A potential connection point to the north-east of the site has been included as part of the 
proposed layout. Any further development of land to the north of the site would require a 
further application and need to be assessed on its own merits against the relevant policy 
context at the time of submission.

7.5 Flood risk

7.5.1 Part of the site is within a flood zone 2 and further details of a flood risk assessment have 
been requested which will be presented through the additional items paper. However, it is 
noted that the assessment of the previous application (S13/1123) concluded that the site 
could be developed without any unacceptable risks to flooding. Further, much of the site is 
already covered by built form which already generates a significant level of surface water 
run-off. Details of a surface and foul water drainage strategy for the development are 
required by condition.

110



7.6 Contaminated land

7.6.1 Various contaminated land surveys have been carried out in relation to the previous use of 
the site. These have been assessed by the Council's Environmental Protection service 
and the recommendations within the reports have been included as a condition.

7.7 Trees and Ecology

7.7.1 The applicant has submitted a plan which details the trees to be retained. The Council's 
tree consultant has not raised any concern in relation to the trees that are proposed to be 
removed. However, conditions have been included requiring details of the tree protection 
measures for the retained trees and the proposed soft landscaping works.

7.7.2 With regard to the impact on ecology, the applicant has submitted an ecological survey 
report. It concludes that the proposals are unlikely to significantly affect local biodiversity. 
It identifies that certain trees are capable of supporting bat roosts, however, these are 
proposed to be retained within the development. The report identifies that certain 
precautionary measures should be undertaken before development commences and that 
there is the potential to enhance biodiversity at the site through measures such as bat or 
owl boxes, for example.  A condition is proposed to ensure that the recommendations from 
the report are implemented.

7.8 Other matters

7.8.1 Noise and disturbance during the construction of the development has been raised as a 
concern. Although this is not a material planning consideration, any impacts would be over 
a relatively short period and would be subject to control by other legislation including the 
Environmental Protection Act.

7.8.2 The impact of the development on existing utilities is not a material planning consideration 
and would be dealt with by the individual suppliers of such services.

7.9 S106 Heads of terms

7.9.1 The applicant submitted a viability report as part of the application which concluded that 
the scheme would not be viable with the provision of developer contributions to mitigate 
the impact of the development, including the provision of affordable housing. Following the 
initial consultation, the following infrastructure contributions were requested by consultees:

Affordable housing - 35% on-site provision (£657,000 financial equivalent)
Education - £33,982
Health - £7,920

7.9.2 An independent review of the applicant’s viability report was commissioned by the Council 
which concluded the scheme was not viable in full compliance with the Council’s policy on 
affordable housing and developer contributions towards education and health, however, it 
would be viable with a maximum level of financial contributions at £145,000. This 
contribution has been agreed with the developer and can be secured by a S106 legal 
agreement.

111



7.9.3 It is recommended that the £145,000 financial contribution is divided between the above 
requirements on a pro rata basis as follows: 

Affordable housing - £136,307
Education - £7,050
Health - £1,643

8 Conclusion

8.1 The proposal would enhance the character of the area and result in a good standard of 
amenity for occupiers of neighbouring properties and the future occupiers of the proposed 
dwellings and would not result in any unacceptable impacts on highway safety. The 
proposal would be in accordance with Core Strategy Policies E1, SP1, EN1 and H1 and 
SAP DPD Policy SAP H1 and the NPPF (Sections 9, 11 and 12).

9 Recommendation

9.1 Approve the application subject to the conditions set out in the report and subject to 
completion of a S106 planning obligation securing the requirements specified in Section 
11 of the report. Where the S106 obligation has not been concluded prior to the 
Committee, a period not exceeding twelve weeks after the date of the Committee shall be 
set for the completion of that obligation. 

9.2 In the event that the agreement has not been concluded within the twelve-week period 
and where, in the opinion of the Head of Development Management, there are no 
extenuating circumstances which would justify a further extension of time, the related 
planning application shall be refused planning permission for the appropriate reason(s) on 
the basis that the necessary criteria essential to make what would otherwise be 
unacceptable development acceptable have not been forthcoming.

10 Crime and Disorder

10.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 
implications.

11 Human Rights Implications

11.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 
home) of the Human Rights Act have been considered in making this recommendation. It 
is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

112



RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following 
conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out 
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following list of approved plans:

i. Site Location Plan: MSP.1430/001 received 12 November 2018
ii. Block Plan: ACH01/02 Rev C received 12 November 2018
iii. Floor Plans and Elevations: BRAN H/ 01, 02, 03; CREAKE/ 01, 02, 03; 

CROM/ 01, 02, 03; HOLK/ 01, 02, 03; HOLM 01, 02, 03; KELL 01, 02, 03; 
KELL H 01, 02, 03; MORT H 01, 02, 03; SALT 01, 02, 03; TICH 01, 02, 03; 
THORN 01, 02, 03 received 12 November 2018

iv. Garage drawings: GT4/ 01, 02 and GT5/ 01, 02 received 12 November 2018
v. Tree Protection Plan: SHA/001 received 25 March 2019

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
     
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Before the Development is Commenced

3 Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, details of tree protection 
measures to protect all existing trees shown on the approved drawing SHA/001 
received 25.02.2019 during construction shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  The development shall be implemented in 
strict accordance with the approved tree protection measures.

Reason: To prevent unnecessary damage to existing trees and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

During Building Works

4 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
recommendations contained within the following report:
- Ground Engineering Report Reference No. C14466 received 18 April 2019

Reason:  To ensure that the proposed development not cause pollution in the 
interests of the amenities of the future residents and users of the development; and 

113



in accordance with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 
2010) and the NPPF.

5 Before any development above ground level hereby permitted is commenced, details 
of hard landscaping works shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include:

i. boundary treatments and other means of enclosure; 
ii. car parking layouts; 
iii. other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas; 
iv. hard surfacing materials; 
v. external lighting and bin storage; 

Reason: Hard landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 
EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

6 Before any construction work above ground is commenced, details of any soft 
landscaping works shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Details shall include: 

i. planting plans;
ii. written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated 

with plant and grass establishment); 
iii. schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 

numbers/densities where appropriate; 

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 
EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

7 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
recommendations contained within the following report:

- Updated protected species survey, Land at 153 Eastgate, Deeping St James, 
Lincolnshire dated 4 July 2017

Reason: In the interests of the protection of wildlife and their habitat.

8 Before any development other than demolition hereby permitted is commenced, a 
scheme for the treatment of surface and foul water drainage shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul water drainage is 
provided in accordance with Policy EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Core 
Strategy (July 2010).

9 Before any development other than demolition hereby permitted is commenced, 
plans showing the proposed finished floor levels of all buildings with reference to 

114



[neighbouring properties or an off site datum point] shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

10 Before any of the works on the external elevations for the building(s) hereby 
permitted are begun, details of the materials (including colour of any render, 
paintwork or colourwash) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces shall 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 
with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

Before the Development is Occupied

11 Before each dwelling hereby permitted is occupied, the external surfaces for that 
dwelling shall have been completed in accordance with the approved details.
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 
with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

12 Prior to any of the buildings being occupied the private drive shall be completed in 
accordance with the details shown on drawing number Block Plan ACH01/02 Rev C 
received 12 November 2018.

Reason: In the interests of safety of the users of the public highway and the safety of 
the users of the site.

13 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, all hard landscape 
works shall have been carried out in accordance with the approved hard landscaping 
details. 

Reason: Hard landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 
EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

14 Before the end of the first planting/seeding season following the occupation of any 
part of the development hereby permitted, all soft landscape works shall have been 
carried out in accordance with the approved soft landscaping details. 

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the 
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy 
EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

15 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the works to 
provide the surface and foul water drainage shall have been completed in 
accordance with the approved details.

115



Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul water drainage is 
provided in accordance with Policy EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Core 
Strategy (July 2010).

16 Before occupation of each dwelling, the finished floor levels for that dwelling shall be 
constructed in accordance with the approved levels details. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

Ongoing Conditions

17 Within a period of five years from the first occupation of the final dwelling of the 
development hereby permitted, any trees or plants provided as part of the approved 
soft landscaping scheme, die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning 
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting 
season following any such loss with a specimen of the same size and species as 
was approved in condition above unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable 
standard of landscape in accordance with the approved designs.

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:

1 In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is 
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

2 Anglian Water has assets close to or crossing this site or there are assets subject to 
an adoption agreement. Therefore the site layout should take this into account and 
accommodate those assets within either prospectively adoptable highways or public 
open space. If this is not practicable then the sewers will need to be diverted at the 
developers cost under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act 1991. or, in the case of 
apparatus under an adoption agreement, liaise with the owners of the apparatus. It 
should be noted that the diversion works should normally be completed before 
development can commence.

3 Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water 
Industry Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the 
Water Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087.

4 Protection of existing assets - A public sewer is shown on record plans within the 
land identified for the proposed development. It appears that development proposals 
will affect existing public sewers. It is recommended that the applicant contacts 
Anglian Water Development Services Team for further advice on this matter. 
Building over existing public sewers will not be permitted (without agreement) from 
Anglian Water.

116



5 Building near to a public sewer - No building will be permitted within the statutory 
easement width of 3 metres from the pipeline without agreement from Anglian Water. 
Please contact Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087.

6 The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been 
approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers 
included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Sections 104 of 
the Water Industry Act 1991), they should contact our Development Services Team 
on 0345 606 6087 at the earliest opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should 
be designed and constructed in accordance with Sewers for Adoption guide for 
developers, as supplemented by Anglian Water's requirements.

7 The permitted development requires the formation of a new/amended vehicular 
access. Applicants should note the provisions of Section 184 of the Highways Act 
1980. The works should be constructed to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority 
in accordance with the Authority's specification that is current at the time of 
construction. For further information, please telephone 01522 782070.

8 Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on 
01522 782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any other 
works which will be required within the public highway in association with the 
development permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County 
Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works.

9 All roads within the development hereby permitted must be constructed to an 
engineering standard equivalent to that of adoptable highways. Those roads that are 
to be put forward for adoption as public highways must be constructed in accordance 
with the Lincolnshire County Council Development Road Specification that is current 
at the time of construction and the developer will be required to enter into a legal 
agreement with the Highway Authority under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. 
Those roads that are not to be voluntarily put forward for adoption as public 
highways, may be subject to action by the Highway Authority under Section 219 (the 
Advance Payments code) of the Highways Act 1980.

10 Prior to commencing development, you are required to contact Welland and Deeping 
Internal Drainage Board to apply for consent to alter the watercourse within the site.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

117



Site location plan

Site layout plan

118



3D Elevations

119



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee
26 June 2019

        

S19/0026
Proposal: Erection of 10 no. Affordable Dwellings.
Location: Land to the West of Kinoulton Court, Grantham    
Applicant: Miss G Harte, South Kesteven District Council, Council Offices, St 

Peter's Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire
Application type: Full Planning Permission (Major)
Reason for referral to 
Committee:

This application has been submitted by South Kesteven District Council.

Key issues: Provision of affordable dwellings
Impact on character of the area
Impact on residential amenity
Access, parking and highway considerations

Technical documents: Topographical survey ref: 31476_T-UG Rev 0
Lifetime home audit

Report Author

Phil Jordan, Development Management Planner 

01476 406074

p.jordan@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Regulatory Grantham Earlesfield

Reviewed by: Sylvia Bland, Head of Development Management 11 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Recommended decision - That the application is approved conditionally

121

Agenda Item 5f

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


122



1 Description of site

1.1 The site is currently a vacant piece of grassed amenity land at Kinoulton Court to the 
south of Hornsby Road. To the north of the site are the rear gardens of properties along 
Hornsby Road. To the west of the site is the extended rear garden area to 41 Hornsby 
Road and a drying area used by occupants in the adjacent flats. To the south and east are 
blocks of Council owned flats at Kinoulton Court.

2 Description of proposal

2.1 The application proposes the erection of two buildings that would create 10 self-contained 
1 bedroom apartments. The development would be accessed via Kinoulton Court and 
includes provision of 10 dedicated car parking spaces for the occupiers of the apartments 
as well as 4 visitor spaces. The buildings are designed as a modern interpretation of a 
traditional dwelling type including a pitched roof and brick facing materials. They would be 
constructed to Lifetime Homes standard and include private amenity space to the rear.

2.2 The materials are proposed to be as follows:

Walls - light buff & cream coloured facing brick
Roof - dark brown concrete tile
Windows and doors - light brown UPVC
Rainwater goods - brown UPVC

2.3 The block to the west of the site would be 10m wide x 15m long x 8m high and the block to 
the east of the site 10m wide x 10m long x 8m high. The gap between the blocks is shown 
to be 14.7m. The site is flat, although at a lower level than the properties along Hornsby 
Road.

2.4 The proposal also includes the refurbishment of the adjacent refuse storage and drying 
area to the west of the site. These are used by residents of Kinoulton Court and are 
currently in a poor condition. The application proposes to provide two new large arm rotary 
driers, new paving slabs, deep cleaning of the existing brick walls and soft landscaping 
measures.

3 Relevant History

3.1 No relevant planning history

4 Policy Considerations

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 5 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport
Section 11 - Making effective use of land
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

123



4.2 South Kesteven District Council Core Strategy
Policy EN1 - Protection and Enhancement
Policy H1 - Residential Development
Policy SP1 - Spatial Strategy
Policy SP3 - Sustainable Integrated Transport

5 Representations Received

5.1 Education & Cultural Services (LCC)
5.1.1 No S106 education contributions required in this instance.

5.2 NHS England
5.2.1 No S106 health contributions required in this instance.

5.3 Street Scene (SKDC)
5.3.1 No comments on the application.

5.4 LCC Highways & SuDS Support
5.4.1 Having given due regard to the appropriate local and national planning policy guidance (in 

particular the National Planning Policy Framework), Lincolnshire County Council (as 
Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority) has concluded that the proposed 
development is acceptable and accordingly, does not wish to object to this planning 
application.

5.5 Cadent Gas Limited
5.5.1 No objection subject to informative highlighting affected assets in the area.

6 Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 
Community Involvement and 5 letters of representation have been received.  The points 
raised can be summarised as follows:

1. loss of light
2. increased noise
3. overlooking/ loss of privacy
4. odour from bin store
5. negative impact on property values
6. dominant outlook
7. increased anti-social behaviour to area
8. loss of existing amenity area
9. loss of tree
10. noise and disturbance during construction
11. proposed dwellings not in keeping with existing character of area
12. increased traffic

124



7 Evaluation

7.1 Principle of development

7.1.1 Core Strategy Policy SP1 states that the majority of new development should be focused 
upon Grantham to support and strengthen its role as a sub-regional centre. Core Strategy 
Policy H1 provides further support for the principle of residential development within 
Grantham. The National Planning Policy Framework (sections 5 and 11) also encourages 
effective use of land for residential development, providing acceptable living standards can 
be achieved.

7.1.2 The site is located within the built up part of Grantham in a predominantly residential area 
where the principle of this type of development is acceptable. Taking the above into 
account, the principle of development is acceptable and in accordance with Core Strategy 
policies SP1, H1 and NPPF (sections 5 and 11).

7.2 Impact on the character of the area

7.2.1 Core Strategy Policy EN1 seeks to ensure development is appropriate for its context. 
Further, paragraph 127 of the NPPF provides that planning policies and decisions should 
ensure that developments are sympathetic to local character and history, including the 
surrounding built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change.

7.2.2 The surrounding context is a mixture of semi-detached properties off Hornsby Road and 
the blocks of flats within Kinoulton Court, both of which are of limited architectural quality. 
The existing site is a grassed area of amenity space that serves the adjacent flats and a 
drying court that is currently in a poor condition. It is accepted that the design of the 
proposed dwellings does not attempt to replicate the adjacent dwellings. However, they 
are considered to be of an appropriate scale, design and appearance for the site context 
and would represent an enhanced level of architectural design to the immediate 
surroundings. A scheme for the redevelopment of land at Earlesfield Lane, elsewhere in 
Grantham, with a similar modern approach to architectural design was recently approved 
(S19/0027). The scheme would result in the loss of one tree but does propose 
improvements to the adjacent existing drying and refuse area. 

7.2.3 On balance, it is considered the proposal would contribute positively to the character of 
the area and would be appropriate for the residential context in accordance with Core 
Strategy Policy EN1 and the principles of good design in the NPPF (section 12).

7.2.4 Impact on the neighbouring properties

7.2.5 Para 127 of the NPPF states planning decisions should create places with a high standard 
of amenity for existing and future users. 

7.2.6 Various concerns have been raised from neighbouring properties to the north of the site 
regarding the impact on the proposal on their existing residential amenity. The majority of 
these properties have a rear garden area approximately 10m long which would not be 

125



directly overlooked by any primary windows as part of the development. The only window 
on the north elevation of each block being one that serves a stair well. 

7.2.7 The first floor windows of plots 6, 7 and 8 would overlook part of the extended rear garden 
area of 41 Hornsby Road, however, this area is already overlooked to a certain degree 
and is considered to be a less private area than the 10m long garden area located 
immediately to the rear of the property. Although, there would be some loss of privacy to 
this part of the garden to 41 Hornsby Road, it is not considered that it would result in a 
significant detrimental impact on the amenity of the occupiers of that property given the 
extent of the remaining garden area closer to the dwelling.

7.2.8 The gable ends of both buildings would be sited 3m from the rear boundaries of properties 
resulting in an overall distance of 13m from the properties at 31-39 Hornsby Road. Again, 
while this would result in some overshadowing of parts of these gardens during parts of 
the day, it is not considered that it would result in a significant detrimental impact to the 
amenity of the occupiers of those properties. 

7.2.9 Increased noise has also been raised as a concern. However, the noise levels associated 
with 10 residential apartments including any potential comings and goings is not 
considered to be significantly higher than the noise level in the existing context. 
Management and maintenance of the bin storage area adjacent to the rear boundaries of 
these properties would be subject to separate legislation to ensure they were not an on-
going odour nuisance to the neighbouring properties.

7.2.10 Overall, although it is accepted that there would be some impact on the neighbouring 
properties, particularly those to the north of the site, it is considered that the development 
would not significantly affect the residential amenities of the occupiers of those properties. 
In this respect the proposal is in accordance with Core Strategy Policy EN1, and the NPPF 
(section 12).

7.3 Loss of amenity space

7.3.1 It is accepted that the development would result in the loss of an area of amenity space. 
However, there is considered to be adequate amenity space in the area, particularly the 
space to the west of Kinoulton Court, to serve the existing residents and those of the 
proposed dwellings.

7.4 Highway issues

7.4.1 The proposed number of resident and visitor car parking spaces are considered to be 
adequate to serve the development. Lincolnshire Highway Authority has raised no 
objection to the proposal on the grounds of highway safety. As a result, it is considered 
that the proposal will not be detrimental to highway safety or traffic capacity and in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policy SP3 and the NPPF Section 9.

7.5 Other matters

126



7.5.1 Noise and disturbance during the construction of the development has been raised as a 
concern. Although this is not a material planning consideration, any impacts would be over 
a relatively short period and would be subject to control by other legislation including the 
Environmental Protection Act.

7.5.2 Impact on property values has also been raised as a concern. As above, whilst this is not 
a material planning consideration, the impacts on neighbouring properties are discussed 
above and are not considered to be significantly detrimental to the amenity of the 
occupants of those properties.

8 Crime and Disorder

8.1 The potential for an increase in anti-social behaviour in the area has been raised as a 
concern. The apartments have been designed to meet the 'secure by design' Police 
standard and would replace an area that currently lacks natural surveillance with 10 
residential units. The parking areas would be overlooked and the properties would have 
secure, private amenity areas. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal would have a 
positive impact i.e. reduction on any existing crime/ ASB in the area.

9 Human Rights Implications

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this 
recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

10 Conclusion

10.1 The proposal would provide 10 1-bedroom, affordable apartments built to lifetime homes 
standard and includes the refurbishment of the existing drying and refuse area. Although, 
there would be some impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties this is not 
considered to outweigh the benefits of the scheme. 

10.2 Taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposal is appropriate for its 
context and is in accordance with Policies EN1, SP1, SP3 and H1 of the South Kesteven 
Core Strategy and the NPPF (Sections 5, 9, 11 and 12). There are no material 
considerations that indicate otherwise although conditions have been attached.

RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following 
conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

127



Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out 
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following list of approved plans:

i. Drawing no. 176(08)100 received 29.05.2019
ii. Drawing no. 176(08)120 received 29.05.2019
iii. Drawing no. 176(08)121 received 10.01.2019
iv. Drawing no. 176(08)200 received 29.05.2019

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
     

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Before the Development is Commenced

3 Before any development plans showing the existing and proposed land levels of the 
site including site sections, spot heights, contours and the finished floor level of all 
proposed buildings with reference to neighbouring properties or an off-site datum 
point have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

4 Before construction of any building hereby permitted is commenced, the land on 
which that building is situated shall have been graded in accordance with the 
approved land levels details. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

Before the Development is Occupied

5 The finished floor levels shall be constructed in accordance with the approved levels 
details. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

6 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the works to 
provide the boundary treatments shall have been completed in accordance with the 
approved boundary treatment scheme on drawing no. 176(08)100 received 
29.05.2019.

128



Reason: To provide a satisfactory appearance to any boundary treatments and by 
screening rear gardens from public view, in the interests of the privacy and amenity 
of the occupants of the proposed dwellings and in accordance with Policy EN1 of the 
adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

7 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the external 
elevations shall have been completed using only the materials stated in the planning 
application forms and approved plans.
       
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 
with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Core Strategy (July 2010).

8 Before any dwelling hereby permitted is occupied, the parking area shall have been 
constructed in accordance with the approved details on drawing no. 176(08)100 
received 29.05.2019 and shall be retained as such and for no other purpose 
thereafter. 

Reason: To allow vehicles to park within the site to reduce any additional on street 
parking in the interests of highway safety.

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:

1 In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is 
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

2 Cadent have identified operational gas apparatus within the application site 
boundary. This may include a legal interest (easements or wayleaves) in the land 
which restricts activity in proximity to Cadent assets in private land. The Applicant 
must ensure that proposed works do not infringe on Cadent's legal rights and any 
details of such restrictions should be obtained from the landowner in the first 
instance. 

 
If buildings or structures are proposed directly above the gas apparatus then development 
should only take place following a diversion of this apparatus. The Applicant should 
contact Cadent's Plant Protection Team at the earliest opportunity to discuss proposed 
diversions of apparatus to avoid any unnecessary delays.
 
If any construction traffic is likely to cross a Cadent pipeline then the Applicant must 
contact Cadent's Plant Protection Team to see if any protection measures are required.

 
All developers are required to contact Cadent's Plant Protection Team for approval before 
carrying out any works on site and ensuring requirements are adhered to. 
 
Email: plantprotection@cadentgas.com Tel: 0800 688 588

129



3 The permitted development requires the formation of a new/amended vehicular 
access. Applicants should note the provisions of Section 184 of the Highways Act 
1980. The works should be constructed to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority 
in accordance with the Authority's specification that is current at the time of 
construction. For further information, please telephone 01522 782070.

4 Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on 
01522 782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any other 
works which will be required within the public highway in association with the 
development permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County 
Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

130



Site layout plan

Elevations

131



Floor Plans

132



Planning Committee
26 June 2019

        

S18/0221
Proposal: Change of use of land to racing track including placement of towable 

caravan and three containers on site
Location: Land North Of Gelston Road, Hougham, Grantham, Lincs,  
Applicant: Mr Karl Bedford, Trent Autograss, The Bungalow,  Roxholme Grange, 

Westcliffe, SLEAFORD
Agent: Mr Martin Furnish, Artech Designs Limited, 44 Church Road, Saxilby, 

Lincoln, LN1 2HJ
Application type: Full Planning Permission
Reason for referral to 
Committee:

At the request of Cllr Paul Wood for reasons relating to noise, highway 
safety, non compliance with Neighbourhood Plan and relevant 
provisions of Core Strategy Policy EN1

Key issues: Impact on the character of the area
Impact on the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties.
Highway Safety

Technical documents: None

Report Author

Abiola Labisi, Development Management Planner

01476 406632

a.labisi@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Regulatory Loveden Heath

Reviewed by: Sylvia Bland, Head of Development Management 13 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Recommended decision - That the application is: approved conditionally

133

Agenda Item 5g

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


134



1 Introduction

1.1 This application was discussed by the Planning Committee on the 16 October 2018. The 
Committee resolved that the applicant be requested to provide further details relating to 
how traffic management and noise pollution would be addressed and mitigated. The 
minutes of the meeting state:

1.2 'It was proposed, seconded and agreed that the application be deferred for the applicant to 
submit a traffic management plan, an access management plan and a noise management 
plan for assessment by SKDC's Environmental Health team and Lincolnshire County 
Council Highways, with the application being placed on the agenda for the next available 
meeting of the Development Management Committee. 

1.3 Members also asked that, when the application was next brought before the Committee, 
the report included the number of complaints made about the current site and the action 
that had been taken by the Council's Environmental Health team.'

1.4 Accordingly, the applicant was requested to submit an updated Traffic Management Plan 
detailing how vehicular traffic would be managed on event days in the interest of highway 
safety as well as a revised Noise Management Plan.

1.5 This report therefore addresses the following issues:

i. Revised Traffic Management Plan and the comments of the Highway Authority 
(LCC)

ii. Revised Noise Management Plan and comments of the SKDC Environmental 
Protection Officer

iii. Complaints received re the current site and actions taken by SKDC Environmental 
Protection team

2 Traffic Management

2.1 In addition to the information previously presented to the Committee on the above issue, 
the applicant following discussions with the Highway Authority (LCC), has now submitted 
further details relating to traffic management. The Traffic Management Plan states that the 
maximum number of vehicles expected at any singular event would be 150 and that 
advance notice of events would be displayed at the site entrance at least 7 days before 
such event.

2.2 In relation to traffic management, the Traffic Management Plan states it is expected that 
majority of visitors would be arriving from the west and therefore, there is no logical reason 
to choose to route through Gelston or Hough on the Hill, other than visitors who might live 
in those villages. The majority of visitors would therefore be turning left into the site and 
not having to turn across the path of any vehicle that may be coming from the opposite 
direction.

2.3 Two marshals would be stationed at the field entrance from Gelston Road and on the 
nearby railway bridge to assist in coordinating traffic, and these will be present prior the 

135



start of the event and after the close during peak traffic periods. The marshals would be 
provided by a voluntary company called ‘Raynet’. RAYNET-UK is a national voluntary 
communications service organisation that provides communication services through 
licensed radio amateurs.   

2.4 At the end of event, marshals would ensure that departing drivers only move into the 
highway when there is no vehicle approaching from either direction. A marshal would be 
deployed during this time to assist with the limited visibility to the right over the railway 
bridge, when vehicles exit the site.

3 Highway Authority Comments

3.1 The Highway Authority have confirmed that they had worked with the applicant on the 
Traffic Management Plan and that they consider the plan acceptable from a highway 
safety and capacity point of view. Accordingly, they have confirmed that they have no 
objection to the proposed development.

4 Noise Management Plan

4.1 The applicant has identified the sources of noise to be principally from the public address 
systems and the racing vehicles. A Noise Assessment was undertaken based on these 
two noise sources. Based on the nearest dwelling being no less than 400m away, the 
assessment concludes that there would be no significant adverse impact on the amenity of 
the occupiers of nearby dwellings. The applicant has submitted a revised Noise 
Management Plan.

4.2 In relation to the public address units, the applicant has submitted that the units, which 
would be spread out over the area to give even coverage, are controlled by a 60-amp 
battery and have a volume control which can be turned up and down to set the output to 
an appropriate level. In addition to controlling noise levels using the volume control, the 
speakers attached to the public address units can be adjusted in any direction (up, down 
or sideways) which allows adjustment to control the noise direction and reduce distance of 
travel.

4.3 In relation to the racing vehicles, it is stated in the revised Noise Management Plan that no 
more than 8 cars would race at a time. The racing vehicles would be noise tested within 
the paddock area prior to an event using calibrated noise metres and any vehicle with a 
noise level exceeding the acceptable level of 102db would not be allowed to race.

4.4 Furthermore, on event days, noise levels will be measured at the nearest dwelling 
locations to confirm that noise does not exceed the allowable limit of 55 dB(A) in 
residential amenity areas and if mitigation of noise impact is found to be required, then 
straw bale barriers up to 3 or 4m high would be used. The barriers would be placed in line 
of sound/sight to affected dwellings.

4.5 The noise reading results will be available for inspection by SKDC Environmental 
Protection team on request for their assessment and all equipment to be used for the 
noise readings are made available for verification as necessary.

136



5 Environmental Protection Officer’s comments

5.1 Having reviewed the indices and methods used in the noise assessment and the revised 
Noise Management Plan, the Environmental Protection officer has confirmed that subject 
to the proposed development being implemented in accordance with the Noise 
Management Plan, they would have no objection to the scheme.

6 Complaints received on the current site and actions taken

6.1 The Environmental Health team has advised that they had received three complaints 
relating to the use of the field adjacent the application site for racing purposes on the 
grounds of (in summary):   

i. The first complaint was received 25/04/2014 and relates to noise from car racing on 
the field. The complaint was investigated by the Environmental Protection team on 
27/05/2014 and no further action was undertaken.

ii. The second complaint was received 28/03/2017 and relates to noise from car racing. 
The complaint was investigated by the Environmental Protection team on 30/03/2017 
and the issues discussed with the complainant on 03/04/2017. Complaint was 
reviewed on 10/04/2017 and closed on same date as no further correspondence was 
received from complainant.

iii. The third complaint was received on 28/04/2017 and relates to use of the land for car 
racing and associated camping on site and highway issues. Following an 
investigation and receipt of information from the land owner, the Environmental 
Protection team advised the complainant that the number of days over which the 
event took place would be within the permitted development threshold and they did 
not consider that a Licence was required for camping on site given the duration of 
such camping. With regard to highway safety, complainant was advised that this was 
an issue for the Highway Authority to consider and not Environmental Protection. 
The case was thus closed as no further action was considered necessary.   

7 Representations received

7.1 Three representations have been received since the application was presented to 
Committee, all raising issues relating to highway safety, impact on railway infrastructure 
and impact on the amenity of local residents.

7.2 These are all issues that had been addressed in the original report to the Committee.

7.3 Furthermore, issues relating to the revised Noise Management Plan being the same as 
the previously submitted one and noise assessment not being accurate in that it failed to 
consider some dwellings closer to the site were raised in one of the representations.   

7.4 The earlier Noise Management Plan did not include acceptable provision for noise testing 
of all vehicles prior to racing as it only included a provision for noise testing a randomly 
selected sample of vehicles. This issue was raised with the applicant who subsequently 

137



submitted a revised Noise Management Plan which provides that all vehicles will be noise 
tested prior to racing.

7.5 With regard to the noise assessment, the dwellings referred to as not taken into account 
are still under construction and in any case, a condition requiring noise testing being 
undertaken at the nearest dwellings to the site is recommended. Should noise level at 
such dwellings exceed the acceptable limit, mitigating measures set out within the 
condition will need to be implemented.    

8 Officer Recommendation

8.1 The original officer recommendation was for a one year temporary permission to enable 
the Planning Authority assess any likely impact of the development on the amenity of local 
residents. It is recommended that this condition is retained to allow the use to be 
monitored for a sufficiently long period of time. In conclusion, it is recommended that the 
application be approved, subject to the conditions to ensure that the development is 
implemented in accordance with the submitted Noise Management Plan and Traffic 
Management Plan. A full list of conditions will be provided with the Additional Items report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

138



Appendix 1
Appendix 1
Officer Report Ref: S18/0221
Original Committee Date 16 October 2018

1.0 Description of site

1.1 The site comprises of two fields, is located approx 0.7 miles east of Hougham and is 
currently in agricultural use. It lies north of Gelston Road with a railway line adjoining 
it to the south west. Gelston village is approx 1m east of the site. There is an existing 
agricultural access off Gelston Road onto the fields. There are some hedgerows 
along the southern site boundary.

2.0 Description of proposal

2.1 The proposal relates to the change of use of two fields to an autograss racing track. 
The southern field which is closer to the access would be used predominantly as an 
overflow parking area for spectators and paddock for vehicle maintenance while the 
track circuit and spectator parking would be located within the northern field. The oval 
shaped 200m x 90m track circuit would be surrounded by approx 1m wooden posts 
fixed into the ground. 

2.2 The proposal also includes the placing of two 30ft shipping containers on site for 
storage purposes. These would be sited within the north western corner of the site. 
There would also be a moveable container from which commentaries would be run 
as well as a towable caravan for administrative purposes.    

2.3 The container from which commentaries would be run would be sited east of the 
track circuit while the towable caravan to be used for administrative purposes would 
be positioned just at the entrance to the northern field. A 'Driver signing in/entrance 
fee control point' would be sited to the south east of the northern field. 

2.4 A total of 300 car parking spaces would be provided on site and a skip company 
would be engaged for waste collection. 

2.5 Members' attention is called to the provisions of Schedule 2 Part 4 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order, 2015 which relate to 
temporary buildings and uses. Class B provides that development as described 
below is permitted:

'The use of any land for any purpose for not more than 28 days in total in any 
calendar year, of which not more than 14 days in total may be for the purposes of—

(a) the holding of a market;
(b) motor car and motorcycle racing including trials of speed, and practising for these 
activities,

and the provision on the land of any moveable structure for the purposes of the 
permitted use.'

2.6 Officers consider the above provision of the General Permitted Development Order 
as being relevant to this application in that it shows the site can be used for motor car 
racing without the need for planning permission provided such events are not held for 

139



more than 14 days in one calendar year and with no permanent structure requiring 
planning permission being erected on site. 

2.7 The application under consideration is to enable the use of the site for car racing 
events (including associated activities such as camping) beyond the timeframe for 
which such use could be carried out without the need for planning permission and for 
the erection of permanent structures on site. In relation to number of events, the 
agent has advised that this would be about 8 per calendar year.     

3.0 Relevant History

3.1 No relevant planning history

4.0 Policy Considerations

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 6 - Building a strong, competitive economy
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

4.2 South Kesteven District Council Core Strategy
Policy EN1 - Protection and Enhancement
Policy SP1 - Spatial Strategy

4.3 Site Allocation and Policies Development Plan Document
Policy SAP4 - Business development in countryside

5.0 SKDC Corporate Priorities
5.1 Promote leisure, arts and culture

6.0 Representations Received

Network Rail - Civil 
Engineering

No objection subject to conditions relating to protection of 
railway infrastructure.

Environmental Protection 
Services (SKDC)

Recommended that a temporary permission be granted to 
monitor the impacts of the proposed use.

Parish Council Hough on The Hill Parish Council - Objected on grounds 
relating to noise, highway safety due to volume of traffic and 
visual impact.

Marston Parish Council - Raised concerns relating to 
potential impact of the high volume of traffic, poor visibility at 
site entrance, noise level, frequency of events. MPC also 
requested confirmation that the development would replace 
the existing one off the C001 and not in addition to the 
existing.

Hougham Parish Council - No objections but concerned 
about potential littering in the area.

LCC Highways & SuDS 
Support

No objection subject to condition relating to the location of 
payment point being located away from the edge of the 
public road to prevent vehicles backing onto the road.

140



7.0 Representations as a Result of Publicity

7.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 
Community Involvement and 28 letters of representation have been received.  The 
points raised can be summarised as follows:

1. Noise
2. Highway safety
3. Impact on rural character
4. Visual impact
5. No economic benefit
6. Impact on views
7. Contrary to relevant Hough-On-The-Hill Neighbourhood Plan policies
8. Litter/waste management
9. Inadequate information relating to time and frequency of events.

7.2 In addition, Councillor Bob Sampson has advised that he supports the comments 
made by Councillor Paul Wood regarding the application and would like this to be 
noted. 

8.0 Evaluation

8.1 Principle of Development

8.1.1 Core Strategy Policy SP1 (Spatial Strategy) sets out a framework guiding the location 
of new development within the District and provides that majority of new 
development shall be focussed on Grantham and the market towns of Stamford, 
Bourne and the Deepings. The policy also provides that some level of development 
would be considered in the Local Service Centres.   

8.1.2 In relation to new development in other areas and the countryside, Policy SP1 
provides that:

8.1.3 In all other villages and the countryside development will be restricted. Proposals will 
only be considered acceptable if they are sites for: A. affordable housing (rural 
exception or allocated sites) B. agriculture, forestry or equine development C. rural 
diversification projects D. local services and facilities E. replacement buildings (on a 
like for like basis); or F. conversions of buildings.

8.1.4 Further in relation to development in the countryside, the Site Allocation and Policies 
- Development Plan Document Policy SAP4 (Business Development in the 
Countryside (Including Rural Diversification Schemes)) provides that:

'Outside the towns and Local Service Centres proposals for the following types of 
small business schemes will be supported, provided that it is demonstrated that the 
business will help to support, or regenerate the rural economy:

Farming
Forestry
Equine
Rural enterprise
Sport and Recreation
Tourism.'

141



8.1.5 Specifically, SAP DPD Policy SAP 4 requires that proposals meet the following set of 
criteria:

i. Scale being appropriate to the rural location - having regard to the size of the 
site and the frequency of events to be held, it is considered that the scale of 
the proposed development is appropriate to the location.

ii. Use being appropriate or necessary in a rural location - having regard to the 
nature of the use, it is considered that a rural location would be most 
appropriate for the development.

iii. Development providing local employment opportunities - it is considered that 
the development would contribute positively to the rural economy as it would 
provide opportunities for local employment on days that events are held and 
attract visitors to the area. In addition, there is no similar enterprise in the 
surrounding area that would be adversely affected as a result of the proposed 
development.

iv. Development respecting the character and appearance of local landscape - 
the proposal does not include the erection of permanent structures other than 
fences and as such, would not impact significantly on the character of the 
local landscape.

v.  No negative impact on neighbouring uses - having regard to the separation 
distance between the site and neighbouring dwellings and properties, it is 
considered that subject to appropriate conditions, the development would not 
lead to an unacceptable level of impact on neighbours' amenity.

vi. Impact on biodiversity and heritage assets - the site is not designated as 
being of significant wildlife/biodiversity value and there is no heritage asset on 
site. Accordingly, it is considered that the proposal would not lead to any 
significant harm to protected species or heritage assets.

8.1.6 Further in relation to supporting a prosperous rural economy, para 83 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework provides that planning policies and decisions should 
enable sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the 
character of the countryside.

8.1.7 It is considered that the proposed recreational rural diversification project falls within 
the range of exceptional circumstances outlined within Policy SP1 under which new 
development could be considered in the countryside. The recreational development 
would widen opportunities for sport and recreation in the area thereby contributing 
towards the creation of a healthy community and a sustainable rural economy. The 
proposal would thus be in accordance with relevant provisions of Core Strategy 
Policy SP1, SAP DPD Policy SAP4 and Section 6 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. Accordingly, the proposal is considered acceptable in principle.

8.2 Impact of the use on the character of the area

8.2.1 Core Strategy Policy EN1 relates to the protection and enhancement of the character 
of the district and provides that:

'Development must be appropriate to the character and significant natural, historic 
and cultural attributes and features of the landscape within which it is situated, and 
contribute to its conservation, enhancement or restoration'.

142



8.2.2 Similarly, para 127 of the NPPF provides that:

'Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments are sympathetic to 
local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and 
landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or 
change (such as increased densities).

8.2.3 The site is surrounded by fields in agricultural use and apart from the fixed 1m timber 
fencing, the proposed development does not include the erection of permanent 
structures. Having regard to the number of containers that would be placed on site, it 
is not considered that the development would lead to a significant adverse impact on 
the character of the area. In addition, the structures would be located away from the 
edge of the public road and would therefore not lead to any unacceptable visual 
impact. In addition, it is not considered that the proposed use would materially alter 
the rural character of the area.

8.3 Impact on the neighbouring properties

8.3.1 In order to assist the Planning Authority in assessing the likely impact of the 
development on occupiers of neighbouring dwellings, the applicant was requested to 
provide a plan showing the location of the site in relation to neighbouring dwellings. 
In response, the applicant submitted a plan showing that the nearest dwellings to the 
application site are located to the south of the railway line and none of them are 
within 400m of the track circuit.

 
8.3.2 Having regard to the separation distance between the site and neighbouring 

dwellings as well as the location, scale and nature of the physical works proposed, it 
is considered that the development would not lead to any significant adverse visual 
impact. 

8.3.3 The main issues relating to amenity are considered to be noise and dust pollution 
and these have been discussed with the Environmental Protection Unit of the 
Council. They have advised that the separation distance between the site and 
neighbouring properties would lessen any potential adverse impact on amenity. 
Notwithstanding, in order to ensure that amenity issues are adequately addressed, 
they have recommended that further details relating to noise and dust management 
be sought from the applicant.

8.3.4 In response to the request for additional information relating to noise and dust 
management, the applicant has provided that vehicular noise levels are governed by 
National Autograss Sport Association (NASA) and the association requires that all 
vehicles must be fitted with efficient silencer capable of reducing noise level to NASA 
specified limit of 102 Db (A). The applicant has stated further that checks would be 
conducted on racing vehicles to ensure that they comply with this requirement prior 
to being allowed to participate in racing events.

8.3.5 In relation to dust management, the applicant has advised that the track would be 
sprayed with water prior to the start of each race.

8.3.6 The additional details have been forwarded to Environmental Health for review and 
comments and they have advised that under the circumstance, a temporary 
permission should be considered in order to give the Planning Authority an 
opportunity to monitor and assess the likely impact of the development on occupiers 
of neighbouring properties.

143



8.3.7 Having regard to the foregoing, it is considered that a temporary permission for the 
track to be used for one year is reasonable in this instance. With a limit on the 
number of days and with a restriction on operating hours, it is considered that the 
impact of the development on occupiers of neighbouring properties would be 
acceptable for the length of time specified. 

8.4 Highway issues

8.4.1 The proposal includes the provision of 300 parking spaces on site and the 
development would be served by an existing agricultural access. It is considered that 
this provision will minimise any likelihood of on-road parking. 

8.4.1 It is noted that this access is in close proximity to a bridge hump which reduces 
visibility from the site towards Hougham. Notwithstanding the proximity of the access 
to the hump, the Highway Authority have advised that given the average volume of 
traffic on Gelston Road, the proposal is unlikely to cause any severe detrimental 
highway issues provided vehicles are not allowed to back onto the public highway.

8.4.2 Accordingly, the Highway Authority recommended that a condition be attached to any 
grant of permission requiring that the point at which entrance fees would be collected 
should be located well away from the road access to prevent vehicles waiting on the 
public road.

8.4.3 If implemented in accordance with the above recommended condition, it is 
considered that the development would not lead to any severe detrimental highway 
issue.

8.5 Response to issues raised in objections

8.5.1 The separation distance from neighbouring dwellings and the proposed noise and 
dust management plan would minimise any likely impact on neighbours' amenities. 
There would be no permanent buildings erected on site and the containers to be 
placed on site would be within the northern field thus minimising any potential 
adverse impact on the rural character or visual amenity.

8.5.2 Highway safety issues would be addressed via appropriate conditions to ensure that 
vehicles do not back onto the road while waiting to enter the site and as the proposed 
operations would require the employment of persons to facilitate the events, it is 
considered that the proposal would contribute to the rural economy.

8.5.3 The site is not within the area covered by the Hough-On-The-Hill Neighbourhood 
Plan and as such, policies in the Hough-On-The-Hill Neighbourhood Plan are not 
applicable/relevant to this proposal. In addition, impacts on views across another 
party's land is not a material planning consideration whilst issues relating to 
frequency of events would be dealt with by conditions.

8.5.4 With regard to litter and waste management, every business is required to have 
arrangements in place for trade waste disposal and it is considered that any issue 
relating to litter/waste can be adequately addressed via relevant arrangements for 
trade waste disposal.

144



9.0 Crime and Disorder

9.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and 
disorder implications.

10.0 Human Rights Implications

10.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this 
recommendation.

10.2 It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

11.0 Conclusion

11.1 Having regard to the nature of the proposed development, its scale as well as the 
location of the site, it is considered that the development potentially could be an 
acceptable use, however, it is necessary to monitor the development to ensure that 
there is no unacceptable level of impact on amenities of local residents. The proposal 
could enhance sporting and recreational activities in the area and would thus be in 
accordance with relevant provisions of Core Strategy Policies SP1, EN1, SAP DPD 
SAP 4 and Sections 6 and 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework following a 
period of monitoring.

11.2 Accordingly, it is recommended that temporary permission for a period of twelve 
months be granted, subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following 
conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

 1 The development hereby permitted shall cease and the land reinstated to its original 
condition no later than twelve months from the date of this decision.

Reason: A temporary permission has been granted in order to enable the Planning 
Authority assess the impact of the development on the occupiers of neighbouring 
dwellings, in accordance with Core Strategy Policy EN1 and to enable the developer to 
undertake a detailed noise assessment to support any future application for permanent 
retention.

Approved Plans

 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
list of approved plans:

i. Drawing No. 1470T/002 (Proposed Site/Block Plan 1 of 2) received 
19/03/2018

ii. Drawing No. 1470T/003 Rev A (Proposed Site/Block Plan 2 of 2) received 
07/08/2018

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
     

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

145



Before the Development is Occupied

 3 Prior to the approved use commencing, the boundary fencing along the railway line shall 
have been implemented in accordance with the approved details and retained as such 
thereafter.          

Reason: In order to prevent encroachment onto and damage to railway infrastructure.

 4 Before the site is first brought into use for the purpose hereby permitted, details and 
plans relating to disposal of wastes shall have been submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for written approval. The details shall include a plan showing the location and 
type of waste storage bins to be provided on site. The site shall be operated in 
accordance with the approved waste disposal plans.

Reason: In order to ensure that adequate waste disposal arrangements are put in place 
in accordance with Core Strategy Policy EN1

 5 Prior to the site being brought into first use for the purposes hereby permitted, details 
and plans of the boundary treatment along the site boundary adjacent the railway line 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval. The details shall 
include the provision of a trespass proof fence of a minimum height of 1.8m along the 
boundary as well as details relating to its future maintenance.     

Reason: In order to prevent encroachment onto and damage to railway infrastructure.

Ongoing Conditions

 6 The point at which admission fees are collected from competitors and the public shall be 
set sufficiently far within the application site as to avoid vehicles queuing back onto 
Gelston Road.

Reason: In the interests of avoiding stationary traffic obstructing the public highway and 
causing a hazard to road users

 7 The track hereby permitted shall not be used for any racing, qualifying, practice, testing 
or other driving/riding activities on more than 14 days in any calendar year.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development does not cause significant adverse 
impacts on the amenities of nearby settlements and properties, in accordance with 
Policy EN1 of the Core Strategy.

 8 No racing, qualifying, practice, testing or other driving/riding activities shall take place on 
the track other than between the hours of 1000 and 1800. 

Reason: Operating the site outside these hours may have a detrimental impact on local 
residential amenity in terms of noise disturbance.

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:

 1 Due to the proximity of the site to a railway line, Network Rail has advised that the 
development should be implemented in a manner that would not be detrimental to 
railway infrastructure. Accordingly, they have recommended measures that should be 
taken to ensure the safety of railway infrastructure and users. A copy of their comments 

146



is attached to this permission and you are advised to implement the permission in 
accordance with their recommended measures.

 2 In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is 
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

 3 Your attention is called to the comments below from Environmental Protection:

Section 269 of the Public Health Act 1936 gives power to local authorities to control the 
use of moveable dwellings (tents), and this power includes for a site licence to be 
required if a person allows any land occupied by him to be used for camping on more 
than 42 consecutive days or more than 60 days in any twelve consecutive months. 

If the site owners are intending to permit sleeper vans, motor homes or caravans as well 
as tents then they will need a Caravan Touring Licence and the relevant planning 
permission.  

In both instances they may need to provide waste/water disposal, WC and washing 
facilities and a supply of potable water as a minimum.  Depending on the numbers using 
the site and the time of year and location of the site there may also be other 
considerations such as lighting, designated pitches and walkways.

 4 You are advised that any future application for the use of the site for the approved 
purpose on a permanent basis will require a detailed noise assessment. Accordingly, 
the Planning Authority will advise that a detailed noise assessment be undertaken 
during the period of temporary permission in order to be able to provide the Planning 
Authority with event related noise assessment.

147



LOCATION PLAN

BLOCK PLAN 1 OF 2

148



BLOCK PLAN 2 OF 2

149



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee
26 June 2019

        

Proposal: Erection of 23 dwellings (Reserved Matters pursuant to Outline 
Planning S14/0927)

Location: Grimers Transport Ltd, 11 Station Road, Billingborough, NG34 0NR  
Applicant: Mr Burrows, Lindpet House, 5 Market Place, Grantham, Lincolnshire
Agent: Mr Mark Welsford, Rayner Davies Architects, 2 St. Peter's Gate, 

Nottingham, NG1 2JG
Application type: Reserved Matters (Major)
Reason for referral to 
committee:

This application has been referred to Committee for determination as it 
is a Major application

Key issues:- Is the design of sufficient quality?
Does the drainage strategy address the specific circumstances of the 
site identified at outline stage?

Technical Documents Drainage Strategy

Report Author

Phil Moore, Acting Planning Operations Lead

01476 406392

p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Regulatory Toller

Reviewed by: Sylvia Bland, Head of Development Management 11 June 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

Recommended decision - That the application is refused

151

Agenda Item 5h

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


152



1 Description of site

1.1 The site is roughly L shaped with an area of 0.89ha. It is part of a wider commercial site 
which was historically railway land and subsequently used as a depot for a haulage firm 
known as Grimer's Transport. The application site itself has more recently been used for 
light industrial or storage and distribution purposes and having been vacant for several 
years is now temporarily occupied for storage use. The western half of the application site 
is currently occupied by a large portal framed warehouse building. The eastern half is 
covered by hardstanding and some smaller ancillary buildings.

1.2 Other than the commercial buildings to the north, the site is set within a predominantly 
residential area with recently completed estates to the north and south. To the west there 
is open countryside and to the east beyond West Street is the village centre.

1.3 Outline planning permission was granted in 2015 on this part of the site for 23 dwellings 
(S14/0927) and on the other part of the site in 2018 for a further 23 dwellings (S16/1197)

2 Description of proposal

2.1 This application seeks reserved matters approval for layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping for the 23 dwellings approved under outline permission S14/0927. Details of 
surface water and foul drainage have also been submitted as required by condition 5 of 
the outline permission.

2.2 9 x detached and 14 x semi-detached 2 storey dwellings are proposed. All dwellings would 
have detached garages. The estate would essentially be a cul-de-sac served by a single 
vehicular access from West Street. The main estate road would be built to adoptable 
standards. A private drive off the main cul-de-sac would serve plots 17 - 23.

2.3 The dwellings would be traditional in form although they would have contemporary 
detailing. They would be built with red brick walls, artificial slate roofs and artificial stone 
window and door surrounds.

2.4 A number of new trees are proposed throughout the site, particularly along the north, west 
and south boundaries

3 Relevant History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
S14/0927 Demolition of existing industrial 

buildings and redevelopment of site for 
residential purposes (23 x dwellings)

Approved 
Conditionally 

08/10/2015

4 Policy Considerations

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

153



Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

4.2 South Kesteven District Council Core Strategy
Policy EN2 - Reduce the Risk of Flooding
Policy EN1 - Protection and Enhancement

5 Representations Received

5.1 Parish Council
5.1.1 Concerns raised about a number of issues:

 Design - Feel that design needs to be substantially improved and to incorporate more 
locally distinctive features taking cues from the conservation area.

 Car Parking - Concerned about insufficient off street parking which may lead to 
problems from on street parking 

 Drainage - Infiltration is not an option due to contamination of the understrata. The 
layout does not allow for attenuation and any drainage into the existing culvert or 
surface water sewers need careful examination due to existing flood issues.

5.2 LCC Highways & SuDS Support

5.2.1 Raised initial concerns relating to the following and requested further 
information/amendments to address the concerns

 Highways - visibility splays, parking provision and highway, footway 
dimesons/specification do not meet the required standard. The footway should link to 
existing footway.

 Drainage - lack of a suitable comprehensive drainage strategy or evidence that the 
proposed infiltration would be effective. Development above existing culvert crossing 
the site (believed to be defective) could lead to flooding.

5.2.2 Given that the requested information/amendments have not been forthcoming, LCC now 
recommend refusal.

5.3 Upper Witham Internal Drainage Board

5.3.1 Concerns raised that development above a culverted watercourse would have a direct 
impact on its integrity and should be avoided.

154



6 Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 
Community Involvement and 2 letters of representation have been received.  The points 
raised can be summarised as follows:

1. 1 x letter of objection - concerns regarding potential overlooking from plot 18
2. 1 x letter of support - would like the site developed as currently unsightly and 
warehouses cause loss of light

7 Evaluation

7.1 The proposal is a reserved matters application and as such the principle of development 
of 23 dwellings with the access in the position shown has already been established 
through the outline planning consent and cannot be revisited at this stage. Only the 
detailed matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping can be considered, 
together with the details of levels and surface water and foul drainage which were required 
to be submitted with the reserved matters application by conditions 5 and 9 of the outline 
permission.

7.2 Impact on the character and appearance of the area

7.2.1 Policy EN1 of the adopted Core Strategy states that development proposals will be 
assessed in relation to (amongst other criteria) local distinctiveness and sense of place, 
the quality and character of the built fabric and their settings.  Section12 of the revised 
NPPF (Achieving well-designed places) has set higher expectations for design and states 
that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development and in particular states that 
new development should:

a)  function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but 
over the lifetime of the development; 

b)  be visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping;

c)  be sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change (such as increased densities);

d)  establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive 
places to live, work and visit;

e)  optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 
support local facilities and transport networks; and 

f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and 
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where 
crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or 
community cohesion and resilience.

155



7.2.2 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that permission should be refused for development of 
poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and 
quality of an area and the way it functions, taking into account any local design standards 
or style guides in plans or supplementary planning documents. The NPPF also goes on to 
state that local planning authorities should also seek to ensure that the quality of approved 
development is not materially diminished between permission and completion, as a result 
of changes being made to the permitted scheme (for example through changes to 
approved details such as the materials used).

Paragraph 192(a) of the NPPF advises local planning authorities to take account of the 
desirability of new developments making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.

7.2.3 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 require 
decision makers to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of conservation areas. Any adverse effect on a heritage asset 
would not preserve the asset or its setting. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires any harm 
to a designated heritage asset to be balanced against any public benefits. Case law has 
established that considerable importance and weight must be attached by the decision 
maker to the desirability of preserving the setting of heritage assets when balancing harm 
against public benefits.  

7.2.4 The site currently consists of unsightly warehouses and hardstandings surrounded by 
leylandii trees. It sits within a predominantly residential area. Whilst the site is not itself 
within the conservation area, the village centre immediately to the east is within it.

7.2.5 The removal of the existing warehouses and hardstandings is a welcome improvement to 
the appearance of the area and the proposal, as submitted, is generally of a layout and 
form which is appropriate for the area. However, taking into account the NPPF design 
requirements, there are some aspects of the design which fall short of the standard which 
is expected in this edge of conservation area context, particularly in respect to the West 
Road frontage.

7.2.6 The use of contemporary architecture, based on traditional forms is generally appropriate. 
However, the proposed dwellings that would face West Road are proposed to be of a 
uniform and distinctive red brick appearance which do not take the opportunity to integrate 
with the conservation area by incorporating locally distinctive materials or features. 
Billingborough does have a number of red brick and slate buildings, but this is not overly 
dominant and they are interspersed with buildings of other materials such as limestone, 
render, buff/brown bricks and pantiles. Furthermore, this part of Billingborough is 
characterised by front gardens/yards enclosed by walls or fences rather than open 
frontages as proposed. Such means of enclosure are noted as being a key feature of the 
conservation area in the Billingborough Conservation Area Appraisal. The Appraisal also 
notes a number of "positive unlisted" buildings facing onto West Road in the vicinity of the 
site. The proposals, in respect of development fronting West Road, would not meet the 
aims of Section 12 of the NPPF.

7.2.7 With regard to the statutory requirement set out in the Planning Act, it is accepted that the 
proposal would have a positive impact or at the very least a neutral impact on the setting 

156



of the conservation area and nearby undesignated heritage assets (positive buildings) 
within it and would therefore not result in harm to these heritage assets. Nonetheless the 
proposal would not meet the requirements of the NPPF as set out above. 

7.2.8 The requested amendments would be relatively minor alterations to the overall scheme. 
However, in this sensitive context they are essential to the acceptability of the 
development. 

7.2.9 These issues were flagged up to the applicant very early on and amendments/additional 
information were requested by officers, however, the requested amendments/information 
have not been forthcoming, despite the applicant being given a significant length of time to 
submit them. For this reason, by virtue of the detailed design, and materials to be used, 
particularly on those dwellings which would face onto West Road, the proposal would fail 
to maintain the sense of place or successfully integrate with the edge of conservation area 
context contrary to the NPPF Section 12 and Policy EN1 of the South Kesteven Core 
Strategy.

7.3 Impact on the residential amenities of neighbouring properties

7.3.1 Policy EN1 of the adopted Core Strategy states that development proposals will be 
assessed in relation to (amongst other criteria) the layout and scale of buildings and 
designed spaces.  Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that developments should create 
places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, 
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and 
disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion 
and resilience.

7.3.2 All the proposed dwellings have good separation distances from each other and from 
existing dwellings. Some concern has been raised about potential overlooking, particularly 
from the proposed dwelling at plot 18, however, the window arrangements have been 
designed to ensure no unacceptable overlooking would occur.

7.3.3 Taking into account the nature of the proposal, small scale, and adequate separation 
distances, it is considered that there would be no unacceptable adverse impact on the 
residential amenities of future occupiers or the occupiers of adjacent properties in 
accordance with the NPPF Section 12, and Policy EN1 of the South Kesteven Core 
Strategy.

7.4 Highway issues

7.4.1 Policy EN1 of the adopted Core Strategy states that development proposals will be 
assessed in relation to (amongst other criteria) the layout and scale of buildings and 
designed spaces.  Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of 
development are severe or where there are unacceptable highway safety impacts.

7.4.2 The impact on traffic capacity from 23 dwellings has already been found to be acceptable 
at outline stage. LCC Highways have raised concerns on the detailed design, in particular:

157



- dimensions of the road and turning head to enable adoption
- the limited number of parking spaces may lead to unacceptable off road parking
- inadequate width of footway along West Road and requirement to extend it to the 

existing path
- visibility splays

7.4.3 LCC Highway's request for an extended footway is not a reasonable request at reserved 
matters stage as access was a matter for consideration at the time of determining the 
outline application. The remaining issues were flagged up to the applicant very early on in 
the assessment of the reserved matters application and amendments/additional 
information were requested by officers, however, the these have not been forthcoming 
despite the applicant being given a significant length of time to submit them. The detailed 
layout of the proposal is therefore not acceptable and would not result in adequate access, 
parking and turning facilities and would have an unacceptable adverse impact on highway 
safety in accordance with the NPPF Section 9 

7.5 Drainage

7.5.1 Core Strategy policy EN2 and Section 14 of the NPPF seek to direct residential 
development to areas with the least probability of flooding and to incorporate sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) wherever possible. Section 15 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that 
risks from contamination (including contamination of ground water) are minimised.

7.5.2 About half of the site lies within the Environment Agency's (EA) flood risk zone 2 and the 
ground, which lies above a limestone aquifer, is contaminated from its previous and 
existing uses. The EA made it very clear in their consultation response at outline stage 
that surface water should not be drained via infiltration into the ground in order to avoid 
contamination of the aquifer. 

7.5.3 Furthermore, parts of Billingborough, including that part of West Road adjacent to the site 
have previously experienced surface water flooding issues. As a result, LCC in their 
capacity as Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA) have recently carried out a flood 
investigation under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Section 19 
obliges LLFAs to investigate any flood issues that it becomes aware of and find solutions 
in consultation with other relevant drainage bodies.  As part of the investigation, it has 
been identified that a potentially defective culverted drain runs across the site which then 
connects to Anglian Water's surface water sewers before discharging into the Ousemere 
Lode stream. Remedial works to the sewer have been carried out further downstream at 
Vine Street which appear to have resolved or partially resolved the problem. The condition 
of the culverted stream which runs across the site has not been identified.

7.5.4 At outline stage it was confirmed that the site is capable, in principle, of accommodating 
the development subject to the provision of an appropriate drainage solution which 
minimises flood risk on and off site and avoids contamination of groundwater. For this 
reason, a condition was attached to the outline permission requiring details of surface 
water drainage to be submitted with any reserve matters application. The key principles of 
any acceptable drainage system would be:

158



- to avoid infiltration into the ground as this would potentially lead to contamination of the 
aquifer

- to ensure that surface water run-off is directed into sewers/watercourses that are 
capable of taking the flow  

- to attenuate water on site if necessary in order to restrict the outflow to an appropriate 
rate

- to ensure that the potentially damaged culvert crossing the site is properly surveyed, 
maintained and protected

7.5.5 The drainage strategy submitted with the application proposes that surface water run-off 
be directed to individual soakaways for each dwelling. The plans also show the dwelling 
on plot 8 together with 2 sets of double garages, sited over the assumed course of the 
culvert which runs across the site. This arrangement falls well short of an acceptable 
drainage solution and would potentially lead to contamination of the aquifer, and damage 
to or inability to maintain the culverted stream which crosses the site, leading to potential 
risk of flooding. Both the LLFA and the Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board (IDB) have 
objected on these grounds.

7.5.6 These issues were flagged up to the applicant very early on and amendments/additional 
information were requested by officers, however, these have not been forthcoming, 
despite the applicant being given a significant length of time to submit them.

7.5.7 In conclusion, in terms of flood risk, drainage and impact on ground water, the proposal is 
not in accordance with the NPPF sections 14 and 15 and CS policy EN2.

8 Crime and Disorder

8.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 
implications.

9 Human Rights Implications

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this 
recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

10 Conclusion

10.1 Whilst there are some positive aspects to this proposal, the design is fundamentally flawed 
in that it has not been designed around a comprehensive drainage solution that would 
avoid contamination of the aquifer or adequately minimise flood risk. Furthermore, some 
aspects of the layout and detailed design fail to accord with acceptable highway 
specifications and to successfully integrate the proposal into its edge of conservation area 
context.

10.2 Taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposal is contrary to Policies 
EN1and EN2 of the South Kesteven Core Strategy and NPPF (Sections 9, 14 and 12) and 
there are no material considerations that indicate otherwise.

159



10.3 RECOMMENDATION: that the development is refused for the following reasons

1 The submitted details for the appearance and landscaping of the development, in 
particular the proposed materials, architectural detailing and absence of means of 
enclosure of the plots along West Road, would not be in keeping with the character 
of this part of the village and would not by sympathetic to the character of the area, 
add to the overall quality of the area or maintain a sense of place, contrary to Policy 
EN1 of the South Kesteven Core Strategy and National Planning Policy Framework 
(Section 12 and 16). 

2 The specification of the proposed access road and footway together with the visibility 
splay are not of an acceptable standard. Furthermore, there is insufficient off road 
parking to serve the development which would lead to the potential for on-street 
parking along West Road which has a narrow carriageway, leading to an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, contrary to National Planning Policy 
Framework (Section 9). 

3 The proposal has not been designed around an acceptable drainage solution and it 
has not been demonstrated that it would adequately prevent the contamination of the 
underlying aquifer or minimise flood risk contrary to Policy EN2 of the South 
Kesteven Core Strategy and National Planning Policy Framework (Sections 9, 14 
and 15) 

Note(s) to Applicant:

1 There is a fundamental objection to the proposal and it is considered that this cannot 
be overcome. Consideration has not been delayed by discussions which cannot 
resolve the reasons for refusal. The decision therefore accords with paragraphs 38 
of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

160



Site Location Plan

161



Proposed Site Layout Plan

Proposed Drainage Layout

162



House Type A

House Type B

House Type C

163



Single Garage

Quadruple Garage

164



Double Garage Type 1

Double Garage Type 2

165



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 29 May 2019
	5a Applications S18/2263 and S18/2264
	1b-S18-2264

	5b Application S17/1315
	5c Application S18/1859
	5d Application S19/0726
	5e Application S18/2111
	5f Application S19/0026
	5g Application S18/0221
	7-S18-0221-App1

	5h Application S18/1486

